Transition Metal Polyhydrides: From Qualitative Ideas to Reliable Computational Studies[†]

Feliu Maseras and Agustí Lledós*

Departament de Química, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra Barcelona, Spain

Eric Clot and Odile Eisenstein*

LSDSMS (UMR 5636) CC 014, Université de Montpellier II, 34095 Montpellier Cedex 05, France

Received April 30, 1999

Contents

I.	Introduction	601
	A. Hydride Is the Smallest Ligand and the Only One To Make a Pure Single Bond to a Metal	601
	B. H Is Easy To Locate through Quantum Calculations but Hard To Locate through Experimental Techniques	602
	C. Hydride Complexes Are Full of Surprises	603
	D. H_2 Is the Ideal Model for a σ Bond Coordinating to a Metal	603
	E. H ₂ Is the Ideal Model for Activation of a Single Bond	603
	F. Scope and Limitations of the Review	603
II.	Small Gas-Phase Systems	603
III.	H as an Ideal Ligand	605
	A. General Approach for Bonding in Transition Metal Complexes	605
	B. The d ⁰ ML ₆ Case	606
	C. The d ⁶ ML_5 Case	606
	D. Other Systems	607
IV.	"Computational Crystallography" of Hydride Complexes, a Cost-Effective Method for High-Quality Structural Determination	607
	A. Good Success with Simplified Models	607
	B. Improving the Model	610
V.	The Dihydrogen Saga	611
	A. Dihydrogen as a Ligand	611
	B. Dihydrogen versus Dihydride	613
	C. Theoretical Tools for Analysis of the H····H Interaction	614
VI.	Interactions with M–H and with M–H ₂ . Hydrogen Bonds Again!	615
VII.	Hydrogen Exchange Processes	617
	A. Pairwise Exchange	617
	B. Polytopal Rearrangements	619
	C. Site Exchange with H Atoms outside the Coordination Sphere	619

[†] This work is dedicated to the memory of Jeremy K. Burdett (1947–1997), a great colleague and a dear friend, who actively participated in the early stages of this venture by establishing some of the basic rules for analyzing the structure and bonding in polyhydrides.

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: agusti@ klingon.uab.es (A.L.), odile.eisenstein@lsd.univ-montp2.fr.

	D. Dihydrogen Rotation	620		
	E. Exchange Processes in M(H)(H ₂) Complexes	622		
VIII.	Quantum Exchange Couplings in Polyhydrides	623		
	A. Physical Origin of Quantum Exchange Couplings	623		
	B. Simulation of Quantum Exchange Couplings	624		
IX.	Stretched Dihydrogen Complexes	625		
	A. The Electronic Point of View	626		
	B. The Dynamic Point of View	627		
Х.	Breaking the H–H Bond by Transition Metal Complexes	627		
	A. Oxidative Addition	628		
	B. σ Bond Metathesis	629		
XI.	Methodological Peculiarities in the Study of Polyhydride Systems	629		
XII.	Conclusions and Perspectives	631		
XIII.	Acknowledgment			
XIV.	References			

I. Introduction

Why should we, as theoreticians, bother about transition metal hydride complexes?

A. Hydride Is the Smallest Ligand and the Only One To Make a Pure Single Bond to a Metal

Hydride is the ligand with the smallest number of valence electrons and thus an ideal choice for a precise calculation. An H-containing transition metal system (MnH) was among the first species for testing the performance of ab initio computational methods on transition metal systems.¹ Since hydride can only make a single bond to a transition metal center and has minimal steric influence, it is also the ideal ligand for establishing a basic bonding pattern associated with a given metal and coordination sphere. It has thus been a ligand of choice for EHT molecular orbital analysis. It is also an ideal ligand for establishing symmetry arguments and valence bond analysis. Hydride is the least computationally costly model for any σ donor group and has been used in ab initio calculations in particular to represent alkyl groups. Finally, it is a crucial computational benchmark



Feliu Maseras was born in 1962 in Martorelles, Catalonia. He studied at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, where he obtained his B.Sc. in 1985 and his Ph.D. in 1991. He then spent two years as a postdoctoral fellow with Keiji Morokuma at the Institute for Molecular Science in Okazaki, Japan. After a two-year position as a CNRS Associate Researcher in the group of Odile Eisenstein in Montpellier, France, he took the position of Associate Professor at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona in 1998. His current research interests involve the development and application of theoretical methods to transition metal compounds, with special focus on the use of hybrid methods combining quantum mechanics and molecular mechanics for modeling species of experimental interest.



Eric Clot was born in 1967 in Marseilles, South of France. After graduating from the Ecole Normale Supérieure de Lyon, he obtained the Agrégation de Chimie in 1990. In 1995, he defended a Ph.D. thesis in theoretical chemistry at the Paris XI University (Orsay). In 1996, he obtained a permanent research position at the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique and is presently working at the University of Montpellier II. His research interests concern the theoretical study of transition metal containing systems and in particular the exchange phenomena in polyhydrides as well as the reaction mechanisms in organometallic chemistry.



Agustí Lledós was born in 1955 in Barcelona. He studied at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, where he received his B.Sc. in 1979 and his Ph.D, in chemistry in 1984, under the supervision of Juan Bertrán. After a postdoctoral stay at the Université de Paris-Sud (Orsay) with Yves Jean, he returned to the Universitat Autònoma in 1987 and initiated a research program in computational studies of transition metal complexes. He became Full Professor of Physical Chemistry in 1994. His research interests concern the application of theoretical methods to the understanding of transition metal systems, with focus on polyhydride complexes, bimetallic compounds, asymmetric catalysis, and bioinorganic systems.

ligand. The comparison of metal–X- with metal–Hcontaining complexes has led to a better understanding of the role of X as a σ or π ligand. Such a comparison is not always feasible via experimental studies due to synthetic difficulties. This is thus the extension to transition metal chemistry of the type of modeling done by theoreticians in the early period of organic chemistry when H was used to represent a large number of chemical groups.

B. H Is Easy To Locate through Quantum Calculations but Hard To Locate through Experimental Techniques

Whereas there is, in general, no intrinsic difficulty in calculating an H-containing complex and in ob-



Odile Eisenstein was born in 1949 in Boulogne-Billancourt, a suburb of Paris, France. She obtained her doctorate in 1977 at the University of Paris-Sud (Orsay) with Nguyen Trong Anh and Lionel Salem. She entered the CNRS in 1971 and then worked in her first postdoctoral position with Jack D. Dunitz at the ETH (Zurich). She then became a NATO postdoctoral fellow with Roald Hoffmann at Cornell University. During this period she turned her attention from organic to transition metal species. Her stay at Cornell was followed by a two-year position as Assistant Professor at the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor). She then returned to France, where she became Directeur de Recherche at the CNRS and head of the Laboratorire de Chimie Theorique at Paris-Sud. She moved to Montpellier in 1996, where she is the head of the LSDSMS. She has received several awards and has been an invited professor at numerous places. She is currently the Editor-in Chief of the *New Journal of Chemistry*.

taining a good structure through optimization, the experimental location of H has presented some significant challenges and difficulties. The commonly used X-ray diffraction method does not properly locate a hydrogen center. Neutron diffraction is optimal, but the difficulty of growing large monocrystals associated with the limited availability of the international neutron diffraction facilities has probably discouraged a number of experimentalists. Only a few dozen neutron studies have been carried out on transition metal hydrides² in contrast with the many thousands of X-ray structures. NMR spectroscopy has been an invaluable tool for getting struc-

Maseras et al.

Transition Metal Polyhydrides

tural information, but it does not give the detailed geometry of the complex. We strongly believe that computational chemistry is presently a low-cost highquality technique for structural determination in transition metal complexes having the greatest impact for metal hydrides. Calculations have in fact been used to correct a structure determination wrongly assigned by X-ray crystallography³ and even to find missing hydrides in a binuclear complex.⁴

C. Hydride Complexes Are Full of Surprises

In the wealth of experimental results in transition metal chemistry, the hydride ligand has been the one that has led to the largest number of surprising findings. Even though the first metal hydride was reported as early as 1931,⁵ the field continues to surprise the chemical community. While only classical polyhydride complexes were recognized till 1984, the discovery of the first dihydrogen complex by Kubas and co-workers^{6,7} has resulted in a continuing burst of activity and a new perspective in the field of polyhydride chemistry. Although metal-hydride bonds are very strong—in fact among the strongest metal ligand bonds⁸–H ligands seem to be able to trade places in the coordination sphere with amazing facility. Whereas in a vast number of complexes, $T_{1\min}^{9}$ and J_{HD} NMR coupling constants^{10,11} give reliable H-H distances, recent work has shown abnormally large $J_{\rm HH}$ values, which could have been wrongly interpreted in terms of an H-H distance less than in free \hat{H}_2 .^{12,13}

While hydrogen bonding has been seen for many years between a lone pair of X and a polar H-Y bond, it has recently been discovered that a $H\cdots H$ bond is also possible between a hydridic M-H center and a polar H-Y bond.^{14,15} Although the calculation of the electronic wave function has been sufficient to obtain the position of the nuclei for almost all calculated molecules, some recently discovered hydride complexes seem to defy this approach (the elongated H-H bond).¹⁶ These are only some of the highlights among the reasons that have kept theoretical chemists working in this field.

D. H₂ Is the Ideal Model for a σ Bond Coordinating to a Metal

A number of *unsaturated* carbon-based ligands (olefin, alkyne, benzene, etc.) are known to make stable complexes, whereas the coordination of a *saturated* organic ligand without π -bonding electrons or an active lone pair (e.g., CH₄) is a kind of a holy grail for transition metal chemists. The coordination of alkanes to a transition metal center has been especially sought as giving information on the factors that could cleave especially inert bonds, and evidence for alkane coordination has been shown to occur only very recently.^{17–20}

The discovery by Kubas and co-workers that H_2 could coordinate to a transition metal while maintaining its H–H bond shook the community of transition metal chemists. Maybe even more remarkable was the fact that theoreticians first suggested that H_2 could make a stable complex with a transition

metal. The possibility of a stable $Pd-H_2$ interaction was studied first by CNDO calculations and then by simple ab initio calculations.^{21–25} A detailed qualitative extended Hückel analysis of the bonding of H_2 and CH₄ to transition metal centers led Saillard and Hoffmann²⁶ to suggest the possibility of a stable H_2 complex at the same time the Kubas complex was published. It is clear that, in this field, theory and experiments have run parallel and, more important, hand in hand.

E. H_2 Is the Ideal Model for Activation of a Single Bond

Understanding how a transition metal could cleave a strong single bond is fundamental to the understanding of any catalytic step. H_2 is certainly the ideal system to study because high-quality calculations can be applied with reasonable computational effort to the determination of the transition state for cleaving H_2 . This also gives an important benchmark for comparison with activation of other bonds.

F. Scope and Limitations of the Review

There are therefore many reasons for theoreticians to have been (and still to be) interested in the deceptively simple case of transition metal hydrides. With few exceptions, this review is limited to molecular transition metal complexes containing only one metal. The numerous studies of clusters and of solidstate chemistry have been left aside; some of them are part of other reviews in this issue. The theoretical studies of both short-lived and long-lived species. which have been identified either in the gas phase or in solution, have been included. With rare exceptions, we have also excluded monohydride species. In the section on reactivity, we have limited our presentation to that part of the reaction scheme involving H₂ and have thus excluded all studies of reaction between a unique M-H bond and another ligand.

The experimental references are limited to those closely related to the calculated systems. For additional information on the experimental aspects, the interested reader should refer to the following reviews (inter alia): structures of metal hydrides,² dihydrogen complexes,^{9–11,16,25,27–29} polyhydride complexes,³⁰ dynamics of polyhydrides complexes,³¹ NMR quantum exchange coupling,³² dihydrogen complexes in catalysis,³³ and the reactivity of metal hydrides with acid.³⁴ Furthermore, an especially useful description of the theoretical calculations in transition metal polyhydrides can be found in the book edited by Dedieu³⁵ and in the review by Lin and Hall.³⁶

II. Small Gas-Phase Systems

Gas-phase transition metal ion chemistry has experienced a tremendous growth in the last few decades.³⁷ The study of transition-metal-containing ions in the gas phase offers the opportunity to probe the chemical properties of these species in the absence of complicating factors such as solvation. However, this usually comes at the cost of eliminating ancillary ligands on the metal, which therefore remains in a highly unsaturated state, and may not necessarily constitute a good model for the more saturated systems usually found in solution. Hydrogen, as the simplest chemical substituent, has been present in a large number of these experimental studies. Consequently, it has also been the subject of a large number of theoretical studies.

Systems described in this section differ from those of the following sections. The high unsaturation of the experimental gas-phase ions usually implies the presence of low-energy excited states. This requires the use of very high level computational methods that can be applied only on small-size systems.

Although this review is focused on polyhydride systems, mention needs to be made of some diatomic M–H systems. These are among the first transition metal molecules studied with ab initio computational methods. One should cite the early efforts in the 1970s by Bagus and Schaefer,¹ and by Scott and Richards,³⁸ using HF wave functions. The need for electron correlation, both dynamical and nondynamical, became progressively clear in the following years through the studies on VH,³⁹ ScH,⁴⁰ and NiH.⁴¹ By 1983, Walch and Bauschlicher⁴² were already able to carry out a systematic study on the properties of TiH, VH, CrH, MnH, FeH, and NiH with a CASSCF/ CI method. They found a strong admixture of terms from the $4s^23d^n$ and $4s^13d^{n+1}$ states of the transition metal atom, whose precise contribution depends on the metal. A later paper by Bauschlicher⁴³ further analyzed the methodological requirements for an accurate study of unsaturated transition metal monohydrides through a full configuration interaction benchmark calculation for TiH. This system required substantial amounts of both dynamical and nondynamical electron correlation, and the conclusions were that CASSCF/MRCI followed by natural orbital iterations provided optimal results-better than CPF or MCPF approaches.

Research has continued unabated on the subject of hydrogen-metal diatomics,⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ but it is not discussed in detail here. However, mention needs to be made of the systematic study by Goddard and coworkers 47-50 on 30 MH⁺ diatomics of the d block transition metals. The study of these species with the GVB method led the authors to the finding that the metal valence orbital involved in the bond has a mixture of valence s and d character, with little p participation. The relative amounts of s-d hybridization vary considerably among the rows, the lowest d participation corresponding to the first transition metal row. It was shown that the strong variations of M-H bond energies that were found originated from two factors: (i) the change in exchange energy upon binding of hydrogen and (ii) the promotion energy to obtain an atomic configuration suitable for bonding.

Studies of small gas-phase systems, in which more than one hydrogen atom is attached to the metal, are also abundant. They can be classified in three groups: (i) pure hydride systems with no direct H-H interaction, (ii) "molecular hydrogen" systems, with a H-H bond, and (iii) complexes with hydrogen

A large number of calculations on pure hydride systems have been carried out on neutral triatomic MH₂ species, probably because of their simplicity. Most of this work focuses on the study of the formation of a dihydride complex from the reaction of H₂ with the metal atom. In many cases, the goal of these studies was to model the interaction of H_2 with a metal surface. Although the modeling was later improved in calculations with metal clusters, the studies on gas-phase systems have given rise to a better understanding of the nature of bonding in dihydride complexes. Representative studies were carried out in the early 1980s on NiH₂, CoH₂, FeH₂, and CuH₂ at the CI level by Siegbahn and coworkers.^{51,52} The authors concluded that the most stable electronic state was the linear high-spin state, although they focused the analysis on the bent lowspin state, which they felt would better model the electronic properties of a metal surface. Ni, Co, and Fe showed a similar behavior in their reaction with H_2 , but Cu behaved quite differently. The M + H_2 reaction was thoroughly studied in the late 1980s and early 1990s for a number of second- and third-row transition metal atoms by Balasubramanian and coworkers.^{53–61} Their calculations included dynamical and nondynamical correlation, as well as relativistic corrections. For a significant number of metals, the H-M-H angle was calculated to be fairly large although a big variation in this angle was found. The insertion does not require a barrier for all metals. Other authors have also analyzed the insertion of metals (such as Fe),^{62,63} and of the series Re, Os, Ir, and Ru into H₂.64

The electronic structure has been discussed in more detail for some triatomic MH_2 systems. Siegbahn⁶⁵ analyzed the sequential bonding energies of the two hydride ligands in MH_2 , in which M is a second-row transition metal, and found that they are much more similar than the bonding energies of difluoride and of dichloride systems. Other authors have studied the properties⁶⁶ of a number of early first-row transition metal dihydrides including the fine-structure effects⁶⁷ in the vibronic spectrum of FeH₂ and FeD₂.

Calculations on small transition metal polyhydrides have also been informative as tests for the importance of relativistic effects. Dyall⁶⁸ analyzed the ground state of PtH₂ and several low-lying states of PtH⁺ and PtH with an all-electron basis set. He reached the conclusion that any treatment of Pt compounds should treat relativistic effects explicitly. This view was partially corrected later by Hertwig et al.,⁶⁹ who have shown through calculations on WH₆ that relativistic effects can be introduced in a sufficiently accurate way through the use of relativistic effective core potentials. A methodological discussion has also taken place recently on the ground state of NiH₂ that had been assigned⁵² in 1984 as a triplet with a linear structure, and was considered as such until this assignment was recently challenged by experiment⁷⁰ and high-level calculations,^{71,72} which showed that the ground state of NiH₂ is actually a singlet with a bent geometry. NiH₂ was also used as a benchmark for the performance of natural population analysis on transition metal compounds.⁷³

As the size of the polyhydride systems grows, the studies quickly become concerned with structural models in which hydride is used as a generic ligand, or with models of saturated complexes in solution. These subjects are addressed in the following sections. One borderline case has been treated by several groups,^{74–77} most notably Schaefer and co-workers,^{78,79} on TiH₄ and related species. TiH₄ has been observed in krypton and argon matrixes.

Molecular hydrogen complexes, where a dihydrogen molecule is coordinated to a metal center without breaking the H–H bond, were originally discovered in 1984 in large saturated complexes.^{6,7} For this reason the first dihydrogen complex to be calculated had the metal saturated by spectator ligands. Coordination of H₂ to M(CO)₅ ($\dot{M} = Cr, Mo, W$) was also observed through matrix isolation^{80,81} and gas-phase reaction.^{82,83} Some of the first complexes to be calculated by ab initio methods involved Cu.^{84,85} In the case of $Cu(H_2)Cl$, the geometry and frequencies were found in good agreement with experimental data obtained in an argon matrix.⁸⁵ This neutral system is not representative of the large number of studies of gas-phase transition metal dihydrogen complexes, which are usually cationic. Different authors have analyzed the interaction of dihydrogen with Cr⁺ and CrH^{+} ,⁸⁶ with FeO⁺,⁸⁷ with Co⁺,⁸⁸ with Ni⁺,⁸⁹ and with V⁺.⁹⁰ Highly relevant studies have been carried out by Bauschlicher, Maître, and co-workers in collaboration with the experimental group of Bowers.91-98 These authors have examined the sequential interaction of a naked first-row transition metal with an increasing number of dihydrogen molecules (up to 6). They found that the interaction of dihydrogen with a metal has an important covalent component, in contrast with what happens with alkali metal ions. Important differences in behavior are found for the different metals, with the limiting case of Sc⁺ which is able to insert into the H-H bond, producing a dihydride. From the variety of data on different metals, the authors identified the main contributions to the $M-(H_2)$ interaction, which are summarized in a recent paper⁹⁸ as follows: (i) donation from the H_2 σ orbital to the metal to stabilize the ion charge; (ii) back-donation to the H₂ σ^* orbital from metal occupied d_{π} orbitals; (iii) hybridization between the $3d_{z^2}$ and 4s orbitals, in case the $3d_{\sigma}$ orbital is half-filled; (iv) a minor contribution from hybridization with 4p orbitals, despite the fact that they are significantly higher in energy; (v) a minor contribution from electrostatic noncovalent interactions, such as a charge-induced dipole and a charge quadrupole.

Regarding bridging hydride ligands, the presence of two metal atoms makes these systems hard to access in the gas phase, but the experimental observation of gaseous titanium tris(tetrahydroborate) and the presence of unexplained signals in the IR spectra from Ti/H₂ matrix experiments have prompted the theoretical study of a number of titanium systems of this type by the groups of Gordon^{99,100} and Ugalde.^{101–103} Studies have been carried out on H₃-TiX systems, with $X = BH_3$, AlH₃, GaH₃, CH₃, SiH₃,

TiH₃, among others. The hydride ligands take bridging positions in a number of cases. The discussion on Ti₂H₆ has been particularly informative regarding the methodological subtleties involved in this type of system. The original assignment of a singlet $C_{3\nu}$ structure obtained by using a single-determinant closed-shell reference wave function¹⁰¹ has been recently proved false by multiconfigurational calculations that yield a C_s triplet as the most stable structure.¹⁰⁰

The brief summary of results on small gas-phase polyhydride molecules presented in this section shows that most of the situations, which can be found in larger saturated systems, are already represented in small molecules. The introduction of additional ligands, giving rise to complexes usually found in solution, changes the behavior observed for the small ligand-free polyhydrides sometimes in subtle and sometimes in major ways (see the following sections).

III. H as an Ideal Ligand

A. General Approach for Bonding in Transition Metal Complexes

The replacement of a large variety of σ -bonding ligands by a hydride, which can only make a σ bond to a metal, has led to the establishment of fundamental electronic patterns associated with the transition metal center, the coordination sphere, and the number of valence electrons as obtained by the angular overlap model¹⁰⁴ or extended Hückel calculations.¹⁰⁵ This idealization is the basis of the isolobal analogy.¹⁰⁶

The validity of the replacement of ligands by hydrides was tested for a few systems in an earlier period in the history of ab initio calculations. In a study devoted to understanding hybridization effects on metal-ligand bond lengths in cyclopentadienyl (Cp) complexes, X₃Ti−CH₃, X₂Ti=CH₂, and XTi≡CH (X = H, Me, F, Cl) were calculated at the HF level.¹⁰⁷ It appears that all of these X ligands properly establish the hybridization of the metal that would have been produced by cyclopentadienyl (Cp), and the variation in Ti-C bond length going from alkyl to carbyne is also properly reproduced. A similar approach was chosen by Streitwieser et al.¹⁰⁸ in a study of hydrogen exchange reactions at group 3 and group 4 metals in comparison to those at alkali metals. High-level calculations on MH₃, on MH₄, and of the reaction of these species with H₂ were carried out. The formation of weak complexes $(0.1-3 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$ was established at the CISD+Q level. The barrier for exchange is shown to increase from group 3 to alkali metal and finally to group 4 transition metal hydrides. The electrostatic contribution to bonding in these systems has been discussed.

The factors that control the shape of molecules have been the focus of recent work associating geometry optimization (B3LYP) of a large variety of neutral and charged hydrides MH_n^q with a valence bond analysis.^{109–112} It appears that a simple VB analysis can explain the shape of such complexes as well as the shape of main group compounds. It has been shown that Lewis-like structures and rather

simple bond hybridization rules apply to transition metal hydrides. In the cases where covalent bonding dominates, sd^{*n*} hybridization determines the structure and there is little valence p orbital participation. In the case of hypervalent metal complexes, it is suggested that the metal center does not expand its valency through the use of valence p orbitals either. Instead three-center four-electron bonding interactions occur, which leads to significant analogies between hypervalent main group and transition metal complexes. These studies led the authors to point out that most of the transition metal complexes are hypervalent since they have more than 12 electrons in the valence space. Ternary metal hydrides were also studied by molecular orbital analysis¹¹³ and valence bond analysis.¹¹²

A different point of view was recently presented by Bayse and Hall.¹¹⁴ Using a symmetry-based analysis method (ORSAM or orbital ranked symmetry analysis method), they could account with success for the geometry of 114 simple polyhydrides. In this model, (n+1)s and *n*d orbitals are used before (n+1)p orbitals. Nonbonded metal electrons (lone pairs) are accommodated in pure d orbitals. In contrast to the study of Landis and co-workers, ^{109–112} metal p orbitals are used where the number of ligands exceeds the number of s and d orbitals available for bonding. In this model, there is thus no necessity to invoke hypervalency in transition metal complexes.

B. The d⁰ ML₆ Case

The correspondence between the structure of a pure polyhydride complex and that of a real system is a crucial problem for theoreticians. The hydride is in general found to be a good model both for bulky and for nonbulky alkyl groups.¹¹¹ Ligands carrying π orbitals are usually poorly represented by hydrides, as expected from their inability to make d_{π}/p_{π} interactions. This comparison has been the focus of a long-standing discussion in the literature about d⁰ ML₆ structures. This topic is very representative of the validity of modeling ligands by hydrides.

The first proposal that d^0 ML₆ complexes may not always be octahedral derived from an extended Hückel calculation¹¹⁵ for TiH₅(C₂H₅)²⁻, as a model for Ti(dmpe)Cl₃(C₂H₅). In this study it was suggested that TiH₆²⁻ has a trigonal prismatic structure with nonequivalent triangular faces (see the related case of WH₆ in Chart 1).

Chart 1



This finding was in disagreement with the VSEPR rules.^{116,117} Several quantitative calculations were consequently carried out. The octahedral shape was calculated to be preferred over the trigonal prismatic structure for TiH_{6}^{2-} although the difference in ener-

gies between the two structures was found to be dependent on the level of calculations.^{118,119} In contrast, the neutral CrH₆, MoH₆, and WH₆ complexes were shown to be nonoctahedral at any level of calculations (Chart 1).^{109,120-123} Cations such as TcH_6^{+109} and monoanionic complexes such as VH_6^{-119} were also calculated to prefer trigonal prismatic geometries (although distorted). The importance of including the correlation energy to get a proper estimate of the relative energies of several possible structures was pointed out. ${{}^{\breve{1}19,122}}$ The most stable geometry of WH₆ is close to the calculated structure of WMe₆.^{121,124} According to the calculations of Albright et al.,¹²¹ the potential energy surface for WH₆ presents a large number—up to 20—of secondary minima, which is not the case for WMe₆. Kaupp¹²⁴ has shown that all $M(Me)_6^q$ (M = group 4, 5, 6; q =-2, -1, 0) are either distorted trigonal prismatic (C_3) or prismatic (D_3). While the structure of WMe₆ was not known with certitude and the limited spectroscopic data were not in contradiction with an O_h geometry,¹²⁵ definitive experimental proof of the nonoctahedral structure of WMe₆ came first from an electron diffraction study in the gas phase¹²⁶ and more recently from a crystal structure determination (Chart 1).127,128

As expected, hydride is a very poor model for any ligand that has one or more π bonds or lone pairs, and for example, MF_6 has been calculated to be octahedral.^{120,121,123,129,130} With other ligands such as acetylide¹³¹ or alkoxide,¹³² a structure intermediate between trigonal prismatic and octahedral may be adopted. Although ionic factors play a role in favoring an octahedral geometry, the nonoctahedral geometry of d⁰ MH₆ and MMe₆ has been attributed to a secondorder Jahn-Teller distortion, which allows better bonding by the d metal orbitals.^{109,110,114,115,120,121} The second-order Jahn-Teller effect has also been discussed by Bayse and Hall¹³³ for several hydrido complexes including d⁰ MH₆. The presence of a π donor ligand changes the bonding pattern by using the d orbitals of the metal through d_{π}/p_{π} bonding. Likewise adding d electrons to make d¹ or d² complexes decreases the preference for a trigonal prismatic structure.¹²⁴

C. The d⁶ ML₅ Case

The structure of this family of unsaturated 16electron species was properly understood by comparing the hydrido species with the real systems. Whereas saturated d⁸ ML₅ complexes have a trigonal bipyramidal structure, this is not the case for complexes with two electrons less. The highly reactive Cr(CO)₅, which was assigned a square pyramidal structure (rare gas matrix studies), initiated some theoretical arguments in the literature (Chart 2).^{134,135} The

Chart 2



square pyramidal structure was the only known

structure in a larger number of complexes until the publication of the X-ray structure of Ir(H)(Ph)ClL₂.¹³⁶ This complex is best viewed as a distorted trigonal bipyramid with a strongly acute angle (around 75-80°) between the equatorial H and Ph ligands. Extended Hückel calculations^{137,138} followed by an ab initio HF study¹³⁹ of IrH₃(PH₃)₂ and IrH₂X(PH₃)₂ (X = Cl, NH₂) show that the replacement of H by X has important consequences for the structures. Whereas the trihydride complex has a preference for a square pyramidal structure with an apical hydride, the presence of a π donor ligand X leads to a preference for a distorted trigonal bipyramidal structure with an H-Ir-H angle around 80°, analogous to the H–Ir–Ph angle found experimentally for Ir(H)(Ph)-ClL₂ (Chart 2). The square pyramidal structure was also called the T structure (from the geometry adopted by the three H atoms), whereas the distorted trigonal bipyramid was called the Y structure from the shape made by the two H atoms and the X ligand. Neutron diffraction studies of IrH₂Cl(P'Bu₂Ph)₂ confirmed the calculated Y structure.¹⁴⁰ and further calculations (B3LYP), including the real experimental phosphines, reproduced well the detailed shape of the complex.¹⁴¹ Ås will be mentioned in section IV, although $PtH_3L_2^+$ and IrH_3L_2 are isoelectronic, they are not isostructural.

D. Other Systems

The most stable minimum for TaH_5 was shown to be similar to the optimal structure of $TaMe_5$.¹⁴² In agreement with electron diffraction studies,¹⁴³ the structure is square pyramidal and not trigonal bipyramidal.

The enneahydridorhenate dianion ReH_9^{2-} is the only mononuclear complex with nine hydrogen atoms. A neutron diffraction study has shown the molecular structure to be a tricapped trigonal prism (D_{3h} , Chart 3).¹⁴⁴ The structure of ReH_9^{2-} was optimized within

Chart 3



 D_{3h} symmetry with all-electron, nonrelativistic SCF calculations with large basis sets.¹⁴⁵ This very large calculation—at this period—led to good agreement with the experimental data for the structure and for the vibrational frequencies. As mentioned, the good agreement at the RHF level might have come from an accidental cancellation of relativistic and of electron correlation contributions. Calculations (MP2) with relativistic pseudopotentials also gave good structural results.¹¹⁴

Exploration of potential energy surfaces with hydride as a model for the real ligand has been carried out. Minima, unrealistic with the real ligand, can appear for the all-hydrido systems (20 secondary minima in CrH_6 , 9 minima in WH_6 with no cor-

respondence in WMe₆).¹²¹ However, all these species have the same global minimum. Even with this caveat in mind, the unusual fluxional behavior of $M(O)Me_4$ (M = W, Re) was successfully studied through calculations on $M(O)H_4$.¹⁴⁶

IV. "Computational Crystallography" of Hydride Complexes, a Cost-Effective Method for High-Quality Structural Determination

As mentioned in the Introduction, hydrogen centers are especially hard to locate experimentally, and nonempirical quantum calculations have been the most cost-effective high-quality technique for precise location of the position of this nucleus. An undoubted recognized success of MO and more recently of DFT methods has been to provide highly accurate structures for transition metal complexes of rather large size. The success of "computational crystallography" can only expand in the coming years. It should also be noted that, in the vast majority of calculations, all bulky ligands have been replaced by smaller models for the sake of computational time. Although many excellent results have been published with this drastic simplification, an increasing number of cases have appeared recently that illustrate the limitations of such a model. In the second part of this section, we present some studies in which the real ligands have been fully implemented. A more detailed presentation of the methods used for treating realistic ligands has been the subject of a review.¹⁴⁷

A. Good Success with Simplified Models

While the earliest calculations were carried out at a level significantly inferior to the present standard, the successful results of this pioneering period were important in increasing our confidence in the validity of moderate quality calculations (HF calculations, optimization with geometry constraints) on systems much larger than those described in section II. One of the first studies concerned the comparison of cisand *trans*-dihydrides of Pt(PH₃)₂H₂. Keeping several constraints such as planarity of the coordination at Pt, the metal-ligand distances and ligand-metalligand angles were optimized in successive steps at the HF level.¹⁴⁸ This led to the trans isomer being more stable, in agreement with experiment. The structure of ReH₇(PPh₃)₂ led to several arguments due to different interpretations of the NMR T_{1min} relaxation time.^{29,149–152} A neutron diffraction study on ReH₇(dppe) (dppe = 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane) reported a nine-coordinate polyhydride.¹⁵³ The model complex ReH₇(PH₃)₂ was optimized^{154,155} as a nine-coordinate structure with \hat{C}_{2v} symmetry, in good agreement with the experimental values for ReH₇(dppe). A dihydrogen complex and a bis(dihydrogen) form were investigated and were found to be less stable than the heptahydride.¹⁵⁵ In contrast, a dihydrogen complex was found to be preferred for technetium (structure experimentally unknown).¹⁵⁵ The structure of ReH_7L_2 (\overline{L} = trisarylphosphine) was shown however to be very sensitive to the nature of the phosphine ligands, with the internuclear distance between two of the hydrides varying from 1.24 to 1.42

Å.¹⁵⁶ The ease for varying this H-H distance is addressed in section IX.

Full optimization of geometry at a good level of calculation is demanding in computing time and has only recently become a systematic procedure. An efficient way to locate the hydrides was thus to optimize their position by fixing the position of all heavy atoms as given by X-ray diffraction. This method has been used to locate the hydrides in ReH₂-(SiH₃)(CO)(PH₃)₃ as a model for ReH₂(SiPh₃)(CO)-(PMe₂Ph)₃ and in ReH₆(SiH₃)(PH₃)₂ as a model for ReH₆(SiR₃)(PPh₃)₂.¹⁵⁴ The calculated positions agreed with the structures by Crabtree and co-workers^{157,158} on the basis of NMR data. The calculations suggest the presence of some Si····H interactions, a problem that would be the concern of several studies in the following years.^{159,160}

The study of $[Os(PR_3)_3 "H_5"]^+$ nicely illustrates the method used in the absence of any structural information. The structure of this complex was studied by calculations¹⁶¹ prior to the publication of the neutron diffraction results. From an NMR study¹⁶² and from the neutron diffraction data¹⁶³ on the isoelectronic neutral Re(PR₃)₃H₅ system, a pentahydride structure was thought to be likely. The search for the structure of $[Os(PR_3)_3 H_5"]^+$ illustrates the precautions necessary in a search for the absolute minimum. Locating any minimum by theoretical methods does not ensure the absence of a lower minimum in a totally different region of the potential energy surface. The gradient minimization procedure is blind to the existence of multiple wells. It is thus necessary to start with different likely geometries (guesses) and optimize each one. Chemical knowledge remains the most reliable guide to avoid missing a reasonable geometry. Complexes having coordination number 8 are a good example where chemical intuition may be lacking and a systematic procedure can thus be implemented. Twenty-two different initial structures were thus considered for [Os(PR₃)₃"H₅"]⁺. Six-coordinate bis(dihydrogen) and seven-coordinate dihydrogen structures were eliminated by a combination of RHF optimizations and single-point MP2 calculations. It was also recognized that RHF was inappropriate for optimizing the geometry of these transition metal complexes. Full MP2 optimizations were thus carried out on five guesses of eightcoordinate complexes, leading unambiguously to a dodecahedral structure (Chart 4) very similar to that

Chart 4



of Re(PR₃)₃H₅. One year later the publication of the neutron diffraction study¹⁶⁴ of [Os(PMe₂Ph)₃H₅]⁺ gave full credit to the theoretical calculations. Optimization (B3LYP) of [Os(PH₃)₃H₅]⁺ gave essentially the same structure with minor variations in bond angles.¹⁶⁴ The sensitivity of the structure to chemical

changes is illustrated by the fact that neutral OsCl- $(PH_3)_2(H)_5$ has been shown (B3LYP) to be a dihydrogen complex in which H_2 takes one basal site of a pentagonal bipyramid whose apical sites are occupied by PH_3 .¹⁶⁵ This result is in agreement with ¹H NMR analysis.¹⁶⁶

Some features of seven-coordination have been investigated for $Os(PH_3)_3H_4$.¹⁶⁷ Neutron diffraction data¹⁶⁸ were available (PMe₂Ph as phosphine) to serve as calibration. The calculations confirm the necessity for using post-HF level methods and unequivocally establish the preference for a pentagonal bipyramid with formally neutral ligands (PH₃) in the axial sites and formally negative ligands (H⁻) in the equatorial sites. A preference for an equatorial site was also found for SiH₃, CH₃, BeH, and Li, whereas BH, NH₃, Be, and He all prefer an axial site.

An X-ray structural determination of $OsH_3(CO)$ -(SiHPh₂)(P'Pr₃)₃ located all heavy atoms arranged in a distorted trigonal pyramid geometry around Os. MP2 full optimization of $OsH_3(CO)(SiH_3)(PH_3)_3$ gave a structure with three chemically inequivalent hydrides in agreement with the ¹H NMR of $OsH_3(CO)$ -(SiHPh₂)(P'Pr₃)₃. Different starting geometries were tested, and all converged to the same structure, providing good support for the uniqueness of the minimum structure.¹⁶⁹

The NMR spectrum of $PtH_3(P'Bu_3)_2^+$ at low temperature suggests the presence of a coordinated H_2 trans to a hydride. MP2 calculations¹⁷⁰ on PtH_3 - $(PH_3)_2^+$ supported the characterization of this species, which was the first square planar dihydrogen complex (Chart 5). Interestingly the isoelectronic IrH_3 -

Chart 5



 $(PH_3)_2$, not observed experimentally, has been optimized as a trihydride.¹³⁹

The coordination of Si–H bonds to the metal has been the subject of only a few studies. The calculations have supported the experimental finding that Si–H can coordinate to a metal and still maintain some Si–H bonding. One calculation, which can be compared directly to that of a real system, is that of $Ru(H)_2(PH_3)_2(\kappa-\eta^2-H\cdotsSiH_2-C_2H_2-SiH_2\cdotsH)$ shown in Chart 6.¹⁷¹ In the experimental complex, the X-ray





study shows that H···SiMe₂–o-(C₆H₄)–SiMe₂···H is coordinated to Ru in a highly distorted octahedral geometry (Chart 6).¹⁷² Optimization (B3LYP) gave a structure very close to that for the experimental data and shows the presence of a Si–H interaction. By carrying out a calculation with two SiH₄ molecules in place of the bidentate bis(silyl) complex, it has been shown that the distortion is not entirely determined by the bite angle. In the distorted structure (coplanar but not parallel Si–H bonds), the two Si–H bonds avoid competing with the same d orbital of Ru for back-bonding. Calculations were also used to study the competition between Si–H and H–H bonding in Ru(H₃Si–H)₂(H)₂(PH₃)₂,^{173,174} as well as interconversion between isomers in TpRu(PH₃)H(HSiR₃).¹⁷⁵

It was mentioned in section III that d⁰ complexes could have an unusual geometry that does not agree with VSEPR analysis. In most of the examples in section III, the hydride was a model ligand to represent a polyatomic pure σ donor. The next case represents a study of a system close to the experimental compounds. From the studies of the intensity of the M-H stretching bands, it has been suggested that two "trans"-hydrides in M(X)(OAr)₂(PR₃)(H)₂ (M = Ta; X = Cl, OAr) are displaced toward the phosphine $(P-Ta-H = 60^\circ)$, which is an unprecedented distortion for a hexacoordinate d⁰ complex. The calculations (MP2 and B3LYP)¹⁷⁶ of Ta(X)(OH)₂(PH₃)- $(H)_2$ (X = H, Cl, OH) confirmed this assignment. It was suggested that the distortion permits a better π bond between one lone pair of X and the d⁰ metal. In later work,¹⁷⁷ full optimization calculations (MP2) were carried out for $Ta(OH)_2(L')(H)_2(L)$ (L' and L = OH, F, Cl, Br, CO, CN, CS, BF, N₂, CH₃, NH₃, PH₃, CH₃CN, NH₂, and H). The calculations have been used to examine the effect of the σ and π bonding of the ligands L and L' on the direction of H-Ta-H bending (A vs B in Chart 7). Although the trend in

Chart 7



the trans influence, which dominates the Ta-L bond length of the ligand trans to L', originates primarily from σ bonding, the direction of the distortion of the *trans*-hydrides originates primarily from the relative π -donating ability of L compared to that of L'. Generally, as the ligands are varied, the hydrides will bend away from the stronger donor.

An analogous geometrical distortion was calculated in d⁴ OsH₃(η^2 -BH₄)(PH₃)₂ as a model complex for OsH₃(η^2 -BH₄)(P'Pr₃)₂, in which T_{1min} measurements¹⁷⁸ suggested a rather close proximity of the three terminal hydrides. MP2 optimizations¹⁷⁸ reveal a pentagonal bipyramidal structure with the five hydrides (three terminal H atoms and two bridging H atoms with B) in the equatorial plane (A in Chart 8). The nonbonded distance (1.6 Å) between adjacent hydrides is consistent with the measured NMR Chart 8



relaxation time T_{1min} . This system shows a complicated exchange process, which has been studied in detail and is discussed in section VII. The replacement of the borohydride by the bidentate ligand NH= $C(Ph)C_6H_4$, modeled by NH= $C(H)C_6H_4$, led to the same arrangement of the OsH₃ unit.¹⁷⁹

The complexes with halides (X = Cl, I) in place of borohydride have also been synthesized^{180,181} (OsH₃-(X)L₂; $L = P'Pr_3$, P'Bu₂Ph). It is remarkable that the structures of both the 18-electron borohydride and the 16-electron halide complexes have a similar arrangement of the OsH₃ moiety, on the basis of $T_{1\min}$ relaxation time measurements. Full optimization at the RHF¹⁸⁰ and MP2 levels¹⁸¹ shows that the H····H distance is also around 1.6 Å for X = Cl or I (B in Chart 8). The reason for this geometry being adopted is very similar to that proposed in the tantalum complex.^{176,177} The distortion of the *trans*-hydrides away from X permits the establishment of stronger Os–H σ bonds and an increase in the electron donation from one of the lone pairs of X into the empty d orbital of the metal. The calculated (X = OH)and experimental ($X = OCH_2CF_3$) preference for the alkoxy single-face donor to eclipse the P–Os–P bond in $OsH_3(X)(PR_3)_2$ is in full support of the presence of Os-X π bonding.¹⁸¹

The structure of $[(PP_3)M(H)(\eta^2-H_2)]^+$ (M = Fe, Ru; $PP_3 = P(CH_2CH_2PPh_2)_3)$ was investigated by X-ray and NMR studies.¹⁸² Although the presence of a dihydrogen ligand was clearly established, its position and orientation could not be determined. Optimization of $[P(CH_2CH_2PH_2)_3M(H)(\eta^2-H_2)]^+$ (M = Fe, Ru) as model systems was carried out without any constraint with DFT (LDA) methodology.¹⁸² The structure of the complexes was properly reproduced, and the H₂ ligand (H–H = 0.95 Å for Fe, and H–H = 0.89 Å for Ru) was located cis to the hydride and eclipsing the M-H bond (see section VI). Calculations, in which H_2 was replaced by C_2H_4 , CO, and N₂, also gave results in good agreement with the experimental data.¹⁸² In particular the data support the fact that Fe is better suited for π back-donation in this system.

Several polyhydrides in high oxidation states, which contain cyclopentadienyl and related ligands, have been studied by calculations. Cp*IrH₄ (Cp* = C₅Me₅) presents only one hydride peak in the ¹H NMR spectrum, suggesting that the compound has a 4-fold orientation of the hydrides about the metal center.¹⁸³ An RHF optimization¹⁸⁴ of CpIrH₄ gave a four-legged piano stool (A in Chart 9). Cp*ReH₆ has highly fluxional hydrides at high temperature, but at lower temperature the hydride motion could be frozen out to reveal a 5-fold umbrella structure.¹⁸⁵ An MP2 optimization¹⁸⁶ of CpReH₆ shows the presence of one hydride trans to the cyclopentadienyl ring

Chart 9



and five equivalent radiating hydrides (C in Chart 9). Cp*OsH₅, a species intermediate between the two preceding ones, has been recently synthesized and displays a singlet in the ¹H NMR, which persists even at low temperature.¹⁸⁷ Full optimization of CpOsH₅ at the MP2 level with additional calculations at the MP3, CISD, CCSD, and CCSD(T) levels indicated that the pseudo- C_{4v} structure with four radiating hydrides and one hydride trans to Cp is preferred (B in Chart 9).¹⁸⁸ The C_{5v} structure (a 5-fold piano stool) is a maximum at higher energy. It should be noticed that only post-HF calculations provide a reliable answer for the greater stability of the pseudo- C_{4v} structure. At the HF level the C_{4v} and C_{5v} structures are essentially of the same energy. The H exchange mechanism is discussed in section VII. The story of these three complexes illustrates the evolution of computational techniques and the possibility of examining problems involving smaller and smaller differences in energies.

Calculations are the only way to access the structure of unstable species, which defy any experimental determination. Thus, [Cp*MoH₆(PMe₃)]⁺ is sufficiently stable for NMR characterization only below 220 K ($t_{1/2} = 30$ s at -60 °C), whereas the W equivalent can be investigated up to 250 K ($t_{1/2} = 2$ min at -20 °C), and a dihydrogen complex has been suggested in both cases. Full optimization¹⁸⁹ of $[CpMoH_6(PH_3)]^+$ at the MP2 level reveals the existence of a dihydrogen complex with a typical H-H distance (0.898 Å). MP2 calculations were also used to clarify the nature of the transient dihydrogen complex postulated from the variable-temperature NMR spectra of the formato compound $OsH(\eta^2-O_2-$ CH)(CO)($P'Pr_3$)₂.¹⁹⁰ DFT calculations can successfully reproduce the change in structure associated with a change in oxidation state. Thus, the trigonal prismatic CpWH₃(PH₂CH₂CH₂PH₂) becomes intermediate between octahedral and trigonal prismatic upon oxidation.191

The following two examples are especially illustrative of the power of computation methods to locate hydrides. The crystallographic characterization of Cp₂Co₂ indicated a very short (2.253 Å) Co–Co distance, which was said to be consistent with an unsaturated Co–Co double bond unsupported by bridging ligands.¹⁹² Fenske–Hall calculations suggested a singlet-state electronic structure, whereas the experimental data were indicative of a paramagnetic state. The calculations also indicated the absence of any σ Co–Co bonding in disagreement with the observed very short Co–Co distance. In part on the basis of this theoretical study, the compound was reformulated as saturated Co–Co with one or more bridging H ligands.⁴ The reaction of $[P_2N_2]Zr(\mu-\eta^2-N_2)Zr[P_2N_2]$ ($P_2N_2 =$ PhP(CH₂SiMe₂NSiMe₂CH₂)₂PPh) with H₂ gave a product that contains an N–H bond and a bridging hydride, on the basis of ¹H and ¹⁵N NMR spectroscopy. However, low-temperature X-ray diffraction studies¹⁹³ could be interpreted in terms of a complex having a side-on bridging H₂ unit (H–H = 1.21 Å) and an intact N₂ moiety. A combination of experimental (inelastic neutron scattering (INS), neutron diffraction) and theoretical methods³ was used to investigate the problem. B3LYP calculations on model compounds showed a complex containing a N–N–H group bridging the two metal centers through the N–N bond, and a bridging hydride (A in Chart 10) as a unique minimum. Conspicuously absent from

Chart 10



the calculations is any minimum structure with a bridging dihydrogen (B in Chart 10). Regardless of the basis set, any initial geometry guess converged to the same minimum. The neutron diffraction shows the presence of a singly bridging hydride. However, this hydride is associated with atomic displacement parameters large enough, even at 25 K, to account for the incorrect characterization as two hydrogen atoms side-on-bonded with a H–H distance of 1.21 Å. Finally, INS measurements were also in agreement with a bridging hydride. The DFT study of the reactivity of H₂ with the dinuclear $Zr(N_2)$ complex was shown not to lead to the thermodynamic product A (Chart 10).¹⁹⁴

B. Improving the Model

Theoreticians have been tempted to simplify the real systems as much as possible. In particular, all large groups bonded to the metal have been replaced by the smallest analogous group: PH₃ is the model for any phosphine, SiH₃ for any silyl, Cp for any cylopentadienyl derivative, etc. Whereas the primary reason for this choice is to save computational time, the simplified model also brings some interesting information. If the structures for the calculated (small ligands) and experimental (large ligands) systems are in close agreement, it is suggested that the bulk or the precise electronic features of the ligands are not responsible for the observed structure or property. Clearly, such simplification has limitations. In what follows we have selected cases where the full nature of the ligands plays an important role.

Some studies have improved an oversimplified ligand (e.g., PH_3) by a model closer to the experi-

mental system (e.g., PMe₃). The X-ray structures of $FeL_4H_3^+$ show a different coordination sphere for L = PMe₃ and L = PEt₃. DFT calculations, 195 carried out with $L = PH_3$ and $L = PMe_3$, show that the relative energies of the possible isomers vary with the nature of L. The nature of L also has consequences on the mechanism of H site exchange (see section VII). The X-ray diffraction of M(SiR₃)H₃- $(PPh_3)_3$ (M = Ru, Os; R = *N*-pyrrolyl) does not permit location of the hydrides, and MP2 optimizations were carried out for several models with the purpose of positioning the hydrides. Replacing the silvl by SiH₃ and the phosphine group by PH₃ gave poor agreement with the experimental data. Replacing SiH₃ by Si- $(NH_2)_3$ and, finally, by the computationally demanding Si(pyr)₃ led to very good agreement between calculated and experimental data and permitted reproducing the Os-Si bond length and locating the three H atoms that bridge the Os-Si bond.¹⁹⁶

The alternative approach to the representation of the true ligand is to use a hybrid quantum mechanics and molecular mechanics (QM/MM) method such as IMOMM.¹⁹⁷ This approach is discussed in detail elsewhere,¹⁴⁷ and only examples in the case of polyhydride complexes are given here. Frozen geometry approaches to IMOMM had been applied already before the development of the method, with the goal of clarifying the wide differences observed in the experimental NMR data for [Ru(P-P)2"H"3]+ (P-P = 1,4-bis(diphenylphosphino)butane, "dppb"; (R,R)-4,5-bis(diphenylphosphino)methyl-2,2-dimethyl-1,3dioxolane, "diop"; 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)meth-ylbenzene, "dpmb"; 1,2-bis(diphenylphosphino)ethane, "dppe").¹⁹⁸ The calculations show that the main isomers in solution are an essentially octahedral sixcoordinate isomer with trans-H and -H₂ ligands (trans-M(H)(H₂)) and a fairly heavily distorted sixcoordinate isomer (*cis*- $M(H)(H_2)$). The bite angle of the various diphosphine ligands is shown to play an important role. Thus, the ligand with the larger tendency to open the P-Ru-P angle, diop, is proposed to be the only one to give rise to the trihydride complex with the phosphines in a tetrahedral disposition.

The complexes $[\text{ReH}_5(\text{L})_2(\text{SiHPh}_2)_2]$ (L = PPh^{*i*}Pr₂, PCy₃)¹⁹⁹ were studied with the IMOMM methodology, and the results were compared to the qualitatively good results obtained from MP2 calculations for [ReH₅(PH₃)₂(SiH₃)₂].²⁰⁰ With very similar computational cost, the IMOMM calculations provided structures significantly closer to the experimental data than those at the MP2 level of the simplified system. As expected, the main steric relaxation took place between the silvl and phosphine groups. In the case of $OsCl_2H_2(P'Pr_3)_2$,²⁰¹ the ab initio calculations²⁰² of OsCl₂H₂(PH₃)₂ gave a bicapped tetrahedron structure (QM in Chart 11). An IMOMM (B3LYP:MM3) calculation²⁰³ on the real system reproduced the uncommon trigonal prismatic X-ray structure of OsCl₂H₂- $(P^{i}Pr_{3})_{2}$ and showed how the actual structure is a compromise between an electronic effect favoring coplanarity of the chlorine and phosphine ligands (QM in Chart 11) and a steric effect favoring motion

Chart 11



of the chlorine ligands away from the phosphine ligands (QM/MM in Chart 11).

The case of $IrH_2Cl(P'Bu_2Ph)_2$ is another example where the replacement of the phosphine by PH_3 accounted for only part of the experimental results. The optimization at any level (RHF, MP2, DFT) of $IrH_2Cl(PH_3)_2$ gave the same geometry: a distorted trigonal bipyramid with apical phosphines and an H-Ir-H angle around 80° (see also section III). The H–Ir–H angle is thus very close to that obtained from neutron diffraction (76°) , the main difference being that the Ir–Cl axis bisects the H–Ir–H angle in $IrH_2Cl(PH_3)_2$ (C_{2v} symmetry) but not in IrH_2Cl -(P^tBu₂Ph)₂. An IMOMM (B3LYP:MM3) calculation¹⁴¹ of IrH₂Cl(P^tBu₂Ph)₂ shows that the Ir-Cl vector moves away from the bisector plane of H–Ir–H so Cl can avoid close contacts with some of the dangling C-H bonds of the phosphine ligands. Recent measurements²⁰⁴ of the site exchange between the two inequivalent H atoms support a steric interpretation. The bulky substituents of the phosphine ligands have also been shown to play a leading role in the formation of agostic interactions in the hydride complexes $Ir(H)_2(P'Bu_2Ph)_2^+, ^{205} Ir(H)(\eta^2 - C_6H_4P'Bu_2)(P'Bu_2Ph)^+,$ and $Ir(H)_2(PCy_2Ph)_3^+$.²⁰⁶

V. The Dihydrogen Saga

A. Dihydrogen as a Ligand

The saga of dihydrogen complexes has been described in a number of reviews and need not be repeated here (see the Introduction). It could be worth mentioning that coordination of H_2 was observed first in group VI metal complexes in matrixes,^{80,81} in the gas phase,^{82,83} and in the solid state.⁶ There are now a very large number of dihydrogen complexes known for a wide variety of metal centers.

The bonding of a dihydrogen ligand to a transition metal can be described using an adaptation of the Dewar-Chatt-Duncanson model of bonding and back-bonding. The σ (HH) occupied orbital gives electrons to an empty orbital of the metal, whereas the $\sigma^*(HH)$ empty orbital receives electrons from an occupied orbital of the metal. The most stable H₂ complex (coordination site, conformational preference) corresponds to the stronger M–H₂ interaction. The two components of the $M-H_2$ interaction contribute to the lengthening of the H-H bond with respect to free H_2 (0.74 Å) through loss of electron density from an occupied orbital and addition of electron density into an empty orbital. In the case where these two interactions are strong, the H-H bond could be cleaved and two metal-hydride bonds could be formed. Understanding the factors that can stabilize H_2 as a ligand without cleaving the H-H bond has thus attracted the interest of many theoreticians.

Extended Hückel calculations have been used for analyzing the bonding between H₂ and the transition metal center and have provided a proper framework of concepts for further studies. The possibility that a stable H₂ complex could exist was published by Saillard and Hoffmann²⁶ a few months after the report of the experimental evidence by Kubas and co-workers. This first paper was followed by a continuous flow of publications. From an EHT study²⁰⁷ on the Kubas complex it appeared that the LUMO (lowest unoccupied molecular orbital) of W(CO)₃L₂ has the correct symmetry to interact with σ (HH) as shown in Chart 12. An occupied d orbital belonging

Chart 12



to the approximate t_{2g} set interacts with $\sigma^*(HH)$ (Chart 12). The highest occupied d orbital provides the most efficient back-donation; therefore, H₂ is coplanar with the phosphine ligands, which agrees with experiment.⁶ Increased back-donation is a consequence of going down a triad since 5d orbitals are higher in energy and more diffuse than 3d or 4d orbitals. Therefore, a dihydride is more likely to be formed with the heaviest metal. The role of π -accepting ancillary ligands in decreasing the back-donation and thus in preventing the cleavage of the H-H bond has been highlighted. These π -accepting ligands are responsible for the existence of H₂ complexes of d¹⁰ ML₃ fragments Ni(CO)₃, Co(CO)₂(NO), and Fe(NO)₂-(CO).²⁰⁸ These qualitative ideas were pursued and expanded in work by Burdett who analyzed the bonding within the A(H₂) system. Using the isolobal analogy and the method of moments, Burdett and coworkers^{209–212} show the intimate analogy between organic systems and dihydrogen complexes. They also discussed the possibility for a transition metal to stabilize clusters of H_n ($n \ge 2$).

These qualitative ideas were quantified by ab initio calculations. However, it quickly appeared that a good level of calculations was required for representing these complexes correctly. The pioneer ab initio (HF) partial optimization of W(CO)₃(PH₃)₂(H₂) showed the existence of a minimum with a side-bonded dihydrogen (η^2 -H₂) but gave a much too short H–H distance (0.796 Å) and too low rotational barrier (0.3 kcal·mol⁻¹).²¹³ In the following study (HF), the use of different effective core potentials led to considerable improvement: the H-H distance was found to be 0.812 Å, close to the experimental 0.82 Å, and the rotational barrier was found to lie between 1.4 and 1.8 kcal·mol⁻¹, close to the experimental value (2.2– 2.4 kcal·mol⁻¹).²¹⁴ The corresponding Mo complex has a shorter H-H distance and a smaller rotational barrier for H₂. Further studies were carried out with

Table 1. Calculated Bond Lengths (Å) and Theoretically Predicted H₂ Bond Dissociation Energies (kcal·mol⁻¹) for M(CO)_n(PR₃)_{5-n}(η^2 -H₂) Complexes

	H–H						
	calcd ²¹⁸	calcd ²¹⁵	calcd ²¹⁶	exptl	calcd ²¹⁸	calcd ²¹⁵	calcd ²¹⁶
			M(CO)	3(PH ₃) ₂ (1	H ₂)		
Cr	0.808	0.822		0.85_{220}	16.9	21.3	
Мо	0.804	0.848		0.87221	17.1	19.2	
W	0.832	0.862		0.89^{221}	21.3	20.9	
			M(C	CO) ₅ (H ₂)			
Cr	0.794		0.814		17.9		19.8
Мо	0.787	0.824	0.791		15.7	19.6	16.6
W	0.802		0.810		19.1		19.8
			M(P	$H_{3})_{5}(H_{2})$			
Cr	0.829				18.7		
Мо	0.858				23.5		
W	0.911				29.8		

post-HF calculations (MP2 and CCSD(T)) and DFT calculations.²¹⁵⁻²¹⁸ They show the trends in H-H bond distances and rotational barrier (see section VII) as a function of the metal and the ligands as summarized in Table 1. Even though the absolute value of the H-H distance depends on the method of calculations, all calculations agree that (i) the H–H bond is shorter for Cr than for W although there may be some discrepancy for Mo with respect to Cr and W (see $Mo(CO)_3(PH_3)_2$) and (ii) the H-H bond distance increases upon replacement of CO by PH₃. Bond dissociation energies (BDEs) also increase on replacement of CO by phosphine ligands. Variation of the BDE within a triad depends on the method of calculation. Direct comparison of the calculated BDE with an experimental value is prevented by the fact that an agostic interaction with a pendant C-H bond of a phosphine ligand occurs in the absence of H₂.²¹⁹ Such an interaction is not included in the calculation of the $M(CO)_3(PH_3)_2$ fragment and hence not in the BDE of H₂.

A systematic study of the influence of the L ligand trans to H_2 in $M(CO)_4(L)(H_2)$ (L = CO, SiO, CS, CN, NC, NO, N₂, H, F, Cl, and PH₃) has been carried out with CCSD(T)//MP2 calculations (Table 2).²²² There is a nearly linear correlation between the calculated bond energies and the H–H distance. It follows that the stronger the M–H₂ bond, the longer the calculated distance between the hydrogen atoms. Ligands that are π acceptors weaken the M–(H₂) bond, whereas ligands that are poor π acceptors tend to strengthen the M–(H₂) bond. For any L, the H–H bond is the shortest for Cr and the longest for Mo, although in general very close to that calculated for W.

The previous study shows the influence of the trans ligand on the BDE of H₂. It was shown that the energy of the metal fragment, in the geometry of the complex, also needs to be taken into consideration for a better understanding of the overall stability of the dihydrogen complex. Two isomers are known for IrHCl₂(H₂)(PR₃)₂,¹⁴⁰ but only one is known for IrH₂-Cl(H₂)(PR₃)₂,^{223,224} In general, H₂ prefers to coordinate trans to a ligand of high trans influence (such as hydride) because the metal fragment is either in its best geometry or close to it.¹³⁹ The influence of the

Table 2. Calculated (MP2) Bond Lengths (Å) and Theoretically Predicted (CCSD(T)//MP2) H₂ Bond Dissociation Energies (kcal·mol⁻¹) for ML(CO)₄(η^2 -H₂) Complexes²²²

Μ	L	M-H	H–H	De
Cr	CO	1.745	0.814	19.8
Mo		1.959	0.791	16.1
W		1.915	0.810	19.8
Cr	SiO	1.675	0.841	19.0
Mo		1.929	0.798	16.2
W		1.893	0.817	20.2
Cr	CS	1.811	0.790	17.8
Mo		2.055	0.775	12.5
W		1.981	0.794	16.0
Cr	CN	1.655	0.910	26.3
Mo		1.876	0.838	21.6
W		1.844	0.870	26.5
Cr	NC	1.625	0.956	24.4
Mo		1.838	0.861	24.7
W		1.817	0.893	30.6
Cr	NO	2.137	0.742	13.1
Mo		2.161	0.757	11.7
W		2.105	0.763	14.4
Cr	N_2	1.687	0.895	21.8
Mo		1.868	0.821	21.8
W		1.847	0.840	26.8
Cr	Н	1.668	0.884	30.1
Mo		1.909	0.827	19.0
W		1.868	0.861	27.7
Cr	F	1.618	0.958	26.0
Mo		1.832	0.879	25.5
W		1.741	1.756	35.6
Cr	Cl	1.593	0.980	24.2
Mo		1.804	0.886	26.3
W		1.727	1.693	39.1
Cr	PH_3	1.638	0.886	34.2
Mo		1.881	0.818	22.7
W		1.856	0.840	27.6

substituent effect on an unsaturated fragment IrXH₂-(PR₃)₂ and on the dihydrogen adduct to this metal fragment has been calculated (B3LYP, MP2) in detail (X = Cl, Br, I; R = H, Me).²²⁵ The calculated BDEs (increasing in the order Cl, Br, and I) are in quantitative agreement with the experimental values for PR₃ = P'Bu₂Me.²²⁶

Even in the absence of observable isomers, the competing coordination sites of H₂ in a given complex have also been studied because they could provide some information on the site exchange process, frequent in most polyhydrides (see section VII). Thus, the isomers *trans*- $M(H)(H_2)$ and *cis*- $M(H)(H_2)$ were suggested to be close in energy in $Fe(PH_3)_4(H)(H_2)^+$.²²⁷ This agrees with the data on Fe(R₂PCH₂CH₂PR₂)₂H- $(H_2)^+$, where H and H_2 are preferably trans but where access to a cis isomer or trihydride is necessary to account for the reactivity.¹⁰ The possibility for H to be either trans or cis to H₂ was calculated (MP4// MP2)²²⁸ for OsHCl(H₂)(CO)(PH₃)₂ and for $M(H)_2(H_2)$ -(CO)(PH₃)₂ (M = Os, Ru) with MP2 calculations.²²⁹ In both cases, the coordination of H trans to H_2 is preferable and the other coordination is energetically accessible, in agreement with experimental evidence.

B. Dihydrogen versus Dihydride

The transformation of coordinated dihydrogen into a dihydride is a key problem in the field of transition metal polyhydrides. Originally all H-containing transition metal complexes were considered as polyhydrides. After the discovery by Kubas, the structures of many of them were reattributed as dihydrogen complexes.⁹ A complex that contains only hydride ligands is called a classical polyhydride, whereas a complex containing one or more dihydrogen ligands is called a nonclassical polyhydride.²³⁰ The experimental methods and techniques that have been used to assign the structure are described in several excellent reviews on this topic.^{9–11,16,27–29} The $M(H)_2/M(H_2)$ dichotomy has been the subject of almost all theoretical papers and has also been addressed in most of the papers cited in section V.A. Therefore, this section (V.B) is limited to contributions specifically concerned with this dichotomy.

Through the study of $MH_n(PH_3)_m$, $CpMH_nL_{4-n}$ (M = Ru, Os, Rh, Ir), $CpMH_nL_{6-n}$, $MH_n(CO)_mL_p$, and $MH_nCl_mL_p$ (with 4d and 5d metals from group 6 to group 9, and neutral or cationic complexes), Lin and Hall^{36,154,184,186,231–234} searched for periodic trends. The factors that favor classical over nonclassical structure are, as expected, identical to those that are responsible for stretching of the H–H bond. Classical hydrides are preferred for transition metals with more diffuse d orbitals, i.e., early transition metals. Likewise, down a triad, classical hydrides are preferred for the heaviest elements. For transition metals from the same row, the nonclassical isomer is preferred for the later metal. Lin and Hall³⁶ postulated that a diagonal line divides the transition metals into those that prefer classical forms (left side of the line) and those that prefer nonclassical forms (right side of the line). For those complexes along the diagonal line, both classical and nonclassical isomers may exist. For cationic complexes, the corresponding diagonal line shifts toward early transition metals (Chart 13). The structures of a large number of

Chart 13



complexes were properly assigned through these studies.

Other studies focused on the existence of two minima, corresponding to either classical or nonclassical structures. The impetus for such studies was initiated by the observed equilibrium between $M(H_2)$ and $M(H)_2$ for the Kubas complex.²³⁵

In the absence of any d electrons on the metal, only the dihydrogen form can exist as shown in $[CpMoH_{6}-(PH_{3})]^{+}$.¹⁸⁹ In early work, EHT calculations^{236,237} had suggested the possibility that an H₂ or H₃⁻ ligand could be bonded to a d⁰ metal. Very recently, a stable ${\rm Ti}^{\rm IV}$ dihydrogen complex was located as a secondary minimum in a combined DFT and molecular dynamics study²³⁸ of the reaction mechanism of olefin polymerization by (CpSiH₂NH)Ti^{IV}R⁺.

Where the metal center has d electrons and where the two forms are in principle possible, the outcome of the calculations is generally that the existence of two minima is rare and the existence of a single stable structure (dihydrogen or dihydride) is common. Furthermore, all studies show that the rules suggested in the very early EHT work and the large series of Lin and Hall³⁶ are followed. Thus, RuI(H)-(H₂)(PR₃)₂ is an H₂ complex,²³⁹ whereas changing Ru to Os makes the complex become a dihydride.¹⁸⁰ Likewise OsH₃(η^2 -BH₄)(PH₃)₂ has only a classical polyhydride structure.^{178,240}

The discovery of quantum exchange coupling (section VIII) in trihydride complexes has prompted many studies on these systems with a special focus on the existence of a dihydrogen complex isomer. Many of these complexes $(CpIr(H_3)(L)^+, L = PH_3, CO)$ have been found to have a trihydride structure as a single minimum.^{241,242} In the family of bis(cyclopentadienyl) complexes, some of the first ab initio calculations were carried out by modeling Cp by Cl. The presence of two minima in Cl_2MH_3 (M = Nb, Ta)²⁴³ was not reproduced with Cp ligands in the calculations. Thus, $Cp_2MH_3^{n+}$ (M = Mo, W, n = 1; M = Nb, Ta, n = 0²⁴⁴ are only trihydrides (B3LYP). In agreement with the idea that diminishing electron density at the metal should favor the dihydrogen structure, coordination of one wingtip hydride by Lewis acids of increasing strength decreases the internuclear distance between the two other cishydrogen atoms. A dihydrogen complex can even be preferred. For Cp₂NbH₃, calculations (B3LYP) give the following distances between the two cis-H atoms: no Lewis acid, $H \cdot \cdot \cdot H = 1.771$ Å; $(HO)_2BH$, a model of catecholborane, $H \cdots H = 1.768$ Å; AlH_3 , $H \cdots H = 1.646 \text{ Å}; BF_3, H \cdots H = 0.918 \text{ Å}; BH_3, H \cdots H$ 0.913 Å.²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁷ Replacing the wingtip hydrogen by a p-accepting ligand (CO, CNR) also favors the dihydrogen complex as shown by experimental and theoretical approaches.248,249

A systematic study of ligand effects on the possibility of having two minima $(M(H_2) \text{ or } M(H)_2)$ was carried out $(MP2)^{222}$ on $M(CO)_4(L)(H_2)$ (L = CO, SiO, CS, CN, NC, NO, N₂, H, F, Cl, PH₃). Most of the complexes were found to be only dihydrogen complexes. The dihydride was found as the minimum only for M = W with X = F and Cl (5d metal with a π donor ligand trans to the "H₂" ligand). Only five molecules were found to be more stable as dihydrogen with a dihydride as a secondary minimum (M = W with X = CN, NC; M = Cr with X = H; and M = Mo with X = H). One system is a stable dihydride with dihydrogen as a secondary minimum (M = W with X = H).²²²

The series $M(PH_3)_3H_4$ (M = Fe, Ru, Os) was studied with DFT calculations.²⁵⁰ It is found that inclusion of relativistic effects is necessary to represent properly the changes in structure from Fe to Os with allelectron basis sets. Without relativistic effects, all three complexes prefer to be dihydrogen complexes. Including relativistic effects increases the energy of the 5d orbital of Os and results in a tetrahydride structure being preferred for Os, whereas a dihydrogen form remains the more stable for Fe and Ru.

The search for cases showing the existence of two minima raises a fundamental problem. Even if two minima could coexist, their experimental observation might require that a significant energy barrier prevents an otherwise too easy interchange between them. Location of the transition state between W(CO)₃-(PH₃)₂(H₂) and *cis*-W(CO)₃(PH₃)₂(H)₂ (A in Chart 14)





shows the absence of any significant barrier for transforming the more unstable $M(H)_2$ into $M(H_2)$.²¹⁸ This contradicts the spin saturation measurements²³⁵ that show a nonnegligible activation energy ($\Delta G^{\ddagger} =$ 16.0 kcal·mol⁻¹, $\Delta H^{\ddagger} = 10.1$ kcal·mol⁻¹, $\Delta S^{\ddagger} = -19.9$ eu) for the transformation of dihydride into dihydrogen. Another dihydride structure was found as a minimum at an energy very close to that of the *cis*dihydride. In this seven-coordinate alternative minimum the two hydrides are separated by a W-phosphine bond (B in Chart 14). A stable dihydride structure, in which the two H atoms are not cis, was also located by calculations (B3LYP) in MH₂(CO)₃- $(PH_3)_2$ and in $MH_2(PH_3)_5$ (M = Cr, Mo, W).²¹⁷ This structure also agrees with the proposed X-ray structure of $MoH_2(PR_3)_5$. Although the transition state for the transformation of the dihydride into the H_2 complex was not located, it is likely to be associated with a nonnegligible activation energy.²¹⁸ This dihydride structure with non-*cis*-hydrides is thus probably the one observed experimentally. In the study (B3LYP) of CpRuH₂(PH₂CH₂PH₂)⁺ a dihydrogen and a trans-dihydride are also found as two minima close in energy.²⁵¹ Changing the shape of the metal fragment can also lead to a change in the coordination of H_2 as shown by a study of $[Rh(PH_3)_4(H_2)]^{+\ 252}$ as a model of $[Rh(P(CH_2CH_2PPh_2)_3)(H_2)]^{+\ 253}$ The role of the spectator phosphine ligands in determining the structure can be drastic.254 Thus, it seems that the observation of a dihydrogen and a dihydride in a complex not only may be associated with the simple cleavage of the dihydrogen bond, but may involve a more extensive structural change in the complex.²⁵⁵

C. Theoretical Tools for Analysis of the H····H Interaction

Several types of analysis have been used to quantify the interaction of H_2 with the metal center: the energy decomposition analysis (EDA),^{167,256} the extended transition state (ETS) decomposition scheme,^{250,257,258} and the charge decomposition analysis (CDA).^{222,259} They all point to the importance of back-donation. The H–H and M–H vibrational fre-



Figure 1. $\Delta E(S/T)$ for M(CO)_{*n*}(PH₃)_{5-*n*}(H₂) complexes (see the text for definitions).²¹⁸

quencies have also been calculated to quantify the weakening of the H–H bond upon coordination. As expected the H–H stretching frequency is calculated^{213,216} to be weaker for coordinated H₂ than for free H₂. Agreement with experiment, which is fairly good, is however limited by the difficulty of observing some of these frequencies.^{214,216,217} The atoms in molecules analysis^{260,261} has also been used to assign the chemical bonds in several H₂ complexes as a function of H–H separation.²⁶² This point is especially relevant for stretched H₂ complexes discussed in section IX.

An alternative approach for analyzing the $M(H_2)/$ $M(H)_2$ dichotomy was developed from the study of the electronic state of the metal fragment adapted to bond to H_2 or to two hydrides. It has been shown by Hay²¹³ that the bonding for a dihydrogen complex is best described by the singlet state of the metal fragment interacting with H₂, whereas the bonding for the dihydride is described by the triplet state of the metal fragment interacting with two hydrides. This idea was developed and enlarged for analyzing the trend in the family of complexes $M(CO)_n(PH_3)_{5-n}$ (M = Cr, Mo, W; n = 0, 3, 5).²¹⁸ It is shown that there is a linear relationship between $E[M(H_2)] - E[M(H)_2]$ and $2D_e(M-H) - D_e(M-H_2) - \Delta E(S/T)$, where D_e -(M-H) is the metal-hydride bond energy, $D_e(M-H_2)$ is the metal-dihydrogen bond energy, and $\Delta E(S/T)$ is the singlet/triplet energy gap of the metal fragment (Figure 1). For a given set of ligands with CCSD(T)// B3LYP calculations, the smallest $\Delta E(S/T)$ and $D_e(M-T)$ H) are found for Cr. In the Mo analogue, $D_{\rm e}({\rm M-H})$ is stronger but $\Delta E(S/T)$ is also larger. The similar behaviors of Cr and Mo complexes are therefore coming from factors working in opposite directions. Going from Mo to W increases $D_e(M-H)$ and decreases $\Delta E(S/T)$, favoring the dihydride in the later.

VI. Interactions with M–H and with M–H₂. Hydrogen Bonds Again!

While the dihydrogen ligand interacts most strongly with the metal center, it was also soon recognized that coordinated H_2 has the unusual capability of interacting with other centers, notably other ligands in the coordination sphere. This interaction was first suggested to explain the unprecedented orientation of H_2 in FeH₂(H₂)(PEtPh₂)₃. Neutron diffraction has revealed the presence of an H_2 ligand bisecting the cis H–Fe–P angle (A in Chart 15).²⁶³ An EHT





study²⁶³ of the rotational barrier of H₂ showed that the observed conformation was the result of a compromise between back-donation between Fe and H₂ (maximum where H_2 eclipses P–Fe–P) and a stabilizing interaction between H₂ and the cis Fe-H bond (the cis interaction; see Chart 15). The attraction between the hydride and H₂ was represented at the molecular orbital level as the Fe–H σ bond, localized on the hydride, acting as an electron donor toward σ^* (HH). The best overlap between σ (FeH) and σ^* (HH) is obtained when the four atoms are coplanar. An ab initio study of the conformational preference of H_2 (all other atoms at fixed positions) confirmed that the experimentally observed orientation of H₂ corresponds to a minimum.²⁶⁴ The cis interaction between H₂ and the hydride has been found through other theoretical studies in a number of complexes.^{140,182,189,227,239,265–268}

Theoretical studies have not characterized any form of covalent bonding between the hydride and the coordinated H₂. An alternative explanation for this attractive interaction is based on purely electrostatic arguments. It is well established that a dihydrogen coordinated to a metal is strongly acidic,¹⁰ and calculations on Ru and Os complexes show the importance of spectator ligands on this property.²⁶⁹ A hydrogen center of coordinated H₂ is thus positively charged. An electrostatic attraction or a dipole/ induced dipole interaction can thus be established between the negatively charged hydride (the hydridic nature of H-containing metal complexes has been discussed²⁷⁰) and the positively charged extremity of coordinated H₂.

The proposal of an attraction between a negatively charged hydride and a positively charged H atom was not new in the literature. The coplanarity of O–H and Ir–H bonds and the relatively short H····H distance (2.4 Å) in [Ir(PMe_3)_4(H)(OH)]⁺, whose structure was determined by neutron diffraction, was explained by an attraction between Ir^{+,0}–H^{-,0} and O^{-,0}–H^{+,0} (Chart 16).²⁷¹ A recent X-ray determination







Figure 2. Neutron diffraction structure for $Re(H)_5(PPh_3)_3$ ·indole.²⁸⁰

of $[FeH(H_2)(PMe_3)_4]^+$ ²⁷² found a structural distortion compatible with an H···H₂ interaction calculated in $[Fe(H)(H_2)(PR_3)_4]^+$ (R = H, ^{195,227} Me¹⁹⁵). This idea was generalized and expanded independently by Morris^{14,273} and Crabtree, ^{15,274,275} and a number of theoretical studies were carried out to study this new type of hydrogen bonding, which was named an H···H or dihydrogen bond to distinguish it from the traditional hydrogen bond.²⁷⁵

Although the focus of this review is on transitionmetal-containing systems, it is necessary to mention that the first quantitative calculations on the dihydrogen bond were carried out for main group compounds. Thus, the study of the gas-phase dimer $[BH_3NH_3]_2$ by PCI-80/B3LYP (a modification of DFT tailored to obtain CCSD(T) quality results) shows the presence of two identical short B–H···H–N interactions.^{275,276} The magnitude of each interaction was evaluated to be 6 kcal·mol⁻¹, and point charge analysis indicates an electrostatic origin for the H···H bond.

In the field of transition metal chemistry, the first calculations concerned an intramolecular dihydrogen bond. In $IrH_2X(PR_3)_2L'$ (L' = 2-aminopyridine), an interaction between a hydride and an amino proton was detected by NMR and IR studies.²⁷⁷ The strength of the H···H interaction based on the C=N rotation barrier was calculated (HF) on IrH₂X(PH₃)₂(HN= C(H)NH₂) as a model and was found to be around 5.8 kcal·mol⁻¹ (X = H). Decreasing the electron density on the hydride by decreasing the trans influence of X (Cl in place of H) diminishes the interaction as found by calculations (4.3 kcal·mol⁻¹) and experiment.²⁷⁷ The nature of the attractive interaction in a number of related systems was discussed from a molecular orbital point of view.²⁷⁸ A weak intramolecular interaction was also detected by DFT calculations in $[Ir(PH_3)_4(H)(OH)]^+$ and in $[Ir(PH_3)_4(H)(SH)]^+$. However, interestingly, the intermolecular interaction with the neighboring counteranion is also shown to play a role and to affect the geometry of these iridium complexes in a significant way.279

Intermolecular interactions of this type have also been observed between neutral systems as, for example, in the cocrystallization of $\text{ReH}_5(\text{PPh}_3)_3$ with indole. The X-ray and neutron diffraction studies show the presence of an N-H···H-N hydrogen bond (Figure 2).^{280,281} This can be considered as a threecenter H bond, with one hydrogen tightly bonded

 $(d(H \cdots H) = 1.734(8) \text{ Å})$ and one very weakly bound $(d(H \cdots H) = 2.212(9)$ Å). The Re-H \cdots H-N angles are strongly bent (118.9(4)° for the stronger and 97.2(3)° for the weaker interaction), as in the B-H···H-N case. Calculations (B3LYP) were carried out on $[(\text{ReH}_5(\text{PH}_3)_3)(\text{H}-\text{NH}_2)]$ as a model (i) to prove the presence of an attractive interaction between the metal hydride and the proton donor and (ii) to determine if the interaction was selective toward some of the hydrides. Optimization of the relative positions of structurally frozen partners led to longer distances between the interacting molecules (1.92 and 2.48 Å) than seen in the neutron diffraction data. The stabilization energy (4.3 kcal·mol⁻¹) was found to be equal for all hydrides. Replacement of NH₃ by pyrrole led to a slightly larger interaction energy.²⁸¹ Only significantly polar H-X bonds can become involved in this $H\cdots H$ interaction as demonstrated by the lack of experimental interaction or significant stabilization when the N-H bond is replaced by a C-H bond in the rhenium case.²⁸² However, some M-H···H-C interaction has been detected for other systems in the solid state.²⁸³

The dihydrogen bonding interaction has been found to also have an influence on the reactivity of a polyhydride. The H site exchange should be faster if a stabilizing H···H interaction lowers the energy of the transition state. To test this point, the dynamics of H site exchange was studied in ReH₅(PPh₃)₂(L) (L = 2-(acetylamino)pyridine). A rate increase in the H site exchange of a surprisingly moderate magnitude was observed. Determination of the transition states (B3LYP) for the permutation of the hydrides corresponding to a turnstile rotation (Chart 17) in ReH₅-





 $(PH_3)_2(L)$ (L = 2-(amino)pyridine) revealed that the two interacting H centers were in too close proximity in the transition state, thus preventing maximum H····H stabilization.²⁸⁴ Recently, a DFT (B3PW91) study of (Cp-N)RuH(PH₃)₂ (Cp-N = C₅H₄CH₂CH₂-NMe₂) has shown the importance of the dihydrogen bonding in the protonation process of this complex.²⁸⁵

The discovery of the dihydrogen bonding has resulted in a significant rebirth of interest in hydrogen bonding in the transition metal chemistry field.^{286–290} It is certainly going to expand considerably since hydrogen bonding governs so many aspects of chemistry. It is an important contributor to the interactions between molecules in the solid state.^{279,291,292} It could also be the initial step for protonation. Thus, considerable effort has been devoted to the understanding of the factors that control selectivity of protonation.³⁴ From a theoretical point of view, it is an extremely challenging topic owing to the small energies involved. One can illustrate these challenges and partial successes through two recent

Table 3.	Calculated	Hydrogen	Exchange	Processes i	n Poly	ydride	Complexes ^a

complex		methodology	ref.				
Pairwise Exchange							
$OsH_3{NH=C(H)C_6H_4}(PH_3)_2$	$20.1; 12.3^{b}$	B3LYP	179				
$OsH_3{\kappa-N,\kappa-S-(2-Spy)}(PH_3)_2$	14.9; 16.2 ^b	B3LYP	295				
$CpIr(PH_3)H_3^+$	14.1	MP2	242				
	17.9	MP2	268				
$CpIr(CO)H_3^+$	10.7	MP2	242				
$Cp_2MoH_3^+$	16.4	B3LYP	244				
$Cp_2WH_3^+$	28.5	B3LYP	244				
\hat{Cp}_2NbH_3	25.4	B3LYP	244				
Cp_2TaH_3	37.7	B3LYP	244				
$OsH_3Cl(PH_3)_2$	12.9	MP2	296				
$OsH_3I(PH_3)_2$	14.6	MP2	296				
$OsH_3Cl(PH_3)_3$	9.8	MP2	181				
CpRhH ₄	6.8	CCSD(T)//B3LYP	297				
Other Me	chanisms						
FeH ₃ (PMe ₃) ₄ ⁺ (tedrahedral jump)	7.4	DFT	195				
$CpOsH_5$ (trigonal twist)	5.2	CCSD(T)//MP2	188				
$\hat{ReH}_{5}(PH_{3})_{2}(Py)$ (turnstile)	9.0	B3LYP	284				
$(\eta^2$ -BH ₄)Mn(CO) ₄ (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^3)	25.9	MP2//RHF	298				
$(\eta^3$ -BH ₄)Cu(PH ₃) (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^2)	2.5	MP4//MP2	299				
$(\eta^2$ -BH ₄)Cu(PH ₃) ₂ (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^3)	7.4	MP2//RHF	298				
	11.7	MP4//MP2	299				
$(\eta^1$ -BH ₄)Cu(PH ₃) ₃ (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^2)	3.0	MP4//MP2	299				
$Ti(\eta^3$ -BH ₄) ₃ (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^3, η^3, η^2)	5.1	MP2//UHF	300				
$OsH_3(\eta^2-BH_4)(PH_3)_2$ (H-hydride/H-hydride pairwise)	9.5	CCSD(T)//MP2	240				
$OsH_3(\eta^2-BH_4)(PH_3)_2$ (H-hydride/H-bridging polytopal)	19.0	CCSD(T)//MP2	240				
$OsH_3(\eta^2-BH_4)(PH_3)_2$ (H-bridging/H-terminal via η^1)	20.8	CCSD(T)//MP2	240				
^{<i>a</i>} Energy barrier ΔE^{\ddagger} in kcal·mol ⁻¹ . ^{<i>b</i>} Two different hydride si	te exchange processe	s; see the text.					

studies. A study of the hydrogen bonding between $OsH(Cl)(CO)(P^{t}Bu_{2}Me)_{2}$ and $(CF_{3})_{2}CHOH$ was only successful if the real nature of the two partners was taken into consideration. With the usual simplified model of PH₃ as phosphine and CH₃OH as proton donor, the preferred interaction between the transition metal complex and the alcohol was calculated (B3LYP) to occur between the electron-deficient Os center and the electron-rich oxygen center. The results were changed in a drastic way by using the IMOMM methodology for representing OsH(Cl)(CO)- $(P^{t}Bu_{2}Me)_{2}$ and $(CF_{3})_{2}CHOH$. The Os center is protected from approach by the steric bulk of the phosphine ligands. The only remaining interaction is between Cl and the proton of $(CF_3)_2$ CHOH as observed experimentally by IR spectroscopy.²⁹³

Similar difficulties were recently met in modeling the products that result from H₂ addition to IrH- $(H_2O)(bq-NH_2)(PR_3)_2^+$ (bq-NH₂ = 2-amino-7,8-benzoquinolate ligand).²⁹⁴ The addition of H₂ to this complex leads, after departure of H₂O, either to an H_2 complex or to proton transfer from the coordinated H₂ to the bq-amino group to give an ammonium ion stabilized through H····H interaction by the nearby Ir-H bond. Calculations (B3PW91) with PH_3 as model phosphine show the dihydrogen complex to be strongly favored, while the successive replacement of H in each PH₃ group by F, to model the more electron-withdrawing phosphines used in the experiment, shows an increasing preference for the ammonium ion stabilized by Ir-H····H-N interaction. The experimental data show that only the least electron-donating PPh₃ group favors the ammonium ion, whereas the more electron-donating trialkylphosphine groups favor the dihydrogen complex. Remarkably, the experimental change of phosphine

ligands leading to the experimental detection of the predicted second isomer was only made as a consequence of the apparent disagreement between the theoretical and experimental results. These two examples illustrate some of the difficulties to be expected in future theoretical works in this field as well as the increasing necessity to take into account the real nature of the chemical compounds.

VII. Hydrogen Exchange Processes

Classical and nonclassical transition metal polyhydride complexes present a great diversity of dynamic processes involving hydrogen atoms coordinated to the metal, but their unequivocal assignment from experimental measurements, usually from variable-temperature ¹H NMR, is difficult. Theoretical calculations have greatly contributed to the understanding of the mechanisms of these dynamic processes. Calculations of hydrogen exchange processes in polyhydrides, dihydrogen and $M(H)(H_2)$ complexes are summarized in Tables 3–5, respectively.

A. Pairwise Exchange

Despite the strength of the M–H bonds,⁸ hydride ligands show a great mobility, and hydride site exchange is often observed. Pairwise exchange involving a rotation of the H–M–H plane by 180° has been frequently characterized. Calculations have shown a significant shortening of the H–H distance during the exchange process and the possible implication of a thermally accessible η^2 -H₂ structure. The kinetics of H/H exchange in Re(CO)H₂(PR₃)₂(NO) was determined by variable-temperature ¹H NMR experiments. From both the kinetic data and extended

complex	ΔE	exptl	methodology	ref		
$W(CO)_{3}(PH_{3})_{2}(H_{2})$	2.1	$2.2-2.4^{a}$	EHT	207		
	1.8		RHF	214		
	3.6		DFT	215		
	1.0		CCSD(T)//B3LYP	217		
$Cr(CO)_{3}(PH_{3})_{2}(H_{2})$	1.2	1.2^{b}	DFT	215		
$M_0(CO)_3(PH_3)_2(H_2)$	3.3	$1.5 - 1.7^{a}$	DFT	215		
$OsHCl(CO)(PH_3)_2(H_2)$	3.4		MP4//MP2	228		
$Os(NH_3)_5(H_2)^{2+}$	0.6		CCSD(T)//B3LYP	302		
cis-Os(NH ₃) ₄ (H ₂)(CH ₂) ²⁺	1.0		CCSD(T)//B3LYP	302		
$trans-Os(NH_3)_4(H_2)(CH_2)^{2+}$	2.1		CCSD(T)//B3LYP	302		
$M_0(CO)(H_2PC_2H_4PH_2)(H_2)$	1.4	0.7	EHT	303		
$TpRh(H)_2(H_2)$	0.5	0.6 ^c	B3LYP	297		
$Fe(PH_3)_4(H)(H_2)^+$	7.0		RHF	227		
cis-IrCl ₂ (H)(H ₂)(PH ₃) ₂	6.5		MP2//RHF	140		
trans-IrCl ₂ (H)(H ₂)(PH ₃) ₂	2.3		MP2//RHF	140		
$IrCl(H)_2(H_2)(PH_3)_2$	2.2	0.5	MP2//RHF	305		
$\{P(CH_2CH_2PH_2)_3\}Fe(H)(H_2)^+$	1.5	1.8^{d}	DFT	182		
Os(H ₂)Cl(H ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PH ₂) ₂ ⁺	2.0		DFT	306		
$CpRh(H)_2(H_2)$	4.9		CCSD(T)//B3LYP	297		
$CpRu(H_2)(H_2PCH_2PH_2)^+$	4.2		B3LYP	251		
$CpMo(H)_4(H_2)(PH_3)^+$	4.2		CCSD(T)//MP2	189		
$CpW(H)_4(H_2)(PH_3)^+$	5.2		CCSD(T)//MP2	189		
$C\hat{l}_2Ta(H_2)(CO)^+$	9.7	9.6	RHF	307		
$Cp_2Nb(H_2)(CNCH_3)^+$	10.9	8.4 - 8.9	B3LYP	248		
$Os{NH=C(H)C_6H_4}(H_2)(PH_3)_2$	11.0	12	B3LYP	179		
$Cr(CO)_4(H_2)_2$	4.8		RHF	308		
$Ru(H)_2(H_2)_2(PH_3)_2$	1.4	2.2	CCSD(T)//B3LYP	267		
^a Reference 301. ^b Reference 220. ^c Reference 304. ^d Reference 330.						

Table 5. Calculated Activation Energy ΔE^{\dagger} (kcal·mol⁻¹) for Hydrogen Exchange Processes in ML_n(H)(H₂)

complexes				
complex	mechanism		methodology	ref
$Fe(PH_3)_4(H)(H_2)^+$	H/H ₂ exchange, open direct transfer	3.2	RHF	309
$Fe(PMe_{3})_{4}(H)(H_{2})^{+}$	H/H_2 exchange, open direct transfer	0.5	DFT	195
trans-Os(H)Cl(H ₂)(CO)(PH ₃) ₂	H/H_2 exchange via a cis intermediate	15.6	MP4//MP2	228
$Ir(H)_2(H_2)(PH_3)_2^+$	two sites H exchange between inequivalent H atoms	6.9	B3LYP	310
$Ru(H)_{2}(H_{2})(CO)(PH_{3})_{2}$	hydride exchange	7.9	B3LYP	229
$Os(H)_2(H_2)(CO)(PH_3)_2$	hydride exchange	6.1	B3LYP	229
$TpRh(H)_2(H_2)$	H/H ₂ exchange via a tetrahydride	14.1	B3LYP	297
$Cr(CO)_4(H_2)_2$	H_2/D_2 exchange via a dihydride–dihydrogen	24.	RHF	308
$Ir(H_2)_2(H)_2(PH_3)_2^+$	cleavage of one dihydrogen	15.7	B3LYP	310
	HD formation	24.1	B3LYP	310
$CpMo(H)_{4}(H_{2})(PH_{3})^{+}$	open direct transfer	7.4	CCSD(T)//MP2	189
$\bar{CpW(H)_4(H_2)(PH_3)^+}$	open direct transfer	7.0	CCSD(T)//MP2	189
-				

Hückel calculations, an intramolecular exchange mechanism via a trigonal bipyramidal η^2 -H₂ complex was proposed.³¹¹ The pentagonal bipyramidal osmium trihydrides OsH₃{NH=C(Ph)C₆H₄}(P'Pr₃)₂¹⁷⁹ and OsH₃{ κ -N, κ -S-(2-Spy)}(P'Pr₃)₂²⁹⁵ show two different hydride site exchange processes involving two adjacent H atoms pseudo-trans to either X (H₂ and H₃ in Chart 18) or Y (H₁ and H₂ in Chart 18).

Chart 18

omnlovo



The respective transition states for the exchange have been located by calculations (B3LYP) on OsH₃-{NH=C(H)C₆H₄}(PH₃)₂ and OsH₃{ κ -N, κ -S-(2-Spy)}-(PH₃)₂ as model systems. They can be described as octahedral Os(II) species containing a dihydrogen ligand (H-H distances of 0.89 and 0.95 Å). A topological analysis of the electron density for the OsH₃- $\{\kappa$ -N, κ -S-(2-Spy) $\}(PH_3)_2$ supports the presence of an $Os(\eta^2-H_2)$ moiety. In $OsH_3{NH=C(H)C_6H_4}(PH_3)_2$ the transition state, in which the dihydrogen ligand lies trans to the nitrogen atom, is found 20.1 kcal·mol⁻¹ above the trihydride minimum, whereas the transition state, in which the dihydrogen ligand is trans to the ortho-metalated phenyl ring is only 12.3 kcal·mol⁻¹ above the minimum.¹⁷⁹ In OsH₃{ κ - N,κ -S-(2-Spy)}(PH₃)₂ the activation barriers are 14.9 kcal·mol⁻¹ for the exchange that involves a transition state with the dihydrogen trans to the nitrogen atom, and 16.2 kcal·mol⁻¹ for the one trans to the sulfur atom.²⁹⁵ It has been shown that the differences in activation barriers parallel the difference in energy needed for the exchanging hydrogen atoms to get in close proximity before undergoing the rotation. The energy barriers are thus directly related to the energetic cost for reaching a dihydrogen species. The exchange mechanism consists of an out-of-plane twist of two adjacent hydride ligands, which come close enough to make an η^2 -H₂ in the transition state (Chart 19). This mechanism is reminiscent of the

Chart 19

$$L_{n}M \underbrace{\overset{H_{a}}{\longleftarrow}}_{H_{b}} \underbrace{\longrightarrow} \left[L_{n}M \underbrace{\overset{H_{b}}{\longleftarrow}}_{H_{a}} \right]^{\ddagger} \underbrace{\longrightarrow} L_{n}M \underbrace{\overset{H_{b}}{\longleftarrow}}_{H_{a}}$$

dihydrogen rotation, operative in dihydrogen complexes (vide infra), but it is associated with higher energy barriers because the rotation is coupled with the approach of the two hydrides.

The same pairwise exchange mechanism via an η^2 -H₂ species has been proved to be operative in the trihydride species [CpIrH₃L]⁺ (L = PH₃, CO)^{241,242} and [Cp₂MH₃]ⁿ⁺ (M = Mo, W, n = 1; M = Nb, Ta, n = 0).²⁴⁴ The inter-ring angle in ansa bis(cyclopentadienyl)tungsten trihydride influences the energy barrier for pairwise site exchange. DFT calculations³¹² on Cp₂WH₃⁺, (η^5 -(C₅H₄)₂SiR₂)WH₃⁺, and (η^5 -(C₅H₄)₂-SiR₂)WH₃⁺ (R = H) have shown that the exchange requires a higher energy of activation as the Cp_{cent}-W-Cp_{cent} angle decreases, in agreement with experimental NMR data^{313,314} for R = Me.

The possibility that η^3 -H₃ species were involved in the mechanism for hydrogen site exchange was discarded from MP2 calculations on [CpIr(PH₃)- H_3]⁺.²⁶⁸ It must be stressed that the extent to which the two exchanging hydrides approach each other in the transition state can be dependent on the particular system and/or the methodology employed. MP2 calculations of the hydride site exchange in OsH₃X- $(PH_3)_2$ (X = Cl, I) and OsH₃Cl(PH₃)₃ have found the pairwise exchange mechanism to be operative, but in the located transition states the H···H distances range from 1.34 to 1.38 Å.^{181,296} These values fall in the range of the so-called elongated dihydrogen complexes, discussed in section IX. In these systems the H-H distance can vary with a very low energy cost. In some of these complexes, a low barrier for hydride site exchange is associated with the occurrence of quantum exchange coupling described in the following section.

The $M(H)(H^*)/M(H^*)(H)$ exchange through an η^2 -H₂ species is not restricted to transition metal di- or trihydride compounds. B3LYP and CCSD(T)//B3LYP calculations have predicted a piano-stool tetrahydride structure for the CpRhH₄ complex, a still unknown complex similar to TpRhH₄. In this system, a CpRh-(η^2 -H₂)(H)₂ structure energetically slightly above the tetrahydride allows for a fast hydride exchange to take place.²⁹⁷

B. Polytopal Rearrangements

Hydride exchange through an η^2 -H₂ structure often involves a significant motion of the two exchanging hydrides and only minor motions of the other ligands. In this mechanism, the formal oxidation state of the metal may change along the exchange pathway. In high-coordinate polyhydrides, alternative mechanisms are possible that require neither change in the metal oxidation state nor extensive participation of all ligands in the rearrangement process. The ster-

eochemical nonrigidity in seven-, eight-, or ninecoordinate polyhydrides has been well established.³¹⁵ This has been interpreted in terms of the various geometries available in seven-, eight-, and ninecoordination. It has been proposed that the permutation of the hydrides is possible via these alternative geometries.^{30,316,317} The seven-coordinate [Fe(H)₃- $(PEt_3)_4]^+$ presents fast exchanging hydrides and was characterized as a distorted FeP₄ tetrahedron with the hydride ligands capping three of the faces.²⁷² DFT calculations on $[Fe(H)_3(PMe_3)_4]^+$ as a model have located a pentagonal bipyramid transition state for the hydrogen exchange with an activation barrier in very good agreement with the experimental data. The hydrogen exchange can be described as a tetrahedral jump or, alternatively, as a dodecahedral distortion of a cubic arrangement.¹⁹⁵ CCSD(T)//MP2 calculations¹⁸⁸ have shown that the hydride exchange in $CpOsH_{\rm 5}$ takes place according to a trigonal twist mechanism associated with a fairly small barrier (Chart 20). A turnstile mechanism was proposed to

Chart 20



account for the decoalescence at low temperature of the ¹H NMR spectrum of $[ReH_5(PPh_3)_2(py)]$ (py = pyridine). B3LYP calculations on $ReH_5(PH_3)_2(py)$ located the transition state as a dodecahedral tautomer of the global minimum. Replacement of pyridine by 2-aminopyridine in the calculations has clarified the effects of H····H hydrogen bonding on the fluxionality process (see section VI).²⁸⁴

C. Site Exchange with H Atoms outside the Coordination Sphere

Transition metal tetrahydroborate compounds exhibit fluxionality associated with hydride exchange. In tetrahydroborate complexes, one (η^1) , two (η^2) , or three (η^3) hydrides of BH₄⁻ bridge the transition metal and the boron atom (Chart 21).³¹⁸ Almost all





of these complexes display a fast exchange between bridging and terminal hydrogen atoms attached to the boron atom. The mechanisms proposed involve a change in the coordination mode of the tetrahydroborate ligand.^{319,320} For example, it has been suggested that the exchange in bidentate tetrahydroborate complexes can proceed via either a unidentate or a tridentate intermediate. However, it has not been possible to differentiate between the two mechanisms from ¹H NMR measurements. HF calculations on (η^2 -BH₄)Mn(CO)₄ and (η^2 -BH₄)Cu(PH₃)₂ indicate that, in both systems, the mechanism of bridging-terminal hydride exchange occurs via an associative rather than dissociative pathway. Singlepoint MP2 calculations have shown that the η^1 structure lies at a decisively higher relative energy than the η^3 -structure for both molecules.²⁹⁸

The exchange between terminal and bridging hydrogen atoms in $[Cu(BH_4)(PH_3)_n]$ (n = 1, 2, 3) has been studied at the MP4//MP2 level.²⁹⁹ In Cu(PH₃)- $(\eta^3$ -BH₄) the exchange takes place with a very low barrier via the η^2 -structure. The energy barrier for the exchange in Cu(PH₃)₂(η^2 -BH₄) is 11.7 kcal·mol⁻¹, and the transition state can be described as a distorted η^3 -structure. The Cu(PH₃)₃(BH₄) complex adopts a strongly nonlinear η^1 -structure. The exchange between the strongly and the weakly bridged hydrogen atoms goes through a symmetrical η^2 complex with a very low energy barrier. A more complicated exchange pathway has been found for d¹ $Ti(BH_4)_3$. In agreement with the experimental data, UHF calculations followed by single-point MP2 calculations gave the C_{3h} Ti $(\eta^3$ -BH₄)₃ structure as the most stable one. The relative energy of $Ti(\eta^3-BH_4)_2$ - $(\eta^2$ -BH₄), where the two bridging hydrides are orthogonal to the TiB_3 plane, allows for an easy exchange mechanism between bridging and nonbridging hydrogen atoms.³⁰⁰

Transition metal hydride complexes may undergo another type of dynamic process: an H/H exchange between the hydride ligand and a hydrogen atom from another ligand. Most of the examples occur with dihydrogen ligands (vide infra), but other ligands can also be involved. Isotopic labeling experiments are useful to detect the exchange, but are not informative to identify the mechanism. An intramolecular H/D exchange between thiol and hydride was reported for [IrH2(HS(CH2)3SH)(PCy3)2]+.321 Intramolecular protonation of a hydride ligand by an acidic ancillary ligand to give a dihydrogen ligand has also been postulated in [IrH(Cl)(NH₃)₂(PEt₃)₂]^{+ 322} and [IrH- $(H_2O)(bq)(PCy_3)_2]^+$ ³²³ (bq = 7,8-benzoquinolinate). A facile H/D exchange reaction between anionic transition metal carbonyl hydrides $[HM(CO)_4L]^-$ (M = Cr, Mo, W; L = CO, PR_3) and CH₃OD, D₂O, and CH₃-CO2D has been reported.³²⁴ A similar fast H(hydride)/ H(acid) exchange has been shown to be operative in $Re(CO)H_2(NO)L_2$ compounds.³²⁵ It has been reported that bridging hydrides exchange with terminal hydrides on osmium in $[OsH_3(\eta^2-BH_4)(PR_3)_2]$.^{240,326} Rapid exchange of hydrogen atoms between hydride and methyl ligands has been shown to occur in [Cp*Os- $(dmpm)(CH_3)H]^+$, presumably through an alkane complex.327

Theoretical studies on this subject are still scarce. Extended Hückel calculations have shown that experimental H/D exchange between $(Cp*_2LnH)_2$ (Ln

= Lu, Y) and deuterated arenes can be explained in terms of σ bond metathesis involving a direct singlestep H/H exchange. An orbital analysis indicated that the ease with which an RH molecule may undergo the H/H exchange process is associated with the ability of the α carbon to stabilize an entering nucleophile.³²⁸ The complex OsH₃(η^2 -BH₄)(PH₃)₂ was studied for unraveling the mechanism of the possible hydride exchange processes (Chart 22). The exchange

Chart 22



may involve two of the three terminal hydrides on Os, or one bridging hydride and a terminal hydride from either Os or B. A CCSD(T)//MP2 study has allowed for the characterization of three different intramolecular rearrangements.²⁴⁰ The lowest energy barrier is associated with the exchange of the two hydrides on Os. The pairwise exchange process of two adjacent hydride ligands goes through an (η^2 -H₂)-like transition state. The second lowest energy barrier corresponds to the H(Os)/H(bridged) exchange.

In this case, the process goes through a sevencoordinate $OsH_4(BH_3)(PH_3)_2$ intermediate containing an η^2 -BH₃ ligand. Finally, the highest energy barrier is associated with the exchange process between the bridging and terminal hydrides of the BH₄⁻ ligand. This rearrangement goes, via a transition state with a monodentate BH₄⁻ ligand, along a dissociative pathway.

D. Dihydrogen Rotation

The hydrogen atoms of a dihydrogen ligand may exchange their positions by a rotation about the $M-H_2$ axis. This process is usually so rapid that, even at very low temperature, only one peak is observed for H₂ in the ¹H NMR spectrum. INS experiments have been used to determine the height of the rotation barrier.³⁰¹ The main contributions to the rotational barrier are the direct electronic interaction between the dihydrogen and the transition metal fragment and, in some cases, the nonbonded interactions between the hydrogen atoms and the ancillary ligands. For this reason, the barrier to rotation of dihydrogen serves as a very sensitive probe of the electronic interactions between the metal and its ligands. Theoretical determination of dihydrogen rotational barriers has also served as a quantitative benchmark for electronic calculations in dihydrogen complexes. The rotational barrier is mainly sensitive to the $d_{\pi} - \sigma^*$ back-bonding. It must be stressed that the rotational barrier is only related to the change between the minimum and the transition state and not to the absolute magnitude of the M–H₂ interaction at the minimum.

INS studies have permitted measurement of the low barrier for octahedral d⁶ complexes. Experimen-

tal values have been found to lie between 0.5 and 2.0 kcal·mol⁻¹. Such low barriers are obtained because the $d_{\pi} - \sigma^*$ interaction does not change much upon rotation of H₂. Back-donation is preserved during the rotation, and the d orbitals that are responsible for the back-donation in the different orientations of H₂ have similar energies and shapes. The rotational barrier in W(CO)₃(PR₃)₂(η^2 -H₂) has been calculated by a number of methods. A barrier height of 2.2 kcal·mol⁻¹ was determined from INS measurements $(R = Cy).^{214}$ Early extended Hückel calculations correctly predicted the orientation of the H₂ ligand and gave a rotation barrier of 2.1 kcal·mol^{-1.207} HF calculations²¹⁴ showed that the electronic component yields a barrier of 1.8 kcal·mol⁻¹ (R = H). Molecular mechanics (MM2) calculations²¹⁴ gave a steric component of 0.6 kcal·mol⁻¹. It was clear that neither the bulk of the phosphine ligands nor the other steric factors significantly hinder H₂ rotation in these complexes.²¹⁴ Barriers of 3.6 kcal·mol⁻¹ (DFT)²¹⁵ and 1.0 kcal·mol⁻¹ (CCSD(T)//B3LYP)²¹⁷ have been obtained.

Theoretical studies have traced the origin of this barrier to the decrease of the back-donation in the σ^* (HH) orbital when the H–H ligand becomes coplanar with the adjacent metal-carbonyl bond.^{207,213-215,217} The evolution of the W-H₂ geometrical parameters along the rotation pathway supports this analysis: the H-H distance decreases from 0.832 to 0.805 Å, and at the same time, the W-H distances increase from 1.918 to 1.965 Å.²¹⁷ Rotational barriers of 1.2 and 3.3 kcal·mol⁻¹ have been reported (DFT) for Cr- $(CO)_3(PH_3)_2(\eta^2-H_2)$ and $Mo(CO)_3(PH_3)_2(\eta^2-H_2)^{-215}$ Experimental values for $M(CO)_3(PR_3)_2(\eta^2-H_2)$ compounds are 1.2 kcal·mol⁻¹ for $M = Cr^{220}$ and 1.5–1.7 $kcal \cdot mol^{-1}$ for M = Mo.³⁰¹ An energy barrier of 3.4 kcal·mol⁻¹ was calculated at the MP4//MP2 level for OsHCl(η^2 -H₂)(CO)(PH₃)₂ (H and H₂ trans).²²⁸ In d⁶ octahedral complexes with a more symmetrical ligand field, even lower barriers can be expected. In these compounds the π back-donation interaction is roughly constant during the rotation. The set of t_{2g}-like metal orbitals being fully occupied, one component or a linear combination of two components is always ideally oriented to interact with σ^* (HH). A rotational barrier of 0.6 kcal·mol⁻¹ was calculated at the CCS-DT(T)//B3LYP level in [Os(NH₃)₅(H₂)]⁺.³⁰² For Mo(CO)- $(R_2PC_2H_4PR_2)_2(\eta^2-H_2)$, a barrier to rotation of 0.7 kcal·mol⁻¹ was determined from INS measurements. EHT calculations gave a value of 1.4 kcal·mol^{-1.303} B3LYP calculations on TpRhH₂(η^2 -H₂) have also found a very low rotational barrier $(0.5 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$,²⁹⁷ in excellent accord with the value determined by means of INS in $Tp^{Me_2}RhH_2(\eta^2-H_2)$ (0.56(2) kcal· mol⁻¹).³⁰⁴ It seems that in this complex back-donation does not vary significantly during the rotation of the dihydrogen.³²⁹

The attractive cis effect²⁶³ between dihydrogen and *cis*-hydride ligands has been found to influence the rotational barrier. The implications of the cis effect on the structure of the complexes have been discussed in section VI. The rotational barriers found in [Fe-(PH₃)₄(H)(η^2 -H₂)]⁺ (7.0 kcal·mol⁻¹, RHF)²²⁷ and IrCl₂-(H)(H₂)(PH₃)₂ (6.5 kcal·mol⁻¹, MP2//RHF)¹⁴⁰ have

high values that have been attributed to the loss of the cis effect in the transition state. For the iridium complex the calculated rotational barrier is remarkably lower in the *trans*-M(H)(H₂) isomer, where the cis interaction is absent.¹⁴⁰ The MP2//RHF barrier³⁰⁵ is also lower (2.2 kcal·mol⁻¹) in the related compound IrCl(H)₂(η^2 -H₂)(PH₃)₂. DFT calculations pointed out that the cis effect could govern the rotational barrier in [(PP₃)Fe(H)(η^2 -H₂)]⁺.^{182,330}

Rotational barriers higher than 4 kcal·mol⁻¹ have been calculated in dihydrogen complexes with Cp ligands. CCSDT//B3LYP calculations have found an energy barrier of 4.9 kcal·mol⁻¹ in CpRhH₂(η^2 -H₂).²⁹⁷ This value suggests a considerable loss of backdonation in the transition state. This conclusion is consistent with the evolution of the H-H distance, from 0.943 Å at the minimum to 0.850 Å at the transition state.²⁹⁷ The cyclopentadienyl ring significantly distorts the shape and energy of the three nonbonding metal orbitals that are no longer a t2glike set of orbitals. Back-donation occurs through metal orbitals that are different in energy and shape at the minimum and in the transition state.^{244,297,331} An energy barrier of 4.2 kcal·mol⁻¹ was obtained (B3LYP) for the elongated dihydrogen complex [CpRu- $(H \cdot \cdot \cdot H)(H_2PCH_2PH_2)]^{+.251}$ In this system the H–H distance is also notably shortened in the transition state. Barriers to rotation of 4.2 and 5.2 kcal·mol⁻¹ have been calculated at the CCSD(T)//MP2 level for $[CpM(\eta^2-H_2)H_4(PH_3)]^+$ complexes (M = Mo, W).¹⁸⁹ These d⁰ complexes lack any $d_{\pi} - \sigma^*$ donor effect, and the high value of the barriers has been attributed to a strong cis effect.¹⁸⁹

High rotation barriers (around 10 kcal·mol⁻¹) have been observed in $d^2 \operatorname{Cp}_2 M(H_2)L^+$ (M = Nb, Ta). This is higher than in most dihydrogen complexes but smaller than the barrier for site exchange in Cp₂MH₃. Rotation of coordinated HD has even been frozen on the NMR time scale.^{248,307,332} The rotational barrier (9.7 kcal·mol⁻¹, HF) for $Cl_2Ta(H_2)(CO)^+$ is thus very close to the experimental value (9.6 kcal·mol⁻¹) for $Cp_2Ta(H_2)(CO)^+$.³⁰⁷ Calculations (B3LYP) for Cp_2Nb - $(H_2)(CNCH_3)^+$ gave a rotational barrier of 10.9 kcal·mol⁻¹, which compares well to the experimental ΔG^{\ddagger} (8.4–8.9 kcal·mol⁻¹) obtained from NMR data in $(\eta^{5}-(C_{5}H_{4}SiMe_{3})_{2}Nb(H_{2})(CNR)^{+}$ (R = ^{*t*}Bu, Cy, xylvl).²⁴⁸ The high rotation barrier in these complexes has been attributed to the complete loss of backdonation on going from the global minimum to the transition state. In the global minimum, H₂ lies in the plane bisecting the Cp-M-Cp angle, where backdonation from the unique occupied d orbital is maximal. When H_2 is rotated by 90°, the overlap with the d orbital is lost, and no other occupied orbital is available for back-donation. This accounts for a significant shortening of the H-H bond (from 0.871 to 0.765 Å) and lengthening of Nb-H (from 1.870 to 2.09 Å) upon rotation.²⁴⁸ Å combination of calculations (B3LYP) and one-dimensional dynamical studies has shown that the absence of decoalescence of the H signal is due to the presence of a large quantum exchange coupling.²⁴⁸ This is the unique case of quantum exchange coupling (see section VIII) involving only a dihydrogen ligand.

The observed high energy for rotating H₂ in OsX-{NH=C(Ph)C₆H₄}(H₂)(P[·]Pr₃)₂ (X = Cl, Br, I) has been properly reproduced in Os(Cl){NH=C(H)C₆H₄}(H₂)-(PH₃)₂ as a model system (11 kcal·mol⁻¹, B3LYP).¹⁷⁹ This high rotation barrier has been related to the presence an elongated dihydrogen. The relationship between the rotational barrier and the H–H distance has been discussed in Os(H···H)Cl(H₂PCH₂CH₂-PH₂)₂⁺, where the presence of an elongated H–H bond has been proposed.³⁰⁶

In the case of bis(dihydrogen) ligands, HF calculations for $Cr(CO)_4(H_2)_2$ give a barrier height of 4.8 kcal·mol⁻¹ for rotating by 90° the two H₂ from their most stable orientation.³⁰⁸ Geometry optimizations (B3LYP) and energy barrier calculations (CCSD(T)// B3LYP) have been carried out for RuH₂(H₂)₂(PH₃)₂, where PH₃ was the model for PCy₃. Although the two *cis*-dihydrogen ligands should be perpendicular to each other to benefit from back-donation from two different occupied d orbitals, the calculations show that the two H₂ ligands lie in the H–Ru–H plane, presumably because of the cis effect. The calculated barrier is very low (1.4 kcal·mol⁻¹), in agreement with the INS measurement.²⁶⁷

Since H₂ is a single-face π acceptor, its rotation is expected to be coupled with the rotation of the other single-face π acceptor ligands. This was calculated to be the case in RuH₂(H₂)₂(PH₃)₂, where a C_2 conrotatory pathway was shown to be slightly preferred.²⁶⁷ In Os(NH₃)₄(H₂)(CH₂)⁺, the coupled rotation of H₂ and CH₂ was studied (CCSD(T)//B3LYP) for the case where the two ligands are cis or trans.³⁰² The rotational barriers for H₂ and CH₂ remain low because the most unfavorable situation for backbonding is always avoided.

E. Exchange Processes in M(H)(H₂) Complexes

Exchange between hydride and hydrogen of H₂ has been shown to occur in complexes where dihydrogen and hydride ligands coexist. The simplest case is the exchange between dihydrogen and one hydride in $L_nM(\eta^2-H_2)$ (H). Several possible mechanisms were considered in an HF study of the octahedral model complex [Fe(PH₃)₄(H)(η^2 -H₂)]⁺.³⁰⁹ The favored mechanism consists of a single-step transfer of the hydrogen atom between the two ligands ("open direct transfer") and is associated with a very low energy barrier. This mechanism requires elongation of the H–H bond with concomitant shortening of the separation between the hydride and the vicinal hydrogen of the H₂ ligand (Chart 23). The two H····H distances

Chart 23



become equal and relatively short in the transition state, which can be viewed as containing an H_3^- ligand. This H exchange does not require a drastic rearrangement of the phosphine ligands, and is mainly determined by the motion of the H atoms. This exchange can be envisaged as a nondissociative

mechanism, and does not require an oxidative addition of the dihydrogen.

An experimental study on [ReH₂(H₂)(CO)(PMe₂-Ph)₃]⁺ has demonstrated the existence of a nondissociative hydrogen exchange pathway, with no oxidative addition of H₂.³³³ Further evidence has been found favoring this mechanism with cis-H and -H₂ ligands (*cis*-M(H)(H₂) complexes). The ¹H NMR spectra of $[Fe(\eta^2-H_2)(H)(PMe_3)_4]^+$ indicated a very fast H/H₂ scrambling.²⁷² DFT calculations have located a transition state, which agrees with the proposed mechanism.¹⁹⁵ In the octahedral complex [Os(H)Cl- $(\eta^2-H_2)(CO)(P'Pr_3)_2$ with trans-H and -H₂ ligands (*trans*-M(H)(H₂)), hydride exchange also takes place, although at a slow rate. The study of this dynamic behavior has been carried out by means of NMR and ab initio MP2 studies.²²⁸ Two seven-coordinate trihydrides and a *cis*-M(H)(H₂) complex, relevant to the exchange process, were located in the MP2 potential energy surface. The proposed mechanism involves the initial cleavage of the dihydrogen ligand in trans- $M(H)(H_2)$ to form a fluxional $M(H_3)$ complex that rearranges into a *cis*-M(H)(H₂) intermediate, where H exchange can occur. The estimated barrier (15.6 kcal·mol⁻¹) agrees with the experimental activation parameters $(\Delta H^{\ddagger} = 17.4 \pm 0.5 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$. The possible coexistence of trans- and cis-M(H)(H₂) isomers with M(H₃) has also been proposed from an ab initio MP2 and molecular mechanics study of [Ru- $(P-P)_2$ "H₃"]⁺ (P-P = dppb, diop, dpmb, dppe) complexes to explain the NMR spectra.¹⁹⁸

In systems such as $L_nM(\eta^2-H_2)(H)_2$ several types of exchanges are possible. The variable-temperature ¹H NMR spectra of $[Ir(H)_2(\eta^2-H_2)(P'Bu_2Ph)_2]^+$ indicate a pairwise exchange process between the inequivalent hydrides. B3LYP calculations reveal a mechanism ($\Delta E = 6.9 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$) involving a sliding of the two hydrides in the plane perpendicular to P–Ir–P with no associated rotation of the H–Ir–H plane with respect to the rest of the complex.³¹⁰ Steric factors may be responsible for the energy barrier in Ir(H₂)-(X)(PR₃)₂ complexes.²⁰⁴ Calculations (B3LYP) have established that the two hydride ligands are cis in $M(H)_2(\eta^2-H_2)(CO)(PR_3)_2$ (M = Ru, Os) complexes.²²⁹ The hydrogen site exchange involves a structure in which the two hydrides become trans.

The dihydrogen and hydride ligands in Tp^{Me₂}Rh- $(H)_2(\eta^2 - H_2)$ $(Tp^{Me_2} = hydridotris(3,5-dimethylpyra$ zolyl)borate) are highly fluxional on the NMR time scale, and a dynamic exchange between the dihydrogen ligand and the two hydrides takes place.³³⁴ The fluxionality of the exchange between a hydride and H_2 in TpRh(H)₂(η^2 -H₂) as a model complex has been studied by means of B3LYP calculations. Two different mechanisms involving either a tetrahydride or a bis(dihydrogen) have been considered. The bis(dihydrogen) structure lies 10 kcal·mol⁻¹ above the tetrahydride isomer, suggesting a preference for the exchange to go through the tetrahydride structure.²⁹⁷ A possible low-energy reaction pathway for the H₂/ D_2 exchange in the bis(dihydrogen) complex $Cr(CO)_4$ - $(H_2)_2$ involving a M(H)₂(H₂) complex was obtained from RHF calculations.^{308,335} Two recent theoretical studies have treated the hydrogen exchange processes in six-hydrogen systems containing dihydrogen and hydride ligands (Chart 24). In $[CpM(\eta^2-H_2)(H)_4-$

Chart 24



 $(\rm PH_3)]^+$ (M = Mo, W) complexes, stretching the dihydrogen toward an adjacent hydride is a low-energy process and leads to a transition state with "H₃-" character. The energy barriers (CCSD(T)//MP2) for these exchanges (ca. 4 kcal·mol⁻¹) agree with the inability to decoalesce the hydride signals at -140 °C. 189

In $[Ir(H)_2(\eta^2-H_2)_2(PH_3)_2]^+$, two transition states corresponding to two different hydrogen exchange processes have been located from B3LYP calculations.³¹⁰ The two-step mechanism accounts for the exchange of H and H₂ and for the results of isotope incorporation.

VIII. Quantum Exchange Couplings in Polyhydrides

Within the Born-Oppenheimer approximation, the electronic energy of a molecule is a function of the relative positions (configuration) of its atoms, which are considered to be fixed. A given configuration of the nuclei has a given energy, which corresponds to a given point in the configuration space. If two identical nuclei in the molecule are permuted, a new configuration corresponding to a different point in the configuration space is obtained with the two configurations having the same energy. Thus, a single potential energy well does not properly represent the chemical system because of the presence of identical potential wells in the configuration space.

In quantum mechanics, the system explores the whole configuration space, and in the case of ethylene, for example, there are 12 such different wells each corresponding to the same ground-state geometry.³³⁶ Therefore, a rovibrational state for a configuration corresponding to a particular well is indeed composed of 12 different rovibrational levels each carrying different symmetry labels with respect to the permutation operations. However, the difference in energy among all these levels is very small and is dependent upon the ease of transfer from one well to the other.

Restricting the configuration space to only one well is valid if no experimental method is able to probe the splitting between the aforementioned levels. The dynamics of the system is confined to this particular well, and all the equivalent wells behave independently. On the other hand, if a spectroscopic technique can "see" the splitting, the different wells have to be considered together. We discuss in this section the theoretical description of a phenomenon observed spectroscopically in polyhydride complexes that is related to the easy permutation of two identical hydrides.

A. Physical Origin of Quantum Exchange Couplings

In the mid-1980s, the groups of Chaudret and Heinekey independently observed very unusual low-temperature ¹H NMR spectra in Cp*RuH₃L (L = PMe₃, P'Pr₃, PCy₃)¹² and CpIrH₃L⁺ (L = PMe₃, PPh₃, AsPh₃).¹³ Whereas only one peak was observed in the hydride region of the ¹H NMR spectra at room temperature, lowering the temperature led to a decoalescence of the signals and a second-order AB₂ spectrum with an abnormal coupling constant J_{ab} .

The value of J_{ab} is much higher than expected for a coupling constant between any two hydrides or even mutually bonded ones. In the case of CpIrH₃-(AsPh₃)⁺ $J_{ab} = 570$ Hz at 185 K.¹³ In addition, the magnitude of J_{ab} increases with the temperature in a way not expected for magnetic couplings. For Cp*RuH₃(P'Pr₃) J_{ab} goes from 57 Hz at 168 K to 131 Hz at 203 K.¹² A detailed experimental description of this phenomenon can be found in the very recent review by Sabo-Etienne and Chaudret.³² We focus here on the theoretical analysis.

The experimental observations were originally tentatively explained by an equilibrium between $M(H)_3$ and *cis*- $M(H)(H_2)$ geometries¹² or by the participation of a H₃-type ligand.¹³ However, both explanations were later ruled out by the experimental evidence.

The presence of a chemical equilibrium between a ground-state classical MH₃ structure with low J_{ab} and an intermediate M(H)(H₂) complex with high J_{ab} should have led to temperature-dependent chemical shifts of the hydrides, and this was not observed. Moreover, the magnitude of the coupling constant could not have been higher than that of free H₂, which is 280 Hz as calculated from measurement on HD. Finally the H₃ ligand hypothesis was discarded because the neutron diffraction for CpIrH₃(PMe₃)⁺ showed a long H····H distance³³⁷ and because substitution of one H by a deuterium (D) did not quench the phenomenon. The coupling constant is 6% larger for the isotopomer CpIr(PPh₃)(H_aH_bD_b)⁺.³³⁷

In papers submitted 3 days apart, Weitekamp et al.³³⁸ and Zilm et al.³³⁹ both simultaneously proposed a similar explanation of the physical origin of the phenomenon in terms of quantum exchange coupling (QEC). The two groups recognized that the observed coupling constant could not come only from a magnetic interaction but was the manifestation of a tunnel effect between two equivalent configurations (Chart 25). The energetically easy permutation of the two hydrides corresponds to a splitting of rovibrational levels detectable by an NMR spectrometer. Although three hydrides are present, the tunnel effect involves only two hydrogen atoms at a time and is thus associated with a pairwise exchange. The QEC has also been observed in a tantalum dihydride complex.340

Within the framework of pairwise exchange, Zilm has shown how an NMR AB spectrum can result from a tunnel effect between two equivalent configurations.^{339,341} The value of the splitting between vibrational levels is large enough to be detected by NMR



because the exchange between the two configurations is easy. One of the levels, E^+ , is symmetric under the permutation of the two H atoms, whereas the other, E^- , is antisymmetric (a similar analysis holds for ammonia inversion). Consequently, due to the fermionic nature of H, the nuclear spin wave function associated with each level is a priori fixed: singlet for E^+ and triplet for E^- (case of two H atoms only). Without including any magnetic coupling term $J \cdot I_{a} \cdot I_{b}$, it can be shown that the NMR spectrum corresponds to an AB spectrum with $J_{ab} = E^- - E^+$.

This phenomenon is in principle present in *any* chemical species having more than one H. However, in organic molecules, the energy for exchange of two hydrogen atoms is often very high. This leads to a nonobservable yet nonzero J_{ab} . Transition metal polyhydrides where the permutation of H atoms can be energetically facile are for the moment the only systems where QEC is seen experimentally. The temperature dependence of J_{ab} is easily explained by considering all the vibrational levels E_n below the barrier to exchange between the two configurations. Each level is in fact a doublet $\{E_n^+, E_n^-\}$ with an associated coupling constant $J_n = E_n^- - E_n^+$. The observed coupling constant is the Boltzmann average of the various contributions J_n .

The quantum nature of the QEC also explains why, upon incorporation of tritium, the observed coupling constant dramatically decreases, contrary to what is expected from the relative values of $\gamma_{\rm T}$ and $\gamma_{\rm H}$.^{337,342} In the case where the two particles are not identical, there are no longer any symmetry properties associated with the permutation operation, and therefore, the observed AB spectrum results only from the usual magnetic coupling. Heinekey et al.³⁴² estimated the magnetic contribution to the experimental coupling constant from measurements of $J_{\rm HT}$ and, thus, extracted the pure quantum mechanical exchange component.

B. Simulation of Quantum Exchange Couplings

The mechanism for permuting the H centers has been the subject of some controversy. Zilm first proposed a mechanism where the two exchanging hydrides approach within a given distance λ by a bending mode of frequency ν before undergoing the exchange.^{339,341} The mechanism was derived from a prior study of exchange phenomena in liquid³ He by Landesman.³⁴³ The two exchanging hydrides are restricted to the plane corresponding to the groundstate geometry. This leads to the following expression for J_{ab} :

$$J_{\mathrm{ab}} = rac{3\hbar a}{4\pi m \delta^3} \left(rac{3}{\pi}
ight)^{1/2} \exp \left\{ -rac{3}{4} rac{a^2+\lambda^2}{\delta^2}
ight\}$$

where *a* is the equilibrium H····H separation and δ the amplitude of the bending vibrational motion. The temperature dependence of J_{ab} is taken into account through δ :

$$\delta^{2}(T) = \frac{3\hbar}{4\pi m\nu} \coth\left\{\frac{h\nu}{kT}\right\}$$

Zilm obtained values for *a* and *v* by adjusting the parameters to the experimental data. QEC is larger if the ground-state distance *a* between two neighboring hydrides is small and if the bending motion is soft. Typical values for *a* lie between 1.6 and 1.7 Å, whereas *v* values lie between 400 and 600 cm⁻¹.

Zilm's model was used by Daudey et al.²⁴³ to account for the behavior of the trihydrides Cp₂TaH₃ and Cp₂NbH₃; the Nb complex shows QEC while the Ta analogue does not.³⁴⁴ This study was the first ab initio calculation in this field. The experimental systems were modeled by Cl₂MH₃ (M = Nb and Ta) and optimized at the RHF level. Bending frequencies were calculated to be 603 cm⁻¹ for Nb and 1032 cm⁻¹ for Ta. The ratio J^{Ta}/J^{Nb} was estimated to be 2.3 × 10^{-9} by using the computed frequencies within Zilm's model for J_{ab} . This accounts for QEC being measurable in the case of Nb but not in the case of Ta.

The difference in behavior between Nb and Ta was traced to the relative energies of an $M(H)(H_2)$ isomer. The latter was 14.6 kcal·mol⁻¹ more stable than the trihydride for Nb and 7.3 kcal·mol⁻¹ less stable for Ta. Although the calculations did not properly reproduce the trihydride ground state, they correctly mimicked the greater tendency for Nb to form an H₂ complex. This is probably due to the approximate nature of the modeling (Cl for Cp) or to the lack of electron correlation in the HF method used at that time because of computational limitations. A recent study at the B3LYP level on the real systems Cp₂-MH₃ proved the trihydride to be the ground state for both metals.²⁴⁴ The $M(H)(H_2)$ isomer is energetically more accessible for Nb (+11.4 kcal·mol⁻¹) than for Ta (+19.8 kcal·mol⁻¹), which accounts for the observed differences in QEC.

The relation between the ease of reaching a $M-(H_2)$ configuration and the occurrence of QEC has been discussed. Limbach based his model on this relationship.³⁴⁵ He considered three different mechanisms to accomplish the exchange. Mechanism I is identical to Zilm's model. Mechanism II consists of an out-ofplane rotation of the two hydrides, keeping the H···H distance constant. Mechanism III first considers a preequilibrium between the ground-state trihydride and a $M(H)(H_2)$ isomer. The rotation of the H₂ ligand is then responsible for the exchange.

These three mechanisms lead to different behaviors of J_{ab} with temperature. Mechanism II was discarded because it would lead, in contradiction with experiments, to a decrease of J with increasing temperature. Mechanism I (Zilm's model) leads to a nonzero plateau at very low temperature, whereas for mechanism III the low-temperature limit should be zero. The $M(H)(H_2)$ configuration, where the tunnel effect is effective, would not be populated at this temperature, and the resulting J_{ab} should be zero. Mechanism III also predicts first an increase and then a decrease of J with increasing T if highly excited rotational tunneling states are significantly populated. However, at the onset of classical exchange, the quantum exchange coupling is no longer seen, and such temperature-dependent behavior might be impossible to detect.

Following Limbach's model (mechanism III), Lluch, Lledós, and co-workers carried out the first combined ab initio/dynamics study of QEC^{241,242} for CpIr(PH₃)-H₃⁺ as a model of CpIr(PMe₃)H₃^{+ 337} at the RHF and MP2 levels. The study was divided into two parts. A potential energy surface was first constructed. The variables were the H–H distance $R_{\rm HH}$, the distance between the metal and the midpoint of the H···H bond $R_{\rm MX}$, and the rotation angle ϕ around the M–X axis (Chart 26).

Chart 26



A one-dimensional tunneling path was then derived. It starts from a trihydride ground-state structure and goes through a $M-(H_2)$ configuration by an in-plane bending of two H atoms; exchange is then achieved by rotation of H₂. Within this monodimensional potential energy surface, the vibrational levels were computed by using a distributed Gaussian basis set along the path. The temperature dependence of J_{ab} could be reproduced with fairly good agreement with the experimental data. The same methodology was used for a study of the influence of a Lewis acid on QEC.²⁴⁶ It was shown that QEC is increased by coordination of a Lewis acid to the wingtip hydride. QEC in a niobium dihydrogen system with blocked H₂ rotation was also calculated.²⁴⁸

Another approach was derived by Clot et al.²⁹⁶ who were the first to use a two-dimensional model (2D). The 16-electron complex $OsXH_3(PH_3)_2$ (X = Cl, I) as a model system for $OsXH_3(P^{\prime}Pr_3)_2$ (X = Cl, I) synthesized by Caulton et al.¹⁸⁰ was considered. In the dynamical model, the two variables were the angle ϕ describing the rotation (Chart 26) of the H···H entity and the distance $R_{\rm HH}$ between the two H atoms. The reaction coordinate is the angle ϕ , whereas $R_{\rm HH}$ adapts itself rapidly to every change in ϕ . A reaction path Hamiltonian³⁴⁶ was constructed by computing the potential energy surface (PES) along ϕ at the MP2 level and by using a ϕ -dependent harmonic term to describe $R_{\rm HH}$. The vibrational levels were then computed within a discrete variable representation (DVR).347

The calculated J_{ab} values were in fairly good agreement with the experimental data. In a later study, it was shown how QEC could be used as a

hypersensitive indicator of weak interactions.¹⁸¹ By considering the 18-electron complex $OsClH_3(PH_3)_3$, J_{ab} was calculated to be larger in an 18-electron complex than in a 16-electron complex. Note that the other complexes exhibiting QEC are also saturated 18-electron complexes. However, it was shown that the classical barrier to exchange is lower and wider for the 18-electron complex. As a consequence, although J_{ab} from QEC is larger, the classical exchange is also easier and QEC might not always be observed.

The main conclusion that can be drawn from these combined ab initio/dynamics studies is that the two exchanging hydrides need to get closer in the transition state than they are in the ground-state structure. This is probably why QEC has been observed for trihydrides in which the three H nuclei are already in close proximity in the ground-state geometry (~1.6 Å). However, there is no specific requirement to reach a $M(H)(H_2)$ configuration. The low-energy barrier for permuting the two H atoms, and the small displacement of the other nuclei during the exchange, seem to be the important criteria for observing large J_{ab} .

Other theoretical studies have been devoted to the QEC phenomenon. Scheurer et al. used Lledós' PES^{242} to simulate QEC for $CpIrLH_3^{+,348}$ Their 2D dynamical model was similar in essence to the one developed by Clot et al., although not equivalent. They also included an explicit coupling with the bath and studied the influence of pressure on QEC. Hiller and Harris used a tight binding model with inclusion of coupling with the bath to simulate QEC.^{349–351}

The problem of the transition between the low- and high-temperature domains was first addressed by Szymanski.³⁵² He used a density matrix formalism to study the coherences responsible for QEC and how the activated classical exchange destroys them. Limbach et al. also studied this transition.³⁵³ The similarity between QEC for trihydride complexes and INS for dihydrogen complexes was noticed.^{248,354-356} Lluch and co-workers²⁹⁷ obtained a good agreement with the experimental INS results³⁰⁴ for TpRh(H₂)(H)₂ through the combination of B3LYP calculations with nuclear motion calculations. Clot and Eckert³⁵⁶ applied the same model used for QEC to study INS transitions in several dihydrogen complexes. By using a parametrized dynamical model, structural information from INS spectra of the dihydrogen complexes could be extracted. Notably, this model enables determination of the equilibrium H-H bond distance of the H₂ ligand from the calculations of the INS transitions within a parametrized Hamiltonian.

IX. Stretched Dihydrogen Complexes

At the beginning of this decade, polyhydride complexes were classified into two groups: classical polyhydrides with H–H separation longer than 1.6 Å, and nonclassical polyhydrides with H–H distance ranging from 0.8 to 1.0 Å. However, an increasing number of species where the H–H distance falls between these limits is now known. This third class of complexes has been called elongated or stretched dihydrogen complexes.^{10,16}

A. The Electronic Point of View

Neutron diffraction data show that these elongated dihydrogen complexes cover a wide range of H-H distances: Cp*Os(H····H)H₂(PPh₃)⁺, 1.014 Å;³⁵⁷ Cp*Ru-(H···H)(dppm)⁺, 1.10 Å;³⁵⁸ IrH(H···H)Cl₂(P'Pr₃)₂, 1.11 Å;¹⁴⁰ Os(H····H)Cl(dppe)₂⁺, 1.22 Å;³⁵⁹ Os(H····H)(en)₂-(CH₃CO₂)⁺, 1.34 Å;³⁶⁰ Re(H····H)H₅(P(*p*-tolyl)₃)₂, 1.357 ${
m \AA^{361}}$ (in which a strong dependence of the H–H distance on the phosphine ligands has been seen);¹⁵⁶ OsH₅(PMe₂Ph)₃⁺, 1.49 Å.¹⁶⁴ These complexes have been considered as arrested states on the oxidative addition pathway of dihydrogen to the transition metal center. The existence of a continuous range of species that spans the oxidative addition pathway was remarkable. The existence of H-H interaction between remote H centers³⁶² and later of an H-H bond in these elongated dihydrogen complexes was discussed. The "atoms in molecules" analysis²⁶¹ applied to the electron density provides information on the existence of a bond between atoms. This analysis was carried out on four different complexes spanning the whole range of possible cases: the dihydrogen complex $W(H_2)(CO)_3(PH_3)_2$, the dihydride complex $OsH_4(PH_3)_3$, and two species that may be described as elongated dihydrogen complexes with quite different H-H distances, IrH(H····H)Cl₂(PH₃)₂ and [Os- $(H \cdot \cdot \cdot H)(NH_2(CH_2)_2NH_2)_2(HCO_2)]^+$.²⁶² The optimized (B3LYP) H-H distances of the four complexes are, respectively, 0.818, 1.861, 0.984, and 1.428 A. An H–H bond was found in $W(H_2)(CO)_3(PH_3)_2$ and IrH- $(H \cdots H)Cl_2(PH_3)_2$. However, no bond critical point connecting the two hydrogen atoms was located in $OsH_4(PH_3)_3$ and $[Os(H \cdots H)(NH_2(CH_2)_2NH_2)_2(HCO_2)]^+$, suggesting the absence of an H-H bond. The calculations show the absence of any density accumulation in the case of two H atoms separated by more than 1 Å. According to this analysis, *cis*-IrH(H····H)Cl₂(PH₃)₂ should be a true elongated dihydrogen complex, whereas [Os(H···H)(NH₂(CH₂)₂NH₂)₂(HCO₂)]⁺ should be better described as a dihydride complex with short H····H contact.²⁶²

The metal $-H_2$ bonding in elongated complexes has also been analyzed through a study of M-H₂ bonding and back-bonding interactions. A decomposition of the components of the interaction energy between $[Os(NH_3)_4Cl]^+$ and H_2 at the equilibrium geometry of $[Os(NH_3)_4Cl(HH)]^+$ ($R_{HH} = 1.40$ Å) has shown that the metal-H₂ charge-transfer energy becomes significantly larger in stretched H₂ systems,³⁶³ close to the limiting case for the formation of two M-H bonds. This leads to a strong bond between M and H_2 . The dihydrogen binding energies (B3LYP) in stretched complexes range from 23 to 45 kcal·mol^{-1,251,306,364} and are markedly larger than in dihydrogen complexes (15–20 kcal·mol⁻¹).^{215,216,218,222,250} It has been shown that the calculated binding energies correlate reasonably well with the H-H distances³⁶³ as was the case in dihydrogen complexes.²²²

The shape of the potential energy surface along the $R_{\rm HH}$ coordinate in the elongated dihydrogen complexes was discussed. If elongated dihydrogen complexes are considered as species where the homolytic cleavage of H₂ is arrested at an intermediate stage between the M(H₂) complex and the M(H)₂ structure,

the potential energy curve as a function of H–H distance should have one minimum at the equilibrium distance.¹⁰ However, the properties of $M(H \cdots H)$ - L_n might also be accounted for by averaging the properties of $M(H_2)$ and $M(H)_2$ complexes in equilibrium through a low-energy bond-splitting/bond-forming process. In such a case, a potential surface with a double well should be found.¹⁰

An alternative description is based on the rapid motion of two hydrogen atoms on a flat potential energy surface with a shallow minimum.³⁵⁹ The energy profile for the stretch of the H–H bond is notably flat regardless of the method of calculation.^{179,251,306,363,365,366} Calculations show a very flat potential energy surface with a shallow minimum for $[Os(NH_3)_4L(H\cdotsH)]^+$ (L = CH₃COO, Cl; MP2),^{363,365} [Os(H···H)Cl(H₂PCH₂CH₂PH₂)₂]⁺ (B3LYP),³⁰⁶ [CpRu-(H···H)(H₂PCH₂PH₂]⁺ (B3LYP),²⁵¹ and OsCl₂(H···H)-(NH=CH₂)(PH₃)₂ (CCSD(T)//B3LYP).³⁶⁶ Strong anharmonicity with respect to the variation in H–H distance is also often observed. It costs less than 2 kcal·mol⁻¹ to stretch an H–H bond in a metal complex from 1.0 to 1.6 Å.^{363,366}

It seems that the flatness of the potential energy curve for the H–H stretch is a distinctive characteristic of the elongated dihydrogen complexes. This property was used to suggest that OsCl{NH=C(Ph)-C₆H₄}(H₂)(P⁴Pr₃)₂, modeled by OsCl{NH=C(H)C₆H₄}-(H₂)(PH₃)₂, may contain a stretched dihydrogen ligand.¹⁷⁹ Theoretical calculations have thus considered a new point of view for this class of compounds. Instead of being species representative of an arrested state along the oxidative addition pathway, stretched H₂ complexes may be better described as complexes containing two hydrogen atoms moving almost freely in a large region within the coordination sphere of the metal.

The very flatness of the surface is surprising, and an interpretation has been proposed. Energy decomposition at several points along the energy profile for the H–H stretch in $OsCl_2(H\cdots H)(NH=CH_2)(PH_3)_2$ was built upon (i) the distortion of the ML₅ fragment which does not vary significantly, (ii) the stretching of H₂ which is destabilizing, and (iii) the stabilizing interaction between the distorted ML₅ and the elongated H₂ fragments. This indicates that the very flat potential energy curve results from the almost exact compensation of the stabilizing interaction term and the destabilizing H₂ stretching term *all along the reaction path*.³⁶⁶

Despite the success of theoretical calculations in accurately locating the H positions in both dihydrogen and polyhydride compounds, structural modeling of elongated dihydrogen complexes has proved to be an elusive target for computational chemistry. MP2¹⁴⁰ and B3LYP²⁶² optimizations for IrH(H···H)Cl₂(PH₃)₂ gave H–H values of 1.40 and 0.984 Å, respectively, and did not reproduce the neutron diffraction value for IrH(H···H)Cl₂(P'Pr₃)₂ (1.11 Å).

It is difficult to know if $\text{ReH}_7(\text{PH}_3)_2$ is a good model for $\text{ReH}_7(\text{PR}_3)_2$ because a strong dependence of the H–H distance on the nature of the phosphine (L) has been observed.¹⁵⁶ An MP2 geometry optimization on the model complex $\text{ReH}_7(\text{PH}_3)_2$ failed to reproduce the



Figure 3. Energy profile for H····H stretching: $[CpRu(H···H)(H_2PCH_2PH_2)]^+$ (dashed line) and $[Os(H···H)Cl(H_2-PCH_2CH_2PH_2)_2]^+$ (solid line).³⁰⁶

H–H separation (1.37 Å) found in the neutron structure of the Re(H···H)H₅(P(*p*-tolyl)₃)₂ complex.³⁶ Furthermore, the M–H and H–H distances in the optimized structure of elongated dihydrogen complexes are found to be very dependent on the method of calculation. For instance, the calculated H–H distance in $[Os(NH_3)_4H(H···H)]^+$ is 0.936 Å at the B3LYP level and 1.330 Å at the MP2 level.³⁶⁴ A comparison of B3LYP and MP2 methods in $[Os(NH_3)_4(L)(\eta^2-H_2)]^{2+}$ complexes shows that B3LYP calculations predict stronger H–H but weaker M–H bonding than MP2.³⁶⁴ This tendency already present in unstretched H₂ complexes²²⁵ is considerably enhanced in stretched dihydrogen complexes.

B. The Dynamic Point of View

A fundamentally different approach involves combining DFT calculations and nuclear motion calculations on $[CpRu(H \cdots H)(H_2PCH_2PH_2)]^+$ as a model for [Cp*Ru(H····H)(dppm)]⁺.³⁵⁸ The calculations (B3LYP and CCSD(T)//B3LYP) gave a single minimum, in a strongly anharmonic surface, with a H–H distance of 0.89 Å, far from the neutron diffraction value (1.10 A). Quantum nuclear motion calculations were carried out for this complex to obtain the nuclear vibrational energy levels. Taking into account the zero-point energy, the first vibrational level is placed above the shoulder of the potential energy surface (Figure 3). The shape of the vibrational ground-state wave function suggests a delocalization of the η^2 -H₂ unit. The expectation values obtained from this analysis for H-H and $Ru-H_2$ distances are in very close agreement with neutron diffraction data. The same treatment has been successfully applied to [Os-(H···H)Cl(H₂PCH₂CH₂PH₂)₂]^{+. 306} These dynamic studies suggest that significant variations of the internuclear H-H distances may be found when H is replaced by its isotope D.

Theoretical calculations have been able to reproduce subtle properties of the elongated dihydrogen compounds. The NMR H–D spin–spin coupling constant J_{HD} is indicative of the presence

of an elongated dihydrogen ligand. Values of $J_{\rm HD}$ coupling between 5 and 25 Hz denote a stretched dihydrogen complex.¹⁰ An inverse correlation between J_{HD} and the H–H distance for a series of dihydrogen complexes has been experimentally established. 10,11,358,359,367,368 The coupling constant $J_{
m HD}$ has been calculated for $[Os(NH_3)_4(L)(H \cdots H)]^{2+}$, where L trans to H–H represents a wide variety of ligands by using B3LYP methodology.³⁶⁹ The calculated J_{HD} values are in good agreement with the experimental data. Previous MP2 calculations of $J_{\rm HD}$ for these complexes yielded considerably less satisfactory agreement with experiment.³⁶³ A high degree of correlation among the calculated J_{HD} , H–H bond length, and Os-H₂ interaction energy has been highlighted.³⁶⁹ In agreement with experimental data, $J_{\rm HD}$ varies inversely with $R_{\rm HH}^{370}$ and hence with the strength of the metal-H₂ interaction.^{369,371} Some unusual temperature dependence of $J_{\rm HD}$ has been observed in the few cases of elongated dihydrogen complexes where detailed NMR studies have been carried out. The reported temperature dependence of J_{HD} in [Cp*Ru- $(H \cdots H)(dppm)^{+ 358}$ and $[Os(H \cdots H)Cl(dppe)_2]^{+ 359}$ has been qualitatively reproduced by considering the expectation value from a Boltzmann distribution among the vibrational levels calculated, respectively, for $[CpRu(H\cdots H)(H_2PCH_2PH_2)]^+$ and $[Os(H\cdots H)^ Cl(H_2PCH_2CH_2PH_2)_2]^+$ as model systems.³⁰⁶ The B3LYP and nuclear motion quantum calculations have also been able to reproduce and analyze the unusually low ν (H–H) stretching mode detected in the Raman spectrum of the complex [CpRu(H····H)-(dppm)]^{+.372} Ås harmonic behavior is not an acceptable assumption for an elongated dihydrogen complex, the vibrational levels were directly calculated without resorting to the harmonic approximation. Remarkable agreement between the calculated and the experimental vibrational transitions for this complex were found, for both the (η^2-H_2) and the (η^2-H_2) D₂) isotopomers.³⁷³ It was shown that the H–H and the $Ru-H_2$ stretches were thoroughly mixed in this complex, as already shown from a normal-mode analysis in W(CO)₃(PCy₃)₂(η^2 -H₂).³⁷⁴

X. Breaking the H–H Bond by Transition Metal Complexes

Previous sections have shown how the coordination of a hydrogen molecule to a metal center can give rise to dihydrogen complexes, with variable degrees of interaction between the metal and the dihydrogen ligand, associated with variable stretches of the H-H bond. This section is concerned with the simplest interaction between dihydrogen and a metal center, in which the dihydrogen molecule is broken without the intermediacy of a dihydrogen complex. H-H activation is the paradigm of σ bond activation, and as such has been included in previous reviews of theoretical calculations.^{375–377} We will collect here only the aspects relevant to the interaction of dihydrogen with transition metals, namely, the location of transition states, as well as aspects concerning the relative stability of isomeric products of the reaction.

Two major types of processes have been documented for the breaking of the hydrogen-hydrogen bond at a metal center: oxidative addition and σ bond metathesis (Chart 27).

Chart 27



σ-Bond Metathesis

A. Oxidative Addition

Oxidative addition is the process by which the H–H σ bond is broken and two M–H σ bonds are formed. Due to the change in the formal charge of the hydrogen atoms (from 0 in molecular dihydrogen to -1 in hydride), the oxidation state of the metal has to increase by 2 units, thus, the name "oxidative addition".

From a molecular orbital point of view, the analysis is quite similar to that of molecular hydrogen complexes discussed in previous sections.²⁶ The hydrogen molecule approaches the metal center in an η^2 orientation, and its $\sigma^*(HH)$ orbital receives one electron pair from a metal d orbital of the appropriate symmetry. In the case of oxidative addition, the transfer to the $\sigma^*(HH)$ orbital is more significant than in molecular hydrogen complexes, and this leads to the breaking of the H–H bond. The d orbital appropriate to interact with $\sigma(HH)$ is usually occupied in metal fragments associated with oxidative addition, which destabilizes the possible formation of a dihydrogen complex because of a four-electron interaction between the two occupied orbitals.

Oxidative addition reactions of dihydrogen to transition metal complexes have also been the subject of a variety of ab initio studies. The first work focused on the reaction of hydrogen with d^{10} ML₂ fragments to give rise to square planar d^8 ML₄ complexes (Chart 28). This is one of the simplest models of an organo-

Chart 28



metallic reaction from a theoretical point of view. It is thus little wonder that the first application of analytical gradient techniques to the ab initio determination of the transition state structure was carried out by Kitaura et al.³⁷⁸ for the reaction Pt- $(PH_3)_2 + H_2$. This same reaction was studied almost simultaneously in the early 1980s by the groups of Morokuma,^{378–380} Hay,³⁸¹ and Goddard.^{382,383} Its analysis, together with that of the closely related processes of activation of H₂ by Pd(H₂O)₂,³⁸⁴ and Pt(PH₃)₂,^{383,385} led to the clarification of the key features of the oxidative addition process. These studies showed that the transition state for the formation of the cis product is located at an early stage of the reaction, and adopts a geometry with the two hydrogen atoms equidistant from the metal and separated from each other by a distance ranging from 0.75 to 0.90 Å. The same $Pt(PR_3)_2 + H_2$ process has been recently used for the calibration of hybrid QM/MM methods for the introduction of the real substituents in the phosphine ligands.^{386,387}

A second group of oxidative addition processes that has been the focus of significant attention from the theoretical community is the addition of dihydrogen to Vaska-type d⁸ square planar $Ir(PR_3)_2(CO)X$ complexes (Chart 29).³⁸⁸ The oxidative addition of a

Chart 29



dihydrogen molecule to these complexes produces two different d⁶ octahedral complexes depending on the plane of entry of H₂. In the case of trans-Ir(PR₃)₂-(CO)X, the dihydrogen molecule can enter either parallel to the P-Ir-P axis or parallel to the C-Ir-X axis.^{389–391} An early study at the extended Hückel level³⁹² showed a leading role of the p effects of the halide X and carbonyl groups, a result that was later confirmed by ab initio calculations.³⁹³ This type of complex has also been the object of intense scrutiny by Krogh-Jespersen and co-workers, 394-397 who have analyzed the effect of the electronic properties of X on the thermodynamic stability of the products of oxidative addition (X = F, Cl, Br, I, CN, H, CH₃, SiH₃, OH, SH). The π -bonding properties of X are shown to have a larger effect than the σ -bonding abilities, with π acceptors promoting the addition of H₂ and π donors disfavoring it.

The oxidative addition of dihydrogen to other d^8 ML₄ fragments has also been studied theoretically.^{398–401} The activation barriers for the reaction of hydrogen with Fe(CO)₄⁴⁰¹ and Fe(PH₃)₄ and Ru(PH₃)₄⁴⁰⁰ are very small, if not zero, in contrast to what happens for [Rh(PH₃)₄)]^{+,400} RhCl(CO)(PH₃)₂),³⁹⁹ or the Vaska-type complexes discussed above. The very low barrier for Fe and Ru systems seems to be related to the high energy level of the occupied d orbitals as well as to the proximity between the singlet and triplet electronic states in these metal fragments.

The studies mentioned so far have clarified the oxidative addition process to transition metal complexes from a theoretical point of view. Other studies have been carried out on some specific systems. The oxidative addition process of a number of substrates, including H–H, to CpRh(CO)⁴⁰² and Rh(PMe₃)₂Cl and Ir(PMe₃)₂Cl⁴⁰³ was studied. The changes induced by tunneling effects in the oxidative addition of dihydrogen to small palladium clusters have been analyzed.^{404,405} The effect of the presence of Lewis acids

on the reductive elimination of hydrogen from $[Cp_2-NbH_3]L~(L=HBO_2C_2H_2,~BF_3,~BH_3)$ has also been studied. 245,247

Another subject that has been little explored so far, obviously because of its complexity, is the computation of catalytic cycles, where oxidative addition of hydrogen is a common step. One must cite the early efforts by Dedieu,⁴⁰⁶ and the work by Morokuma and co-workers on olefin hydrogenation,⁴⁰⁷ hydroboration,⁴⁰⁸ and hydroformylation⁴⁰⁹ and alkane dehydrogenation.⁴¹⁰

B. σ Bond Metathesis

σ bond metathesis is a process by which an H–H σ bond and a M–X σ bond are broken and new M–H and X–H σ bonds are formed. (Chart 27). M can be any metal fragment, and X can be any ligand, including a hydride, in which case the reaction becomes an intermolecular hydrogen atom exchange. In contrast to oxidative addition, the oxidation state and the coordination number of the metal atom remain unchanged in σ bond metathesis.

The σ bond activation is typical of early transition metals, formally d⁰ in a number cases. The d⁰ fragments could only donate electrons from internal shells, at prohibitive energy cost, and therefore do not undergo oxidative addition. The early recognition that d⁰ fragments, such as Cp₂ZrH⁺ and Cp₂LuH⁺, can exchange their hydride ligand with hydrogen atoms from free hydrogen molecules in solution prompted a theoretical search of plausible mechanisms through the extended Hückel formalism.^{236,237} This work provided a picture that remains essentially valid, where the reaction goes through a four-center transition state, the presence of low-lying empty orbitals in the metal accounting for the ease of this otherwise symmetry-forbidden [2_{σ} + 2_{σ}] process.

Ab initio studies on this type of process were limited for a long time to $Cl_2MH + H_2$ models because of the prohibitive size of the real $Cp_2MH + H_2$ systems. In 1984, Steigerwald and Goddard⁴¹¹ studied the reaction of H_2 with Cl_2TiH^+ , Cl_2TiH , and Cl_2 -ScH and confirmed that the hydrogen exchange reaction takes place through a low-barrier four-center transition state, and that the presence of one d electron in Cl_2TiH seriously hampers the reaction. Later on, Rappé and co-workers^{412–414} analyzed the reaction of similar fragments with systems involving π electrons, and compared its features with those of isolobal main group derivatives such as Cl_2AlH . This type of system was also used as a benchmark for the validity of effective core potentials.⁴¹⁵

The increase in computer power allowed in the 1990s the introduction of the real cyclopentadienyl ligands into the ab initio calculations. Ziegler's group studied the reaction $Cp_2ScH + H_2$,⁴¹⁶ among other processes,^{417,418} and found results in close agreement with those previously reported with the simpler models: a very low barrier and a four-center transition state. This proves that valuable results can be obtained even with drastic modelizations if the calculations are carefully done and comparison with experiment is systematic.

The well-established existence of σ bond metathesis as the mechanism of hydrogen breaking by early transition metal complexes raised the question of its feasibility in late transition metal complexes. This topic is closely related to the exchange process in M(H)(H₂) already discussed in section VII. An early proposal³⁰⁹ for the hydrogen exchange mechanism in [Fe(PH₃)₄(H)(H₂)]⁺ could not be experimentally tested, but success seems to have been reached by Dedieu and co-workers on the mechanism of hydrogen activation by palladium complexes.^{419–422} In one of their papers, the specific problem of H₂ σ bond metathesis by a series of Pd complexes was examined. The reaction happens to have a low barrier in a number of cases, such as that presented in Chart 30, where

Chart 30



the barrier is below 15 kcal·mol⁻¹. A necessary feature for the accomplishment of a low-barrier σ -bond-type metathesis process in these systems seems to be the presence of a lone pair in the oxygen atom where the hydrogen is to be transferred.

Current research focuses on specific topics. In particular, it must be mentioned that the knowledge acquired on H–H σ bond metathesis processes is being profusely used in the ever-growing field of olefin polymerization catalysis, $^{423-425}$ even if the key steps do not necessarily involve hydrogen–hydrogen bonds. Another field where a large number of applications can be foreseen soon is biochemistry, where one can already note recent studies of the reaction mechanism of hydrogen cleavage by nickel–iron hydrogenases. $^{426-429}$

XI. Methodological Peculiarities in the Study of Polyhydride Systems

This review has summarized the computational studies that have been carried out on transition metal polyhydrides from the perspective of the chemical insight that has been obtained from those calculations. This last section analyzes the available data from the point of view of a computational chemist. The following general question is addressed here: What are the most appropriate methods available for the study of transition metal polyhydride systems? This general question can be reformulated by asking whether there is something special about transition metal polyhydride systems that makes their theoretical study different from that of other transition metal complexes. We consider that such a specificity exists, and that it is related to the possibility of interaction between hydride ligands to give rise to dihydrogen units coordinated to the metal.

However, before discussing the meaning of this peculiarity from a methodological point of view, we set apart two types of studies for which general viewpoints still hold. These concern the two extremes of quality and computational cost: the qualitative extended Hückel studies and the most sophisticated ab initio studies on small gas-phase systems. The validity of methods based on the extended Hückel description is well-known to be essentially of a qualitative nature and especially useful for studying trends. Calculations on polyhydride systems bring little novelty in this respect. The performance of this type of method is valid for the study of polyhydride systems with no additional caveat. It may be worth mentioning here that the very first studies on transition metal complexes confirmed that extended Hückel methods are efficient in the calculation of optimal orientations of dihydrogen ligands, but are meaningless as far as the H-H or M-H bond distances are concerned.²⁰⁷

The other case where transition metal polyhydrides are not different from other transition metal systems from a computational point of view is small gas-phase systems. This type of system, which has been collected in section II, is usually characterized by the presence of empty low-energy atomic orbitals, with the associated requirement for nondynamical correlation, and an enormous methodological complexity. Because of this, it is no surprise that a number of predictions of high-level calculations have been corrected afterward by even more accurate calculations. As the first example, the assignment of the ground state of NiH₂, for which the early prediction (multireference CI)⁵¹ suggested a triplet state, has been recently corrected by QCISD and CASPT2 calculations.^{71,72} A second example is provided by the bonding energies of hydrogen molecules in $V(H_2)_n^+$ clusters, in which it has also been proved that a spin change occurs upon addition of a sixth ligand,⁹⁶ contrary to previous predictions based on high-level MP4SDTQ calculations on Hartree-Fock optimized geometries.⁹⁰ A third example is constituted by the nature of the ground-state geometry of Ti₂H₆, with substantial changes upon the use of a multireference method.^{100,101} Therefore, the advice for researchers interested in the study of small gas-phase transition metal polyhydrides should be to run systematic tests, to compare carefully with experimental data, and to be ready to use the most accurate methods available. This is, in fact, also common for all gas-phase systems, 430 and in this sense the presence of hydride ligands brings no specifical problems.

The peculiarities of transition metal polyhydride complexes acquire methodological significance if one considers the case of saturated complexes of the type usually found in solution. The energy cost associated with the elongation of a H–H bond is dramatically reduced when H₂ is in the coordination sphere of a transition metal complex. This was nicely proved by Craw et al.,³⁶⁵ who computed that the elongation in the H–H distance from 0.8 to 1.4 Å costs no more than 10 kcal·mol⁻¹ for H₂ coordinated to $[Os(NH_3)_4-(OAc)]^+$, whereas the energy cost of an elongation of free hydrogen from 0.74 to 1.0 Å is already above 15 kcal·mol⁻¹. This low sensitivity of the energy to large geometry changes has important implications for the accuracy of calculations in these systems. Small errors in energy can lead to substantial errors in geometry, even leading to the wrong qualitative assignment of the most stable species.

The first aspect of the required methodological level is concerned with the basis set. Work by Barea et al.⁴³¹ on the dihydrogen complex [Os(PH₃)₂Cl(CO)H-(H₂)] shows that the addition of diffuse functions on the hydrogen atoms, or the shift from double- ζ to triple- ζ quality, has little effect on the energy or the geometry of the system. On the other hand, addition of polarization functions on hydrogen has a significant effect on the coordination of the dihydrogen molecule (changes in Os-H distances up to 0.05 Å), but little effect on the coordination of the hydride ligand (changes in Os-H below 0.01 Å). This is a general methodological feature of polyhydride systems: the coordination of a dihydrogen is always much more sensitive to the method than that of a hydride ligand. Another observation related to the basis set is the importance of relativistic effects. They have been proved to have a substantial weight in the case of elements of the third transition metal row.²⁵⁰ Fortunately, they can be introduced into conventional calculations through the use of pseudopotentials involving relativistic effects.

The second aspect to be discussed is the importance of electron correlation. In other words, to what extent are HF calculations valid? One could expect a priori that dynamical correlation associated with the presence of a significant back-donation from the metal to the σ^* orbital of dihydrogen would stabilize dihydride with respect to dihydrogen coordination, but one could not predict its weight a priori. The accumulated experience throughout the years on this topic proves overwhelmingly that electron correlation is essential for the proper description of transition metal polyhydride systems. Maseras et al.¹⁶¹ found how an energy difference of -13.9 kcal/mol at the RHF level between two different isomers (one bis-(dihydrogen) and one pentahydride) of [Os(PH₃)₃"H₅"]⁺ became +20.3 kcal/mol (a change of 34.2 kcal/mol), when the calculation was carried out at the MP2 level on the HF geometries. Evidence of the substantial changes associated with the introduction of correlation energy at the MP2 level for the description of dihydrogen complexes has also been provided in a number of studies by the groups of Hall^{186,231} and Hush.^{363,365} Interestingly enough, in a study on the effect of correlation on the protonation reaction of $[PdH_2Cl(NH_3)]^-$ and $[PdH_2(NH_3)_2]$, Milet and Dedieu⁴³² proved that the effect is important, but not as spectacularly so as in the other cases. One must realize that in this particular study there is no significant hydrogen-hydrogen interaction, because all hydrides are attached to the metal center. Although the years have proven that electron correlation is essential for the description of transition metal polyhydride systems, all early calculations on dihydrogen systems and H-H activation were carried out at the RHF level. This does not mean that the conclusions from those calculations are wrong. However, it suggests that the quantitative description could be significantly improved.

The introduction of electron correlation is thus mandatory, with effects on relative energies above 15 kcal·mol⁻¹. Luckily enough, its simple introduction at the MP2 level, or with a DFT nonlocal functional, brings the discrepancies with respect to experiment down to a few kcal·mol⁻¹. This is usually sufficient for practical purposes, especially because this error should be similar to that introduced by the modeling of ligands²²⁵ or the neglect of solvent and packing effects. Nevertheless, from a methodological point of view it is interesting to learn which method is more precise: MP2 or DFT nonlocal functionals? Two studies have been devoted to this particular topic. The first of them,³⁶⁴ by Bytheway et al., analyzes the complexes $[Os(NH_3)(L)(H_2)]^{2+}$ (L^z = hydride, pyridine, acetonitrile, cyanide, hydroxylamine, ammonia) (A in Chart 31) with the MP2- and the DFT-based BLYP

Chart 31



and B3LYP methods. They find that MP2 and DFT geometries are quite similar, although MP2 predicts consistently longer H–H and shorter Os–H bonds than DFT. Consequently, MP2 predicts a stronger binding energy of dihydrogen (by 7 kcal·mol⁻¹ at most) than BLYP. Single-point higher level calculations at the MP4(SDQ) level provide results that are approximately halfway between those of MP2 and BLYP, leading the authors to conclude that MP2 overestimates and BLYP underestimates the interaction between the dihydrogen molecule and the metal complex.

The conclusions of Bytheway et al. were mostly confirmed in a study by Clot and Eisenstein²²⁵ on the reaction $H_2 + IrXH_2(PR_3)_2$ (X = Cl, Br, I; R = H, Me) (B in Chart 31) at the MP2 and B3LYP levels. In this case, the work included the study of a dihydrogen complex, a dihydride complex, and the transition state for H₂ addition to the dihydride, and the highlevel single-point calculations were brought up to CCSD(T). Again, the high-level result was shown to lie between those of MP2 and B3LYP. In this case, the effect of the substituents on phosphine ligands was analyzed through the explicit use of PMe₃, and results were systematically compared with available experimental data. The conclusion was that MP2 seems to be slightly more precise than B3LYP for this particular system. This result may be related to the previously reported observation that DFT methods seem to have trouble in the accurate reproduction of weakly bound systems,433 to which dihydrogen complexes are related. In any case, the performance of MP2 and B3LYP for transition metal polyhydrides is similar and in both cases quite satisfactory. The similarity is further stressed by recent claims that B3LYP can be more accurate for some particular polyhydride systems.²⁹⁷

In summary, from a methodological point of view the main peculiarity of transition metal polyhydrides is the extreme flatness of the dihydrogen/dihydride surface in a number of cases, which makes small imprecisions in the energy responsible for large errors in computed geometries. In fact, this flatness, coupled with the low nuclear mass of hydrogen, has prompted recent work suggesting that the geometry observed by neutron diffraction does not necessarily correspond to the minimum in the electronic potential energy surface.^{251,306} This paves the way for new developments in the field of theoretical chemistry of transition metal complexes, pioneered again by work on transition metal polyhydrides.

XII. Conclusions and Perspectives

The results collected in this review prove that transition metal polyhydride complexes have played a leading role in the application of theoretical methods to transition metal chemistry. Although Hcontaining transition metal systems may have initially attracted theoreticians because of their apparent simplicity, over time the experimental results have revealed a wealth of chemical properties unmatched in any other system. Most of these properties could be interpreted with very simple bonding models and were discussed at an early period. However, quantitative description of the same properties challenged theoretical methods, and it has appeared that stateof-the art quantum methods need to be used. Dynamic approaches were even found to be necessary in some cases. This explains why a large community of theoretical chemists using various methods have been attracted to this topic. Most remarkably, many of the advances in this chemistry have been achieved through a joint effort of experimentalists and theoreticians. Transition metal hydride complexes may still have big surprises in store for us.

XIII. Acknowledgment

Part of the work cited in this review has been carried out by us. We express the great pleasure we had collaborating over a long period of time with K. G. Caulton, B. Chaudret, R. H. Crabtree, M. A. Esteruelas, L. A. Oro, and A. Otero. We also thank A. Albinati, J. Eckert, T. F. Koetzle, C. Leforestier, J. M. Lluch, M. Moreno, and M. Pélissier for numerous valuable discussions and comments. We are grateful to G. J. Kubas for communication of a chapter of his book prior to publication. F.M. and A.L. appreciate financial support from the Spanish DGES through Project No. PB95-0639-CO2-01 and the Catalan CIRIT through Grant No. 1997SGR-00411. E.C. and O.E. thank the Université de Paris Sud, the Université de Montpellier II, and the CNRS for financial support over the years.

XIV. References

- (1) Bagus, P. S.; Schaefer, H. F., III. J. Chem. Phys. 1973, 58, 1844.
- (2) Bau, R.; Drabnis, M. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 259, 27.
- (3) Basch, H.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K.; Fryzuk, M. D.; Love, J. B.; Seidel, W. W.; Albinati, A.; Koetzle, T. F.; Klooster, W. T.; Mason, S. A.; Eckert, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 523.

- (4) Abrahamson, H. B.; Nicolai, G. P.; Heinekey, D. M.; Casey, C. P.; Bursten, B. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 471.
 (5) Hieber, W.; Leutert, F. Naturwissenschaften 1931, 19, 360.
- (6)
- Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R.; Swanson, B. I.; Vergamini, P. J.; Wasserman, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, 106, 451. (7)
- Kubas, G. J.; Unkefer, C. J.; Swanson, B. I.; Fukushima, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1986**, *108*, 7000. (8)Martinho Simoes, J. A.; Beauchamp, J. L. Chem. Rev. 1990, 90,
- 629 (9)Crabtree, R. H.; Hamilton, D. G. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1988,
- 28. 299.
- (10) Jessop, P. G.; Morris, R. H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1992, 121, 155.
- Heinekey, D. M.; Oldham, W. J., Jr. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 913. (12) Arliguie, T.; Chaudret, B.; Devillers, J.; Poilblanc, R. C. R. Acad.
- Sci., Ser. 2 1987, 305-II, 1523. (13) Heinekey, D. M.; Payne, N. G.; Schulte, G. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- 1988, 110, 2303.
- (14) Park, S. H.; Rachamandran, R.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2201.
- (15) Lee, J. C., Jr.; Rheingold, A. L.; Muller, B.; Pregosin, P. S.;

- (15) Lee, J. C., J.; rinemgold, A. L.; Muller, B.; Pregosin, P. S.; Crabtree, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1021.
 (16) Crabtree, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 789.
 (17) Hall, C.; Perutz, R. N. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 3125.
 (18) Bromberg, S. E.; Yang, H.; Asplund, M.; Lian, T.; McNamara, B. K.; Kotz, K. T.; Yeston, J. S.; Wilkens, M.; Frei, H.; Bergman, R. G.; Harris, C. Science 1997, 278, 260 R. G.; Harris, C. Science 1997, 278, 260.
- (19) Sun, X. Z.; Griels, D. C.; Nifirov, S. M.; Poliakoff, M.; George, M. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7521.
 (20) Geftatis, S.; Ball, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 9953.
- (21) Bagatur'yants, A. A.; Gritsenko, O. V.; Zhidomirov, G. M. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. 1980, 54, 2993.
- (22) Gritsenko, O. V.; Bagatur'yants, A. A.; Moiseev, I. I.; Kazanskii, V. B.; Kalechits, I. V. Kinet. Katal. 1980, 21, 632.
- (23) Gritsenko, O. V.; Bagatur'yants, A. A.; Moiseev, I. I.; Kazanskii, V. B.; Kalechits, I. V. Kinet. Katal. 1981, 22, 354.
- (24) Bagatur'yants, A. A.; Anikin, N. A.; Zhidomirov, G. M.; Kazanskii, V. B. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. 1981, 55, 1157.
- Ginsburg, A. G.; Bagatur'yants, A. A. Organomet. Chem. USSR 1989, 2, 111. (25)
- (26) Saillard, J.-Y.; Hoffmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2006.
- (27) Kubas, G. J. Comments Inorg. Chem. 1988, 7, 17.
 (28) Kubas, G. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 120.
 (20) Crabtree, P. H. Ar. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 200 67.
- (29) Crabtree, R. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 95.
- (30) Hlatky, H.; Crabtree, R. H. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1985, 65, 1.
- (31) Gusev, D. G.; Berke, H. Chem. Ber. 1996, 129, 1143.
- (32) Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 2077.
- Esteruelas, M. A.; Oro, L. A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 577. (33)
- (34) Kuhlman, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1997, 167, 205
- (35) Transition Metal Hydrides; Dedieu, A., Ed.; VCH: New York, 1992.
- (36) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1994, 135/136, 845.
- Organometallic Ion Chemistry, Freiser, B. S., Ed.; Kluwer: (37)
- Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1996.
 Scott, P. R.; Richards, W. G. *J. Chem. Phys.* 1975, *63*, 1690.
 Henderson, G. A.; Das, G.; Wahl, A. C. *J. Chem. Phys.* 1980, *73*, (38)(39)
- 2805 Bauschlicher, C. W.; Walch, S. P. J. Chem. Phys. 1982, 76, 4560. (40)
- Blomberg, M. R. A.; Siegbahn, P. E. M.; Roos, B. O. *Mol. Phys.* **1982**, 47, 127. (41)
- (42) Walch, S. P.; Bauschlicher, C. W. J. Chem. Phys. 1983, 78, 4597.
- (43) Bauschlicher, C. W. J. Phys. Chem. 1988, 92, 3020.
- (44) Ziegler, T.; Cheng, W.; Baerends, E. J.; Ravenek, W. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3458.
- (45) Ohanessian, G.; Brusich, M. J.; Goddard, W. A., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7179.
- (46) Sodupe, M.; Lluch, J. M.; Oliva, A.; Illas, F.; Rubio, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 2478.
- Schilling, J. B.; Goddard, W. A., III; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 582. (47)
- Schilling, J. B.; Goddard, W. A., III; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Phys. (48)Chem. 1987, 91, 5616.
- Schilling, J. B.; Goddard, W. A., III; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5565. (49)
- (50)Ohanessian, G.; Goddard, W. A., III. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 386
- Blomberg, M. R. A.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1983, (51)78. 5682
- Siegbahn, P. E. M.; Blomberg, M. R. A.; Bauschlicher, C. W. J. (52)Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 1373.
- (53)Balasubramanian, K. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 87, 2800.
- (54)Balasubramanian, K.; Ravimohan, C. J. Phys. Chem. 1989, 93, 4490.
- (55) Das, K. K.; Balasubramanian, K. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 625.
- (56) Li, Q.; Balasubramanian, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 545.
- (57) Das, K. K.; Balasubramanian, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 3979.
- (58) Das, K. K.; Balasubramanian, K. *Chem. Phys.* **1991**, *94*, 3722.
 (59) Dai, D. G.; Cheng, W.; Balasubramanian, K. J. Chem. Phys.
- **1991**, *95*, 9094.

(60) Dai, D. G.; Balasubramanian, K. Theor. Chim. Acta 1992, 83, 141

Maseras et al.

- (61) Dai, D. G.; Balasubramanian, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 6981.
- (62) Granucci, G.; Persico, M. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 167, 121.
- Sánchez, M.; Ruette, F.; Hernández, A. J. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, (63) 96, 823
- Gropen, O.; Sjovoll, M.; Stromsnes, H.; Karlsen, E.; Swang, O.; (64) Faegri, K. Theor. Chim. Acta 1994, 87, 373.
- (65)Siegbahn, P. E. M. Theor. Chim. Acta 1994, 96, 6981.
- (66) Fujii, T. S.; Iwata, S. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1996, 251, 150
- (67) Martini, H.; Marian, C. M.; Peric, M. Mol. Phys. 1998, 95, 27.
 (68) Dyall, K. G. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 9678.
- (69) Hertwig, R. H.; Koch, W.; Yates, B. F. J. Comput. Chem. 1998, *19*, 1604.
- (70) Li, S.; Zee, R. J. V.; Weltner, W., Jr.; Cory, M. G.; Zerner, M. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 106, 2055.
- (71) Barron, J. R.; Kelley, A. R.; Liu, R. J. Chem. Phys. 1998, 108, 1.
- (72) Barysz, M.; Papadopoulos, M. G. J. Chem. Phys. **1998**, *109*, 3699.
 (73) Maseras, F.; Morokuma, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1992**, *195*, 500.
 (74) Pyykkö, P.; Desclaux, J.-P. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1977**, *50*, 503.

- Musaev, D. G.; Boldyrev, A. L.; Charkin, O. P. Koord. Khim. (75) 1984. 10. 309.
- Musaev, D. G.; Charkin, O. P. Koord. Khim. 1989, 15, 161. (76)
- Jolly, C. A.; Marynick, D. S. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2893 (77)
- (78)Thomas, J. R.; Quelch, G. E.; Seidl, E. T.; Schaefer, H. F., III. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 6857.
- (79)Ma, B.; Collins, C. L.; Schaefer, H. F., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 870.
- Sweany, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 2374.
- Upmacis, R. K.; Poliakoff, M.; Turner, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (81)1986, 108, 3645.
- Ishikawa, Y.; Weersink, R. A.; Hackett, P. A.; Rayner, D. M. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 142, 271.
- Ishikawa, Y.; Hackett, P. A.; Rayner, D. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1989, (83)93. 652.
- Musaev, D. G.; Makhaev, V. D.; Charkin, O. P. Koord. Khim. (84)
- Plitt, H. S.; Bär, M. R.; Ahlrichs, R.; Schnöckel, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1991, 30, 832. (85)
- Rivera, M.; Harrison, J. F.; Alvarado-Swaisgood, A. J. Phys. Chem. **1990**, *94*, 6969. (86)
- Filatov, M.; Shaik, S. S. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 3835. (87)
- Perry, J. K.; Ohanessian, G.; Goddard, W. A., III. J. Phys. Chem. (88) 1993, 97, 5238.
- Niu, J.; Rao, B. K.; Jena, P. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1992, 68, 2277. (89)
- Niu, J.; Rao, B. K.; Khanna, S. N.; Jena, P. Chem. Phys. Lett. (90)1994, 230, 299.
- (91) Bauschlicher, C. W.; Partridge, H.; Langhoff, S. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 2475.
- Maître, P.; Bauschlicher, C. W. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 11912. (92)Bushnell, J. E.; Kemper, P. R.; Maître, P.; Bowers, M. T. J. Am.
- (93) Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 9710.
- (94)
- (95)
- Bauschlicher, C. W.; Maître, P. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1995**, *99*, 3444. Maître, P.; Bauschlicher, C. W. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1995**, *99*, 6836. Kemper, P. R.; Bushnell, J. E.; Maître, P.; Bowers, M. T. Chem. (96) Phys. Lett. 1995, 242, 244.
- (97) Bushnell, J. E.; Maître, P.; Kemper, P. R.; Bowers, M. T. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 106, 10153.
- Kemper, P. R.; Weis, P.; Bowers, M. T.; Maître, P. J. Am. Chem. (98)Soc. 1998, 120, 13494.
- (99)Kudo, T.; Gordon, M. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 9340

(105)

(108)

(109)

(110)

tallics 1996, 15, 3688.

120, 1842

1330.

5, 1457.

1998, *120*, 2641.

- Webb, S. P.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120, 3846. García, A.; Ugalde, J. M. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, 100, 3846. (100)
- (101)
- (102) García, A.; Mercero, J. M.; Ugalde, J. M. J. Phys. Chem. A 1997, 101, 5953.
- (103) García, A.; Mercero, J. M.; Fowler, J. E.; Ugalde, J. M. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 2055. (104)Burdett, J. K. Molecular Shapes: Theoretical Models of Inorganic

(106) Hoffmann, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1982, 21, 711.
 (107) Dobbs, K. D.; Hehre, W. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4663.

(111) Landis, C. R.; Cleveland, T.; Firman, T. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc.

(112) Firman, T. K.; Landis, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 12650.

(113) Miller, G. J.; Deng, H.; Hoffmann, R. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33,

(114) Bayse, C. A.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1348.

(115) Demolliens, A.; Jean, Y.; Eisenstein, O. Organometallics 1986,

(116) Gillespie, R. J.; Nyholm, R. S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1957, 339.

Stereochemistry; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1980. Albright, T. A.; Burdett, J. K.; Whangbo, M. H. Orbital Interac-tions in Chemistry; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1985.

Neuhaus, A. H.; Glendening, E. D.; Streitwieser, A. Organome-

Landis, C. R.; Cleveland, T.; Firman, T. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1859.

Landis, C. R.; Root, D. M.; Cleveland, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998,

- (117) Gillespie, R. J.; Robinson, E. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996. 35. 495.
- (118) Cameron, A. D.; Fitzgerald, G.; Zerner, M. C. Inorg. Chem. 1988, 27, 3437.
- (119) Jonas, V.; Frenking, G.; Gauss, J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 194, 109.
- (120) Kang, S. K.; Albright, T. A.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1989, *28*. 1611.
- (121) Kang, S. K.; Tang, T. H.; Albright, T. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1971.
- (122) Shen, M. Z.; Schaefer, H. F., III; Partridge, H. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 508.
- (123) Tanpipat, N.; Baker, J. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 19818.
- (124) Kaupp, M. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1678.
- (125) Cotton, F. A.; Wilkinson, G. Advanced Inorganic Chemistry, 5th ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1988.
- (126) Haaland, A.; Hammel, A.; Rypdel, K.; Volden, H. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 4547.
- (127) Pfennig, V.; Seppelt, K. Science 1996, 271, 626.
 (128) Kleinhenz, S.; Pfennig, V.; Seppelt, K. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 1687.

- (129) Musaev, D. G.; Charkin, O. P. *Koord. Khim.* **1990**, *16*, 1460.
 (130) Marsden, C. J.; Wolynec, P. P. *Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *30*, 1681.
 (131) Vaid, T. P.; Veige, A. S.; Lobkosky, E. B.; Glassey, W. V.; Wolczanski, P. T.; Liable-Sands, L. M.; Rheingold, A. L.; Cundari, T. D. L. Aug. Chem. Gen Marg. **160**, 100077. T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 10067.
- (132) Chisholm, M. H.; Parkin, I. P.; Streib, W. E.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 812
- (133) Bayse, C. A.; Hall, M. B. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1997, 259, 179.
- (134) Kündig, E. P.; Ozin, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 3820.
- (135) Burdett, J. K.; Graham, M. A.; Perutz, R. N.; Poliakoff, M.; Rest, A. J.; Turner, J. J.; Turner, R. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 4805
- (136)Werner, H.; Hohn, A.; Dziallas, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1986**, 25, 1090.
- Jean, Y.; Eisenstein, O. Polyhedron 1988, 7, 405. (137)
- (138) Rachidi, I. E.-I.; Eisenstein, O.; Jean, Y. New J. Chem. 1990, 14.671.
- (139) Riehl, J.-F.; Jean, Y.; Eisenstein, O.; Pélissier, M. Organometallics 1992, 11, 729.
- (140) Albinati, A.; Bakhmutov, V. I.; Caulton, K. G.; Clot, E.; Eckert, J.; Eisenstein, O.; Gusev, D. G.; Grushin, V. V.; Hauger, B. E.; Klooster, W. T.; Koetzle, T. F.; McMullan, R. K.; O'Loughlin, T. L. Pélisiein, M. Dicking, C. Click, C. M. C. Start, C. S. Start, S. S. Start, C. S. Start, S. S. Start, C. S. Start, S. S. St J.; Pélissier, M.; Ricci, J. S.; Sigalas, M. P.; Vymenits, A. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 7300.
- (141) Ujaque, G.; Maseras, F.; Eisenstein, O. Theor. Chem. Acc. 1997, *96*, 146.
- (142) Albright, T. A.; Tang, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, *31*. 1462.
- (143) Puhlam, C.; Haaland, A.; Hammel, A.; Rypdal, K.; Verne, H. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1992**, *31*, 1464. (144) Abrahams, S. C.; Ginsberg, A. P.; Knox, K. Inorg. Chem. **1964**,
- 3. 558
- (145) Shen, M. Z.; Schaefer, H. F., III; Partridge, H. Mol. Phys. 1992, 76, 995.
- (146) Kaupp, M. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 2059.
- (147) Maseras, F. *Top. Organomet. Chem.* **1999**, *4*, 166. (148) Noell, J. O.; Hay, P. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1982**, *21*, 14.

- (149) Luo, X. L.; Crabtree, R. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 1989, *28*, 3775.
 (150) Luo, X. L.; Crabtree, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1990, *112*, 4813.
- (151) Cotton, F. A.; Luck, R. L. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 8.
- (152) Cotton, F. A.; Luck, R. L. *Inorg. Chem.* **1989**, *28*, 2181.
 (153) Howard, J. A. K.; Mason, S. A.; Johnson, Q.; Diamond, J. C.; Crennell, S.; Keller, P. A.; Spencer, J. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1502.
- (154) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 2569
- (155) Haynes, G. R.; Martin, R. L.; Hay, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 28.
- (156) Michos, D.; Luo, X. L.; Howard, J. A. K.; Crabtree, R. H. Inorg. *Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 3914. (157) Luo, X. L.; Schulte, G. K.; Demou, P.; Crabtree, R. H. *Inorg.*
- Chem. 1990, 29, 4268.
- Luo, X. L.; Baudry, D.; Boydell, P.; Nierlich, M.; Ephritikine, (158)M.; Crabtree, R. H. Inorg. Chem. **1990**, 29, 1511. (159) Maseras, F.; Lledós, A. Organometallics **1996**, 15, 1218.
- (160) Fan, M. F.; Lin, Z. Organometallics 1998, 17, 1092.
- (161) Maseras, F.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, *115*, **8**313
- (162) Bruno, J. W.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1663.
- (163) Emge, T. J.; Koetzle, T. F.; Bruno, J. W.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 4012.
- Johnson, T. J.; Albinati, A.; Koetzle, T. F.; Eisenstein, O.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1994**, *33*, 4966. (164)
- (165) Eisenstein, O. Unpublished results.
- (166) Kuhlman, R.; Caulton, K. G. Unpublished results.
 (167) Maseras, F.; Li, X. K.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10974.

- (168) Hart, D. W.; Bau, R.; Koetzle, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 7557
- (169) Buil, M. L.; Espinet, P.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lahoz, F. J.; Lledós, A.; Martinez-Ilarduya, J. M.; Maseras, F.; Modrego, J.; Oñate, E.; Oro, L. A.; Sola, E.; Valero, C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 1250.
 (170) Gusev, D. G.; Notheis, J. U.; Rambo, J. R.; Hauger, B. E.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 7409.
 (171) Fan M. F.; Lin, Z. Organometallics **1999**, *18*, 286.
- (171) Fan, M. F.; Lin, Z. Organometallics 1999, 18, 286.
 (172) Delpech, F.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; Daran, J.-C. J. Am.
- *Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 3167. (173) Hussein, K.; Marsden, C. J.; Barthelat, J.-C.; Rodriguez, V.;
- Conejero, S.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Donnadieu, B.; Chaudret, B. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 1315. (174) Delpech, F.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Daran, J.-C.; Chaudret, B.;
- Hussein, K.; Marsden, C. J.; Barthelat, J.-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 6668.
- Ng, S. M.; Lau, C. P.; Fan, M. F.; Lin, Z. Organometallics **1999**, *18*, 2484. (175)
- (176) Clark, J. R.; Pulvirenti, A. L.; Fanwick, P. E.; Sigalas, M. P.; Eisenstein, O.; Rothwell, I. P. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 3623.
- Bayse, C. A.; Hall, M. B. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4861. (177)
- (178)Esteruelas, M. A.; Jean, Y.; Lledós, A.; Oro, L. A.; Ruiz, N.; Volatron, F. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 3609.
- (179)Barea, G.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lledós, A.; Lopez, A.; Oñate, E.; Tolosa, J. I. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4065
- Gusev, D. G.; Kuhlman, R.; Sini, G.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. (180)
- G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2685.
 (181) Kuhlman, R.; Clot, E.; Streib, W. E.; Leforestier, C.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 10153.
- Bianchini, C.; Masi, D.; Peruzzini, M.; Casarin, M.; Maccato, C.; (182)Rizzi, G. A. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 1061.

- (183) Gilbert, T. M.; Bergman, R. G. Organometallics 1983, 2, 1458.
 (184) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3801.
 (185) Hermann, W. A.; Okuda, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 1092
- (186) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. Organometallics 1993, 12, 4046.
- (187) Gross, C. L.; Wilson, S. R.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10294.
- (188) Bayse, C. A.; Couty, M.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 115, 8916.
- (189) Bayse, C. A.; Hall, M. B.; Pleune, B.; Poli, R. *Organometallics* **1998**, *17*, 4309.
- Albéniz, M. J.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lledós, A.; Maseras, F.; Oñate, (190)E.; Oro, L. A.; Sola, E.; Zeier, B. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 181.
- (191) Pleune, B.; Morales, D.; Meunier-Prest, R.; Richard, P.; Collange, E.; Fettinger, J. C.; Poli, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 2209. (192) Schneider, J. J.; Goddard, R.; Werner, S.; Krüger, C. Angew.
- *Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1991**, *30*, 1124. (193) Fryzuk, M. D.; Love, J. B.; Rettig, S. J.; Young, V. G. Science
- **1997**, *275*, 1445. (194) Basch, H.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**,
- 121, 5754.
- (195) Jacobsen, H.; Berke, H. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 881.
 (196) Hübler, K.; Hübler, U.; Roper, W. R.; Schwerdtfeger, P.; Wright, L. J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 1608.
- (197)Maseras, F.; Morokuma, K. J. Comput. Chem. 1995, 16, 1170.
- (198) Maseras, F.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4008
- Howard, J. A. K.; Keller, P. A.; Vogt, T.; Taylor, A. L.; Dix, N. (199)D.; Spencer, J. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, B48, 438.
- (200)Barea, G.; Maseras, F.; Jean, Y.; Lledós, A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 6401
- (201) Aracama, M.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lahoz, F. J.; Lopez, J. A.; Meyer, U.; Oro, L. A.; Werner, H. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 288.
- (202) Gusev, D. G.; Kuhlman, R.; Rambo, J. R.; Berke, H.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 281.
- (203) Maseras, F.; Eisenstein, O. New J. Chem. 1998, 22, 5
- Cooper, A. C.; Caulton, K. G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 5938. (204)
- Ujaque, G.; Cooper, A. C.; Maseras, F.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, (205)K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120, 361.
- (206)Cooper, A. C.; Clot, E.; Huffman, J. C.; Streib, W. E.; Maseras, F.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 97
- (207) Jean, Y.; Eisenstein, O.; Volatron, F.; Maouche, B.; Sefta, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6587.
 (208) Volatron, F.; Jean, Y.; Lledós, A. New J. Chem. 1987, 11, 651.
- (209) Burdett, J. K.; Lee, S. J. Solid State Chem. 1985, 56, 211
- (210) Burdett, J. K.; Phillips, J. R.; Pourian, M. R.; Poliakoff, M.; Turner, J. J.; Upmacis, R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1987**, *26*, 3054. (211) Burdett, J. K.; Pourian, M. R. *Organometallics* **1987**, *6*, 1684.
- (212) Burdett, J. K.; Pourian, M. R. *Inorg. Chem.* 1988, *27*, 4445.
 (213) Hay, P. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1987, *109*, 705.
 (214) Eckert, J.; Kubas, G. J.; Hall, J. H.; Hay, P. J.; Boyle, C. M. J.

34, 354.

Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2324.

(217) Tomàs, J.; Lledós, A.; Jean, Y. Organometallics 1998, 17, 190.

(215) Li, J.; Ziegler, T. Organometallics 1996, 15, 3844.
 (216) Dapprich, S.; Frenking, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995,

- (218) Tomàs, J.; Lledós, A.; Jean, Y. Organometallics 1998, 17, 4932.
- (219) Wasserman, H. J.; Kubas, G. J.; Ryan, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2294.
- (220)Kubas, G. J.; Nelson, J. E.; Bryan, J. C.; Eckert, J.; Wisniewski, (220) Rubas, G. J., Nelson, J. E., Bryan, J. C., Eckelt, J., Wishnewski, L.; Zilm, K. Inorg. Chem. 1994, 33, 2954.
 (221) Zilm, K.; Millar, J. M. Adv. Magn. Opt. Reson. 1990, 15, 163.
 (222) Dapprich, S.; Frenking, G. Organometallics 1996, 15, 4547.
 (223) Mediati, M.; Tachibana, G. N.; Jensen, C. M. Inorg. Chem. 1990,

- 29 3
- (224) Mediati, M.; Tachibana, G. N.; Jensen, C. M. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31. 1827.
- Clot, E.; Eisenstein, O. J. Phys. Chem. A **1998**, 102, 3592. Hauger, B. E.; Gusev, D. G.; Caulton, K. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (225)
- (226)1994, 116, 208.
- (227) Maseras, F.; Duran, M.; Lledós, A.; Bertrán, J. J. Am. Chem. *Soc.* **1991**, *113*, 2879. (228) Bakhmutov, V. I.; Bertrán, J.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lledós, A.;
- Maseras, F.; Modrego, J.; Oro, L. A.; Sola, E. Chem. Eur. J. 1996, 7.815.
- (229) Gusev, D. G.; Kuhlman, R. L.; Renkema, K. B.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 6775.
- (230)Crabtree, R. H.; Lavin, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 794.
- (231) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2928.
 (232) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6574.
- (233) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 4262.
- (234) Lin, Z.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4446.
 (235) Khalsa, G. R. K.; Kubas, G. J.; Unkefer, C. J.; Van der Sluys, L.
- S.; Kubat-Martin, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3855
- (236) Rabaâ, H.; Saillard, J.-Y.; Hoffmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108. 4327.
- (237) Brintzinger, H. H. J. Organomet. Chem. 1979, 171, 337.
- (238) Margl, P. M.; Woo, T. K.; Blöchl, P. E.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2174.
- (239) Chaudret, B.; Chung, G.; Eisenstein, O.; Jackson, S. A.; Lahoz, F. J.; Lopez, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 2314.
- (240) Demachy, I.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Jean, Y.; Lledós, A.; Maseras, F.; Oro, L. A.; Valero, C.; Volatron, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118. 8388
- (241) Jarid, A.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.; Bertrán, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5861.
 (242) Jarid, A.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.; Bertrán, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1069.
- (243) Barthelat, J.-C.; Daudey, J.-P.; De Loth, J.-P.; Poilblanc, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9896.
- (244) Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.;
- (245) Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledos, A.; Lluch, J. M.; Bertrán, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 4617.
 (245) Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.; Bertrán, J. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1997**, *36*, 265.
 (246) Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.;
- Bertrán, J. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 2334.
 (247) Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M.; Bertrán, J. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 1166.
- (248) Antiñolo, A.; Carillo-Hermosilla, F.; Fajardo, M.; Garcia-Yuste, S.; Otero, A.; Camanyes, S.; Maseras, F.; Moreno, M.; Lledós, A.; Lluch, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, *119*, 6107.
- (249) Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; Abou el Makarim, H.; Barthelat, J.-C.; Daudey, J.-P.; Moïse, C.; Leblanc, J.-C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 9335.
- (250) Li, J.; Dickson, M.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11482.
- (251) Gelabert, R.; Moreno, M.; Lluch, J. M.; Lledós, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, 119, 9840.
- (252) Maseras, F.; Duran, M.; Lledós, A.; Bertrán, J. Inorg. Chem. 1989, 28, 2984.
- (253) Bianchini, C.; Mealli, C.; Peruzzini, M.; Zanobini, M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5548.
- (254) Kranenburg, M.; Kramer, P. C. J.; van Leuwen, P. W. N. M.; Chaudret, B. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1997, 373.
- Crabtree, R. H. Trends Inorg. Chem. 1993, 3, 497. (255)
- (256) Morokuma, K. Acc. Chem. Res. 1977, 10, 294.
- (257)Ziegler, T.; Rauk, A. Theor. Chim. Acta 1977, 46, 1.
- (258) Bickelhaupt, F. M.; Baerends, E. J.; Ravenek, W. Inorg. Chem. 1**990**, *29*, 350.

- (259) Dapprich, S.; Frenking, G. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 9352.
 (260) Bader, R. F. W. Acc. Chem. Res. 1985, 18, 9.
 (261) Bader, R. F. W. Atoms in Molecules. A Quantum Theory, Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1994.
- (262) Maseras, F.; Lledós, A.; Costas, M.; Poblet, J. M. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2947.
- (263) Van der Sluys, L. S.; Eckert, J.; Eisenstein, O.; Hall, J. H.; Huffman, J. C.; Jackson, S. A.; Koetzle, T. F.; Kubas, G. J.; Vergamini, P. J.; Caulton, K. G. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1990**, *112*, 4831
- (264) Riehl, J.-F.; Pélissier, M.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1992, 31, 3344.
- Johnson, T.; Huffman, J. C.; Caulton, K. G.; Jackson, S. A.; (265)Eisenstein, O. Organometallics 1989, 8, 2073.
- (266) Jackson, S. A.; Eisenstein, O. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 29, 3910.

- (267) Rodriguez, V.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; Thorburn, J.; Ulrich, S.; Limbach, H. H.; Eckert, J.; Barthelat, J.-C.; Hussein, K.; Marsden, C. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1998**, *37*, 3475.
- Soubra, C.; Fora, C.; Albright, T. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 272, (268)95.
- (269) Xu, Z.; Bytheway, I.; Jia, G.; Lin, Z. Organometallics 1999, 18, 1761
- (270) Bursten, B. E.; Gatter, M. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2554. Stevens, R. C.; Bau, R.; Milstein, D.; Blum, O.; Koetzle, T. F. J. (271)
- Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1990**, 1429. Gusev, D. G.; Hübener, R.; Burger, P.; Orama, O.; Berke, H. J. (272)
- Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3716.
- (273) Lough, A. J.; Park, S. H.; Ramachandran, R.; Morris, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8356.
- (274) Lee, J. C., Jr.; Rheingold, A. L.; Peris, E.; Crabtree, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 11014.
- (275) Crabtree, R. H.; Siegbahn, P. E. M.; Eisenstein, O.; Rheingold, A. L.; Koetzle, T. F. Acc. Chem. Res. **1996**, 29, 348.
- (276) Richardson, T. B.; de Gala, S.; Crabtree, R. H.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12875.
- (277) Peris, E.; Lee, J. C., Jr.; Rambo, J. R.; Eisenstein, O.; Crabtree, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 3485.
- (278) Liu, R.; Hoffmann, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10108.
 (279) Braga, D.; Grepioni, F.; Tedesco, E.; Calhorda, M. J.; Lopes, P. E. M. New J. Chem. 1999, 23, 219.
- Wessel, J.; Lee, J. C., Jr.; Peris, E.; Yap, G. P. A.; Fortin, J. B.; (280)Ricci, J. S.; Sini, G.; Albinati, A.; Koetzle, T. F.; Rheingold, A.; Crabtree, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2507.
- (281) Patel, B. P.; Wessel, J.; Yao, W.; Lee, J. C., Jr.; Peris, E.; Koetzle, T. F.; Yap, G. P. A.; Fortin, J. B.; Ricci, J. S.; Sini, G.; Albinati, A.; Eisenstein, O.; Rheingold, A. L.; Crabtree, R. H. New J. Chem. 1997, 21, 413.
- (282) Sini, G.; Eisenstein, O.; Yao, W. B.; Crabtree, R. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1998, 26, 280.
- (283) Richardson, T. B.; Koetzle, T. F.; Crabtree, R. H. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1996, 250, 69.
- (284) Bosque, R.; Maseras, F.; Eisenstein, O.; Patel, B. P.; Yao, W.; Crabtree, R. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 5505. Ayllon, J. A.; Sayers, S. F.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Donnadieu, B.;
- (285)Chaudret, B.; Clot, E. Organometallics **1999**, *18*, 3981. Shubina, E. S.; Belkova, N. V.; Krylov, A. N.; Vorontsov, E. V.;
- (286)Epstein, L. M.; Gusev, D. G.; Niedermann, M.; Berke, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1105.
- Xu, W.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1549. (287)
- (288) Buil, M. L.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Oñate, E.; Ruiz, N. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3346.
- Park, S.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 3001. (289)
- (290) Chu, H. S.; Lau, C. P.; Wong, K. Y.; Wong, W. T. Organometallics 1998, 17, 2768
- (291) Abdur-Rachid, K.; Gusev, D. G.; Landau, S. E.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11826.
- (292) Braga, D.; De Leonardis, P.; Grepioni, F.; Tedesco, E. Inorg.
- *Chim. Acta* **1998**, *273*, 116. Yandulov, D. V.; Caulton, K. G.; Belkova, N. V.; Shubina, E. S.; Epstein, L. M.; Khoroshun, D. V.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 12553. (293)
- (294) Lee, D. H.; Patel, B. P.; Clot, E.; Eisenstein, O.; Crabtree, R. H. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 297.
- (295) Castillo, A.; Barea, G.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lahoz, F. J.; Lledós, A.; Maseras, F.; Modrego, J.; Oñate, E.; Oro, L. A.; Ruiz, N.; Sola, E. *Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, *38*, 1814. (296) Clot, E.; Leforestier, C.; Eisenstein, O.; Pélissier, M. J. Am.
- Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 1797
- (297) Gelabert, R.; Moreno, M.; Lluch, J. M.; Lledós, A. Organometallics 1997, 16, 3805.
- (298)Oishi, Y.; Albright, T. A. Polyhedron 1995, 14, 2603.
- (299) Jarid, A.; Lledós, A.; Jean, Y.; Volatron, F. Chem. Eur. J. 1995, 1, 436.
- (300) Jarid, A.; Lledós, A.; Jean, Y.; Volatron, F. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 4695.
- (301) Eckert, J.; Kubas, G. J. *J. Phys. Chem.* 1993, *97*, 2378.
 (302) Jarid, A.; Lledós, A.; Lauvergnat, D.; Jean, Y. *New J. Chem.* **1997**, *21*, 953.
- (303) Kubas, G. J.; Burns, C. J.; Eckert, J.; Johnson, S. W.; Larson, A. C.; Vergamini, P. J.; Unkeffer, C. J.; Khalsa, G. R. K.; Jackson, S. A.; Eisenstein, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 569.
- (304)Eckert, J.; Albinati, A.; Bucher, U. E.; Venanzi, L. M. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 1292.
- (305) Eckert, J.; Jensen, C. M.; Jones, G.; Clot, E.; Eisenstein, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 11056.
- (306)Gelabert, R.; Moreno, M.; Lluch, J. M.; Lledós, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 8168.
- (307) Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; el Makarim, H. B.; Barthelat, J.-C.; Daudey, J.-P.; Ulrich, S.; Limbach, H. H.; Moïse, C. *J. Am.* Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11602.
- (308) Pacchioni, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 112.
 (309) Maseras, F.; Duran, M.; Lledós, A.; Bertrán, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2922.

- (310) Cooper, A. C.; Eisenstein, O.; Caulton, K. G. New J. Chem. 1998, 22 307
- (311) Bakhmutov, V.; Bürgi, T.; Burger, P.; Ruppli, U.; Berke, H. Organometallics **1994**, *13*, 4203. (312) Green, J. C.; Scottow, A. New J. Chem. **1999**, *23*, 651.
- (313) Chernega, A.; Cook, J.; Green, M. L. H.; Labella, L.; Simpson, S. J.; Souter, J.; Stephens, H. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3225.
- (314) Conway, S. L. J.; Dijkstra, T.; Doerrer, L. H.; Green, J. C.; Green, M. L. H.; Stephens, A. H. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 2689.
- (315) Meakin, P.; Guggenberger, L. J.; Peet, W. G.; Muetterties, E. L.; Jesson, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 1467.
- (316) Muetterties, E. L.; Guggenberger, L. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96. 1748.
- (317) Jesson, P. J.; Muetterties, E. L. In Dynamic Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy; Jackman, L. M., Cotton, F. A., Eds.; Academic Press: New York, 1975; pp 253-316.
- (318) Xu, Z.; Lin, Z. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1996, 156, 139.
- (319) Marks, T. J.; Kolb, J. R. Chem. Rev. 1977, 77, 263. (320) Green, M. L. H.; Wong, L. L. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989,
- 2133.
- (321) Jessop, P. G.; Morris, R. H. *Inorg. Chem.* 1993, *32*, 2236.
 (322) Koelliker, R.; Milstein, D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1991, *113*, 8524.
- (323) Crabtree, R. H.; Lavin, M.; Bonneviot, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986,
- 108, 4032. (324) Gauss, P. L.; Kao, S. C.; Darensbourg, M. Y.; Arndt, L. W. J.
- Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 4752. (325) Ferracin, S.; Bürgi, T.; Bakhmutov, V.; Eremenko, I.; Vorontsov,
- E. V.; Vymenits, Ă. B.; Berke, H. *Organometallics* 1994, 13, 4194. (326) Frost, P. W.; Howard, J. A.; Spencer, J. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem.
- Commun. 1984, 1362 (327) Gross, C. L.; Girolami, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6605.
- (328) Deelman, B. J.; Teuben, J. H.; Macgregor, S. A.; Eisenstein, O.
- (329) Bovens, M.; Gerfin, T.; Gramlich, V.; Petter, W.; Venanzi, L.; Howard, M. T.; Jackson, S. A.; Eisenstein, O. New J. Chem. 1992, 16, 337.
- (330) Eckert, J.; Albinati, A.; White, R. P.; Bianchini, C.; Peruzzini, M. *Inorg. Chem.* **1992**, *31*, 4241. (331) Schilling, B. E. R.; Hoffmann, R.; Lichtenberger, D. L. *J. Am.*
- Chem. Šoc. 1979, 101, 585.
- Jalon, F. A.; Otero, A.; Manzano, B. R.; Villaseñor, E.; Chaudret, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, *117*, 10123. (332)
- (333) Luo, X. L.; Crabtree, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6912. (334) Bucher, U. E.; Lengweiler, T.; von Philipsborn, W.; Venanzi, L.
- Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1990**, 29, 548. (335) Pacchioni, G. J. J. Organomet. Chem. **1989**, 377, C13.
- (336) Bunker, P. R. Molecular Symmetry and Spectroscopy, Academic Press: New York, 1979. (337) Heinekey, D. M.; Millar, J. M.; Koetzle, T. F.; Payne, N. G.; Zilm,
- K. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 909. (338) Jones, D. H.; Labinger, J. A.; Weitekamp, D. P. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1989, 111, 3087.
- (339) Zilm, K. W.; Heinekey, D. M.; Millar, J. M.; Payne, N. G.; Demou, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, 111, 3088.
- (340) Chaudret, B.; Limbach, H. H.; Moïse, C. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. 2 1992. 315-II. 533
- (341) Zilm, K. W.; Heinekey, D. M.; Millar, J. M.; Payne, N. G.; Neshyba, S. P.; Duchamp, J. C.; Szczyrba, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 920.
- (342) Heinekey, D. M.; Hinkle, A. S.; Close, J. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 5353.
- (343) Landesman, A. Ann. Phys. 1973, 8, 53.
- (344) Antiñolo, A.; Chaudret, B.; Commenges, G.; Fajardo, M.; Jalon, ; Morris, R. H.; Otero, A.; Schweitzer, C. T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1210.
- (345) Limbach, H. H.; Scherer, G.; Maurer, M.; Chaudret, B. Angew. *Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1992**, *31*, 1369. (346) Miller, W. H. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1980**, *72*, 99
- (347) Light, J. C.; Hamilton, I. P.; Lill, J. V. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 1400.
- (348) Scheurer, C.; Wiedenbruch, R.; Meyer, R.; Ernst, R. R.; Heinekey, D. M. J. Chem. Phys. **1996**, 106, 1. (349) Hiller, E. M.; Harris, R. A. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 98, 2077.
- (350) Hiller, E. M.; Harris, R. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 7652.
- (351) Hiller, E. M.; Harris, R. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100, 2522.
- (352) Szymanski, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1996, 104, 8216
- (353) Gründemann, S.; Limbach, H. H.; Rodriguez, V.; Donnadieu, B.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B. Ber. Busen-Ges. Phys. Chem. 1998, 102, 344.
- (354) Clot, E. Ph.D. Thesis, Université de Paris Sud, Orsay, 1995.
- (355) Limbach, H. H.; Ulrich, S.; Gründemann, S.; Buntkowsky, G.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B.; Kubas, G. J.; Eckert, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7929.
- (356) Clot, E.; Eckert, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 8855.
 (357) Gross, L. C.; Young, D. M.; Schultz, A. J.; Girolami, G. S. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1997, 3081.

- (358) Klooster, W. T.; Koetzle, T. F.; Jia, G.; Fong, T. P.; Morris, R. H.; Albinati, A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 7677.
 (359) Maltby, P. A.; Schlaf, M.; Steinbeck, M.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H.; Klooster, W. T.; Koetzle, T. F.; Srivastava, R. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 5396.
 (260) Heaccourt T. Li, T. Parkin, S.; Hang, H.; McMuller, P. K.;
- (360) Hasegawa, T.; Li, Z.; Parkin, S.; Hope, H.; McMullan, R. K.; Koetzle, T. F.; Taube, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4352.
 (361) Brammer, L.; Howard, J. A. K.; Johnson, O.; Koetzle, T. F.; Spencer, J. L.; Stringer, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 241
- (362) Jackson, S. A.; Eisenstein, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7203.
- Craw, J. S.; Bacskay, G. B.; Hush, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, (363)116. 5937.
- (364) Bytheway, I.; Bacskay, G. B.; Hush, N. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, *100*, 6023́
- (365) Craw, J. S.; Bacskay, G. B.; Hush, N. S. Inorg. Chem. 1993, 32, 2230.
- (366) Barea, G.; Esteruelas, M. A.; Lledós, A.; Lopez, A. M.; Tolosa, J.
- I. Inorg. Chem. **1998**, *37*, 5033. Earl, K. A.; Jia, G.; Maltby, P. A.; Morris, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 3027. (367)
- (368) Heinekey, D. M.; Luther, T. A. Inorg. Chem. 1996, 35, 4396.
- Bacskay, G. B.; Bytheway, I.; Hush, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (369)1996, *118*, 3753.
- (370) Gründemann, S.; Limbach, H. H.; Buntkowsky, G.; Sabo-Etienne, S.; Chaudret, B. J. Phys. Chem. A **1999**, 103, 4752. Hush, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1997**, 119, 1717.
- (371)
- Chopra, M.; Wong, K. F.; Jia, G.; Yu, N. T. J. Mol. Struct. 1996, (372)*379*, 93.
- Gelabert, R.; Moreno, M.; Lluch, J. M.; Lledós, A. Chem. Phys. (373)**1999**, *241*, 155.
- (374) Bender, B. R.; Kubas, G. J.; Llewellyn, H. J.; Swanson, B. I.; Eckert, J.; Capps, K. B.; Hoff, C. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, *119*, 9179.
- Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. Chem. Rev. 1991, 91, 823.
- (376) Tsipis, C. A. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1991, 108, 163.
- (377) Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. Adv. Chem. Phys. 1996, 95, 61. (378) Kitaura, K.; Obara, S.; Morokuma, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1981, 77, 452.
- (379) Kitaura, K.; Obara, S.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 2891
- (380) Kitaura, K.; Obara, S.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 7482.
- (381)Noell, J. O.; Hay, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4578.
- (382) Low, J. J.; Goddard, W. A., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6928.
- (383) Low, J. J.; Goddard, W. A., III. Organometallics 1986, 5, 609.
 (384) Brandemark, U. B.; Blomberg, M. R. A.; Petersson, L. G. M.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, 88, 4617.
 (385) Low, J. J.; Goddard, W. A., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2007
- 6115.
- Matsubara, T.; Maseras, F.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. J. Phys. Chem. **1986**, 100, 2573. (386)
- Svensson, M.; Humbel, S.; Froese, R. D. J.; Matsubara, T.; Sieber, (387)S.; Morokuma, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 19357.
- (388)
- (389)
- (390)
- Hasnip, S. K.; Duckett, S. B.; Sleigh, C. J.; Taylor, D. R.; Barlow, (391)G. K.; Taylor, M. J. Chem. Commun. (Cambridge) 1999, 1717. (392)
- Jean, Y.; Lledós, A. Nouv. J. Chim. 1986, 10, 635. Sargent, A. L.; Hall, M. B.; Guest, M. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, (393)
- 114. 517. (394) Abu-Hasanayn, F.; Krogh-Jespersen, K.; Goldman, A. S. Inorg.
- Chem. **1993**, *32*, 495.
- (395)Abu-Hasanayn, F.; Krogh-Jespersen, K.; Goldman, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1993**, 115, 8019.
- (396) Abu-Hasanayn, F.; Goldman, A. S.; Krogh-Jespersen, K. J. Phys. Chem. **1993**, 97, 5890.
- (397) Abu-Hasanayn, F.; Goldman, A. S.; Krogh-Jespersen, K. Inorg. Chem. **1994**, 33, 5122.
- Ziegler, T.; Tschinke, V.; Fan, L.; Becke, A. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, 111, 9177. (398)
- (399) Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 504,
- (400) Macgregor, S. A.; Eisenstein, O.; Whittlesey, M. K.; Perutz, R. N. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1998, 291.
- Wang, W.; Weitz, E. J. Phys. Chem. A 1997, 101, 2358. (401)
- Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 117. (402)(403) Rosini, G. P.; Liu, F.; Krogh-Jespersen, K.; Goldman, A. S.; Li,
- C.; Nolan, S. P. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 9256. Mamaev, V. M.; Prisyazhnyuk, A. V.; Gloriozov, I. P.; Ishenko, (404)S. A.; Ustynyuk, Y. A.; Alekseiko, L. N. Kinet. Catal. 1998, 39, 162.
- Mamaev, V. M.; Gloriozov, I. P.; Simonyan, V. V.; Zernova, E. (405)V.; Prisyazhnyuk, A. V.; Ustynyuk, Y. A. Mendeleev Commun. 1997, 246.
- (406) Dedieu, A. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 375.

- (407) Daniel, C.; Koga, N.; Han, J.; Fu, X. Y.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3773.
 (408) Musaev, D. G.; Mebel, A. M.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- 1994, 116, 10693.
- (409) Matsubara, T.; Koga, N.; Ding, Y.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 1997, 16, 1065.
 (410) Niu, S.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 3992.
 (411) Steigerwald, M. L.; Goddard, W. A., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 102000
- 106, 308.
- (412) Rappé, A. K. Organometallics 1987, 6, 354.
 (413) Rappé, A. K. Organometallics 1990, 9, 466.

- (414) Rappé, A. K.; Upton, T. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7507.
 (415) Cundari, T. R.; Stevens, W. J.; Sommerer, S. O. Chem. Phys. 1993, 178, 235.
- (416) Ziegler, T.; Folga, E.; Berces, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 636.
- (417) Folga, E.; Ziegler, T. Can. J. Chem. 1992, 70, 333.
- (418) Ziegler, T.; Folga, E. J. Organomet. Chem. 1994, 478, 57.
- (419) Hutschka, F.; Dedieu, A.; Leitner, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.
- Engl. 1995, 34, 1742. (420) Hutschka, F.; Dedieu, A.; Eichberger, M.; Fornika, R.; Leitner, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 4432.
- (421) Milet, A.; Dedieu, A.; Kapteijn, G.; van Koten, G. Inorg. Chem. 1997, 36, 3223.
- (422) Milet, A.; Dedieu, A.; Canty, A. J. Organometallics 1997, 16, 5331.

- (423) Yoshida, T.; Koga, N.; Morokuma, K. Organometallics 1996, 15, 766.
- (424) Deng, L.; Woo, T. K.; Cavallo, L.; Margl, P. M.; Ziegler, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6177.
- (425) Froese, R. D. J.; Musaev, D. G.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1581.
- (426) Pavlov, M.; Siegbahn, P. E. M.; Blomberg, M. R. A.; Crabtree, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 548.
- (427) Niu, S.; Thompson, L. M.; Hall, M. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4000.
- (428) Amara, P.; Volbeda, A.; Fontecila-Camps, J. C.; Field, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 4468.
- (429) Pavlov, M.; Blomberg, M. A.; Siegbahn, P. E. M. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1999, 73, 197.
- (430) Bauschlicher, C. W.; Langhoff, S. R.; Partridge, H. In Organometallic Ion Chemistry; Freiser, B. S., Ed.; Kluwer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1996; p 47.
- (431) Barea, G.; Ujaque, G.; Maseras, F.; Lledós, A. J. Mol. Struct.: THEOCHEM 1996, 371, 59.
- (432) Milet, A.; Dedieu, A. Theor. Chim. Acta 1995, 92, 361.
- (433) Ruiz, E.; Salahub, D. R.; Vela, A. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 12265.

CR980397D